REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

Last amendment in force on September 30, 2014
This document has official status

chapter V-1.1,r. 24

REGULATION 51-102 RESPECTING CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
Securities Act (]9

(chapter V-1.1, s. 331.1) q
PART 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION Q/

1.1. Definitions and Interpretation 50
(1)  Inthis Regulation: ,@

“acquisition date” has the same meaning as in @ssuer's GAAP;

4

“AIF” means a completed Form 51-102ER Afhual Information Form or, in the
case of an SEC issuer, a completed Form 57 P2 or an annual report or transition
report under the 1934 Act on Form 10-K or yrm=20-F;

“asset-backed security” means, %g{urity that is primarily serviced by the cash
flows of a discrete pool of mortg @ eceivables or other financial assets, fixed or
revolving, that by their terms co @ into cash within a finite period and any rights or
other assets designed to ass servicing or the timely distribution of proceeds to
securityholders; Q?

“board of directo ’%eans, for a person that does not have a board of directors,
an individual or gro@acts in a capacity similar to a board of directors;

“busines?%quisition report” means a completed Form 51-102F4 Business
OM;

Acquisition I@
Qg) includes a series of a class;

common share” means an equity security to which are attached voting rights

@rcisable in all circumstances, irrespective of the number or percentage of securities

ned, that are not less, per security, than the voting rights attached to any other
outstanding securities of the reporting issuer;

“corporate law” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 54-101

respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(chapter V-1.1, r. 29);
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“date of transition to IFRS” means the date of transition to IFRSs as that term is
defined in Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

“designated rating organization”’means

(@ each of DBRS Limited, Fitch, Inc., Moody’s Canada Inc., Standardqs
Poor’s Ratings Services (Canada), including their DRO affiliates; or Q

(b) any other credit rating organization that has been design&gd nder
securities legislation; q/ )

“DRO affiliate” has the same meaning as in section 1 of @htion 25-101
respecting Designated Rating Organizations (chapter V-1.1, r. 8. 1)

“electronic format” has the same meaning as in |on 13-101 respecting

System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (S (chapter V-1.1, r. 2);

“equity investee” means a business that %\ssuer has invested in and
accounted for using the equity method,; q/

“exchange-traded security” means a e@r\y that is listed on a recognized
exchange or is quoted on a recognized qu%‘o and trade reporting system or is listed

on an exchange or quoted on a quotatio trade reporting system that is recognized
for the purposes of Regulatio 01 respecting Marketplace Operation

(chapter V-1.1,r.5) and Re 23-101  respecting  Trading Rules

(chapter V-1.1, r. 6); &
“executive officer” m %Q for a reporting issuer, an individual who is
a chair, v air or president;
@l a c?@ecutlve officer or chief financial officer;
(b) e president in charge of a principal business unit, division or function
including flnance or production; or

performing a policy-making function in respect of the issuer;

§ “financial outlook” means forward-looking information about prospective financial

rformance, financial position or cash flows that is based on assumptions about future
economic conditions and courses of action and that is not presented in the format of a
historical statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income or
statement of cash flows;

“financial statements” includes interim financial reports;
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“first IFRS financial statements” has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP
applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

“FOFI”, or *“future-oriented financial information”, means forward-looking
information about prospective financial performance, financial position or cash flows,
based on assumptions about future economic conditions and courses of action,
presented in the format of a historical statement of financial position, statem
comprehensive income or statement of cash flows; (l/

“form of proxy” means a document containing the information r 8 under
section 9.4 that, on completion and execution by or on behalf of @e rityholder,

becomes a proxy; : é
I E

“forward-looking information” means disclosure regard possible events,
conditions or financial performance that is based on assumpti about future economic

conditions and courses of action and includes future-orient ancial information with
respect to prospective financial performance, financia‘\@@ition or cash flows that is
presented either as a forecast or a projection; Q

“information circular” means a completed rrp%l-102F5 Information Circular;

“informed person” means Q:b
(@) adirector or executive o f&‘ a reporting issuer;

(b)  adirector or execg@ ficer of a person that is itself an informed person
or subsidiary of a reporting iSSySr

(© any person(& beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or
indirectly, voting securithks 9t a reporting issuer or a combination of both carrying more
than 10% of the rights attached to all outstanding voting securities of the
reporting issuer han voting securities held by the person as underwriter in the
course of a distQ ion; and

(d) g/reporting issuer that has purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired
any of i urities, for so long as it holds any of its securities;

Inter-dealer bond broker” means a person that is approved by the Investment
stry Regulatory Organization of Canada under its Rule 36 Inter-Dealer Bond

k okerage Systems, as amended, and is subject to its Rule 36 and its Rule 2100 Inter-
Dealer Bond Brokerage Systems, as amended,;

“interim period” means,
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(@) in the case of a year other than a non-standard year or a transition year, a
period commencing on the first day of the financial year and ending 9, 6 or 3 months
before the end of the financial year,

(a.1) in the case of a non-standard year, a period commencing on the first day
of the financial year and ending within 22 days of the date that is 9, 6 or 3 months
before the end of the financial year; or %

(b) in the case of a transition year, a period commencing on the firs(@ of
the transition year and ending q
A

(1) 3, 6, 9 or 12 months, if applicable, after the end o@ d financial

yealr, or R é

(i) 12, 9, 6 or 3 months, if applicable, before theN\erd of the transition

year,; «O

“issuer's GAAP” has the same meaning as in gulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Stand chapter V-1.1, r. 25);

“MD&A” means a completed Form 51al02F1 Management's Discussion &
Analysis or, in the case of an SEC is P completed Form 51-102F1 or
management's discussion and analysis QQ ed in accordance with Item 303 of
Regulation S-K under the 1934 Act; %Q/

&
&

(b)  aquotation @ade reporting system;

(© any ot@rson that

zconstitutes, maintains or provides a market or facility for bringing

e
together bu% d sellers of securities;
selzr@%d

@ (i)  uses established, non-discretionary methods under which the

ers interact with each other, and the buyers and sellers entering the orders agree to
the terms of a trade; or

“marketplace” means

(@) anexchange;

(i) brings together the orders for securities of multiple buyers and

(d) a dealer that executes a trade of an exchange-traded security outside of a
marketplace, but does not include an inter-dealer bond broker;
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“material change” means

(@) achange in the business, operations or capital of the reporting issuer that
would reasonably be expected to have a significant effect on the market price or value
of any of the securities of the reporting issuer; or

(b)  adecision to implement a change referred to in paragraph (a) made by
board of directors or other persons acting in a similar capacity or by senior manag
of the reporting issuer who believe that confirmation of the decision by the of
directors or any other persons acting in a similar capacity is probable;
A
“material contract” means any contract that an issuer or any of i ﬁkidiaries IS
a party to, that is material to the issuer; §

“mineral project” has the same meaning as in RegulatiésQB-lm respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (chapter V-1.1, r @;

“new financial year” means the financial yeibgf a reporting issuer that

immediately follows a transition year,; Q

“non-standard year” means a financial r, Other than a transition year, that
does not have 365 days, or 366 days if it includ@é‘bruary 29;

“non-voting security” means a re % security that does not carry the right to
vote generally, except for a right to v t is mandated, in special circumstances, by

law;

“notice-and-access” &t e same meaning as in section 1.1 of
Regulation 54-101 respecti mmunication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a
Reporting Issuer; %

“old financial means the financial year of a reporting issuer that immediately
precedes a transiy ar;

“oper@income” means gross revenue minus royalty expenses and production
COsts;

ference share” means a security to which is attached a preference or right
€ securities of any class of equity securities of the reporting issuer, but does not

ov%
@lﬂ e an equity security;

“principal obligor” means, for an asset-backed security, a person that is obligated
to make payments, has guaranteed payments, or has provided alternative credit support
for payments, on financial assets that represent one-third or more of the aggregate
amount owing on all of the financial assets servicing the asset-backed security;

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 5



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

“private enterprise” has the same meaning as in Part 3 of Regulation 52-107
respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

“profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent” has the same meaning as in
Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

“profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of the parent”
the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enter%

“proxy” means a completed and executed form of proxy by, whvh a
securityholder has appointed a person as the securityholder's nominee to a@@i“and act
for the securityholder and on the securityholder's behalf at a meeting of&u yholders;

“proxy-related materials” means securityholder material relgtNRM to a meeting of
securityholders that a person that solicits proxies is required un corporate law or
securities legislation to send to the registered holders or @e icial owners of the
securities;

“publicly accountable enterprise” has the meaning as in Part 3 of
Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Ac ng Principles and Auditing

Standards;
05

“recognized exchange” means Q‘

@) in Ontario, an exchang
to carry on business as a stock exc

nized by the securities regulatory authority

(a.1) in Québec, a p ’&\ uthorized by the securities regulatory authority to
carry on business as an ex@e; and

regulatory authority, n exchange, self-regulatory organization or self-regulatory
body, or a legal , a partnership or any other entity authorized by the securities
regulatory aut to carry on securities trading in accordance with securities

legislation; Q/
“ngnized guotation and trade reporting system” means

a) in every jurisdiction other than British Columbia, a quotation and trade
rting system recognized by the securities regulatory authority under securities
\?e islation to carry on business as a quotation and trade reporting system; and

(b) in every ];&g% jurisdiction, an exchange recognized by the securities

(b) in British Columbia, a quotation and trade reporting system recognized by
the securities regulatory authority under securities legislation as a quotation and trade
reporting system or as an exchange;
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“restricted security” means an equity security of a reporting issuer, if any of the
following apply:

(@) there is another class of securities of the reporting issuer that, to a
reasonable person, appears to carry a greater number of votes per security relative to
the equity security;

attached to another class of securities of the reporting issuer, or the reporting ¢ I's
constating documents have provisions that nullify or, to a reasonable person, appé€ar to
significantly restrict the voting rights of the equity securities; or (r]?) S

(b) the conditions attached to the class of equity securities, the cong ng?

(c) the reporting issuer has issued another class of equity %ﬂies that, to a
reasonable person, appears to entitle the owners of securities Qf t other class to
participate in the earnings or assets of the reporting issuer to a gr r extent, on a per
security basis, than the owners of the first class of equity sec @s;

“restricted security term” means each of th &rms “non-voting security”,
“subordinate voting security” and “restricted voting sergn

subject to a restriction on the number or perc e of securities that may be voted by

“restricted voting security” means a res @d ecurity that carries a right to vote
one or more persons, unless the restriction'Q~

@) permitted or prescribed ute; and

or that are otherwise consider a result of any law applicable to the reporting issuer

(b) is applicable only t ons that are not citizens or residents of Canada
to be non-Canadians; %ﬁ

@) takeover
(b) Q/@malgamatlon, merger, arrangement or reorganization;

Q; a transaction or series of transactions involving a reporting issuer
acq<® ssets and issuing securities that results in

0] new securityholders owning or controlling more than 50% of the
orting issuer’s outstanding voting securities; and

(i) a new person, a new combination of persons acting together, the
vendors of the assets, or new management
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(A) being able to materially affect the control of the reporting
issuer; or

(B) holding more than 20% of the outstanding voting securities
of the reporting issuer, unless there is evidence showing that the holding of those
securities does not materially affect the control of the reporting issuer; and

(d) any other transaction similar to the transactions listed in paragrap

to (c), but does not include a subdivision, consolidation, or other transaction t es
not alter a securityholder’'s proportionate interest in the issuer and t& igéuer’s
proportionate interest in its assets; q/ S

“retrospective” has the same meaning as in Canadian G&pplicable to
publicly accountable enterprises;

“retrospectively” has the same meaning as in Can @ AAP applicable to
publicly accountable enterprises; ’{

“reverse takeover” means Q

(@) areverse acquisition, which has th saﬂ(e meaning as in Canadian GAAP
applicable to publicly accountable enterprises; 05

(b) a transaction where an er acquires a person by which the
securityholders of the acquired perso @ e time of the transaction, obtain “control” of
the issuer, where, for purposes of ragraph, control has the same meaning as in
Canadian GAAP applicable to p accountable enterprises;

“reverse takeover acqge” means the legal parent in a reverse takeover;

“reverse takeov@ uirer” means the legal subsidiary in a reverse takeover;

“SEC issu ans an issuer that
@) ga class of securities registered under section 12 of the 1934 Act or is
required tqTildMfeports under section 15(d) of the 1934 Act; and
Q is not registered or required to be registered as an investment company
un e Investment Company Act of 1940 of the United States of America, as
nded;

N

“solicit”, in connection with a proxy, includes

(@) requesting a proxy whether or not the request is accompanied by or
included in a form of proxy;
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(b) requesting a securityholder to execute or not to execute a form of proxy or
to revoke a proxy;

(© sending a form of proxy or other communication to a securityholder under
circumstances that to a reasonable person will likely result in the giving, withholding or
revocation of a proxy; or

(d) sending a form of proxy to a securityholder by management of a re%hﬁq(?

issuer; (l/
but does not include (\9 o

(e) sending a form of proxy to a securityholder in respon %’a unsolicited
request made by or on behalf of the securityholder; 0

() performing ministerial acts or professional servi@ on behalf of a person
soliciting a proxy;

() sending, by an intermediary as define@\?égulation 54-101 respecting
Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securiﬂ't/ of a Reporting Issuer, of the

documents referred to in that regulation; Q .

(h)  soliciting by a person in res@t securities of which the person is the

beneficial owner; Q/

(1) publicly announcing, curityholder, how the securityholder intends to
vote and the reasons for that deg If that public announcement is made by

0] a spee@a public forum; or

(ii)
provided through
communication g6
generally avail

ecg'g release, an opinion, a statement or an advertisement
adcast medium or by a telephonic, electronic or other
/ or appearing in a newspaper, a magazine or other publication
o the public;

require securityholder proposal under the laws under which the reporting issuer is
inco ed, organized or continued or under the reporting issuer’'s constating or
es&lls ing documents; or

()] S%mmunicating for the purposes of obtaining the number of securities

\ (k) communicating, other than a solicitation by or on behalf of the
management of the reporting issuer, to securityholders in the following circumstances:

0] by one or more securityholders concerning the business and affairs

of the reporting issuer, including its management or proposals contained in a
management information circular, and no form of proxy is sent to those securityholders
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by the securityholder or securityholders making the communication or by a person
acting on their behalf, unless the communication is made by

(A)  a securityholder who is an officer or director of the reporting
issuer if the communication is financed directly or indirectly by the reporting issuer;

(B) a securityholder who is a nominee or who proposes(é
nominee for election as a director, if the communication relates to the elect'&ﬁ\

directors; (l/

(C) a securityholder whose communication is in opp@(}n to an
amalgamation, arrangement, consolidation or other transaction reggmWended or
approved by the board of directors of the reporting issuer and w roposing or
intends to propose an alternative transaction to which the securityh@)r an affiliate or
associate of the securityholder is a party; 5

(D) a securityholder who, because tf\gnaterial interest in the

subject-matter to be voted on at a securityholder's meetinty is likely to receive a benefit
from its approval or non-approval, which benefit wo ot be shared pro rata by all
other holders of the same class of securities, the benefit arises from the

securityholder’'s employment with the reporting is&e\r, or

(E) any person acti@grpoehalf of a securityholder described in
any of clauses (A) to (D);

(i) by one or mor &tyholders and concerns the organization of a

dissident’s proxy solicitation, an orm of proxy is sent to those securityholders by
the securityholder or security rS making the communication or by a person acting

on their behalf; Q/
&

(i)  as NeMts, by a person who gives financial, corporate governance
or proxy voting adv the ordinary course of business and concerns proxy voting

advice if Q‘

Q (A) the person discloses to the securityholder any significant
relationshig"Wwh the reporting issuer and any of its affiliates or with a securityholder who
has su d a matter to the reporting issuer that the securityholder intends to raise at
the g of securityholders and any material interests the person has in relation to a
ma¥¢r on which advice is given;

\ (B)  the person receives any special commission or remuneration
for giving the proxy voting advice only from the securityholder or securityholders
receiving the advice; and

(C) the proxy voting advice is not given on behalf of any person
soliciting proxies or on behalf of a nominee for election as a director; or
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(iv) by a person who does not seek directly or indirectly the power to
act as a proxyholder for a securityholder;

“special meeting” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer;

“special resolution” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 5 116?
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting | ;

“stratification” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regu %54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Re%i Issuer;

“subordinate voting security” means a restricted securlty rrles a right to
vote, if there are securities of another class outstanding that carry eater right to vote
on a per security basis;

“transition year” means the financial year of a re§prting issuer or business in
which the issuer or business changes its financial yea

“U.S. AICPA GAAS” has the same meany q!ln Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing dards;

“U.S. GAAP” has the same
Acceptable Accounting Principles and

“U.S. laws” means the 19
Acts and all SEC releases adggi

“U.S. marketplace’(%%ns an exchange registered as a “national securities
exchange” under sectw the 1934 Act, or the Nasdaqg Stock Market; and

“U.S. PC AAS” has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable AC(QI ing Principles and Auditing Standards;

g as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
ng Standards;

, the 1934 Act, all enactments made under those
e enactments, as amended;

Issuer” means a reporting issuer that, as at the applicable time, did not
s securities listed or quoted on any of the Toronto Stock Exchange, a U.S.
mar e, or a marketplace outside of Canada and the United States of America
othé an the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange or the

markets operated by PLUS Markets Group plc where the “applicable time” in
pect of

(@) Parts 4 and 5 of this Regulation and Form 51-102F1, is the end of the
applicable financial period;

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 11



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

(b) Parts 6 and 9 of this Regulation and Form 51-102F6, is the end of the
most recently completed financial year;

(© Part 8 of this Regulation and Form 51-102F4, is the acquisition date; and

(d) section 11.3 of this Regulation, is the date of the meeting of the

securityholders.
&

(2) In this Regulation, an issuer is an affiliate of another issuer if (19
(@) one of them is the subsidiary of the other, or (]9 S
(b)  each of them is controlled by the same person. %@

3) For the purposes of subsection (2), a person (first pers is considered to

control another person (second person) if

(@) the first person beneficially owns, or coWgols or directs, directly or
indirectly, securities of the second person carrying s which, if exercised, would
entitle the first person to elect a majority of the dir of the second person, unless
that first person holds the voting securities only t ectire an obligation,

(b)  the second person is a partn & other than a limited partnership, and
the first person holds more than 50% of t% erests of the partnership, or

(© the second person is @N ed partnership and the general partner of the
limited partnership is the first per @

M.O. 2005-03, s. 1.1; M. 05-25, s. 1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 1; M.O. 2007-08, s. 1;
M.O. 2008-06, s. 1 and 1 . 2008-18, s. 1; M.O. 2010-17, s. 1; M.O. 2013-01, s. 1;
M.O. 2013-04, s. 1; M, 3-09, s. 1.
PART 2 AP TION
2.1. ApplQ}%n
cIQe ulation does not apply to an investment fund.

(J@a g pply

M.é(?o’os-os, s. 2.1.

\2 RT 3 LANGUAGE OF DOCUMENTS

3.1. French or English

(1) A person must file a document required to be filed under this Regulation in
French or in English.
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(2) Despite subsection (1), if a person files a document only in French or only in
English but delivers to securityholders a version of the document in the other language,
the person must file that other version not later than when it is first delivered to
securityholders.

(3) In Québec, a reporting issuer must comply with linguistic obligations and ri ms
prescribed by Québec law. K

M.O. 2005-03, s. 3.1; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11. (l/
)

3.2. Filings Translated into French or English %q/

If a person files a document under this Regulation that S\ translation of a
document prepared in a language other than French or English, th rson must

(@) attach a certificate as to the accuracy of 'tﬁQQranslation to the filed

document; and
,\b‘

(b) make a copy of the document in ttél{giginal language available to a
s

registered holder or beneficial owner of its secur% , 9N request.

M.O. 2006-04, s. 2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11. Q:b
PART 4 FINANCIAL STATEME Q/

4.1. Comparative Annual Fir}{ i Statements and Audit

(1)  Areporting issuer m@e annual financial statements that include

(@) a stateme %r)comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity,
and a statement of ows for

(i)Qz the most recently completed financial year; and

f the financial year immediately preceding the most recently
comple Mancial year, if any;
Q@

a statement of financial position as at the end of each of the periods
\%ﬂgrred to in paragraph (a);

(© in the following circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the

beginning of the financial year immediately preceding the most recently completed
financial year:

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 13



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

0] the reporting issuer discloses in its annual financial statements an
unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS; and

(i) the reporting issuer

(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its annual
financial statements; '\Q.)

(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in itsc@ual

financial statements; or
)

(C) reclassifies items in its annual financial state%g)e‘,

(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first IFRS fina@statements, the
opening IFRS statement of financial position at the date of transiti&) IFRS; and

(e) notes to the annual financial statements; '@
(2)  Annual financial statements filed under subsec@&? must be audited.
(3) If a reporting issuer presents the comp of profit or loss in a separate

income statement, the separate income st ﬁt must be displayed immediately
before the statement of comprehensive inc e ffed under subsection (1).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.1; M.O. 2006-04, s &O. 2010-17, s. 2.
4.2. Filing Deadline for Audi nual Financial Statements

The audited annual @cial statements required to be filed under section 4.1
must be filed %

(@) in the @)f a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, on or before

the earlier of QQ‘

the 90" day after the end of its most recently completed financial

year; and Q%

3 (i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, annual financial
staQnents for its most recently completed financial year; or

\ (b) in the case of a venture issuer, on or before the earlier of

() the 120th day after the end of its most recently completed financial
year; and
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(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, annual financial
statements for its most recently completed financial year.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 4.
4.3. Interim Financial Report

(1)  Subject to sections 4.7 and 4.10, a reporting issuer must file an interim fir@@
report for each interim period ended after it became a reporting issuer. (l/

(2)  The interim financial report required to be filed under subsection (1) p@Tnclude

(@) a statement of financial position as at the end of the i eriod and a
statement of financial position as at the end of the immediately pr Nig financial year,
if any;

(b) a statement of comprehensive income, a statécggt of changes in equity
and a statement of cash flows, all for the year-to-date jn§im period, and comparative
financial information for the corresponding interim pE\é&ln the immediately preceding

financial year, if any; q/

(c) for interim periods other than thefi ihterim period in a reporting issuer's
financial year, a statement of comprehensiyg infome for the 3 month period ending on
the last day of the interim period )%/ mparative financial information for the

corresponding period in the immediat ceding financial year, if any;

(d) in the following cir nces, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the immediately Ing financial year:

0] the r%ng issuer discloses in its interim financial report an
unreserved statement d\cO0Mmpliance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim
Financial Reporting;

(ii{<2 the reporting issuer

% (A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its interim
financi rt;

(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its interim

O
@n&ial report; or

(e) in the case of the reporting issuer's first interim financial report required to
be filed in the year of adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at
the date of transition to IFRS; and

(C) reclassifies items in its interim financial report;

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 15



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

() notes to the interim financial report.

(2.1) If a reporting issuer presents the components of profit or loss in a separate

income statement, the separate income statement must be displayed immediately

before the statement of comprehensive income filed under subsection (2).

(3)  An auditor review of an interim financial report must be disclosed as foIIowsé\oD
€) If an auditor has not performed a review of an interim fina iaﬂ(eport

required to be filed under subsection (1), the interim financial reppéﬁJst be

accompanied by a notice indicating that the interim financial repor@a not been
reviewed by an auditor. : é

(b) If a reporting issuer engaged an auditor to perform iew of an interim
financial report required to be filed under subsection (1) an auditor was unable to
complete the review, the interim financial report must b ompanied by a notice
indicating that the auditor was unable to complete a revie%gf the interim financial report
and the reasons why the auditor was unable to compl e review.

(c) If an auditor has performed a revie o&e interim financial report required
to be filed under subsection (1) and the auditq&s“expressed a reservation of opinion
in the auditor's interim review report, the i@i financial report must be accompanied
by a written review report from the audito%

4) If an SEC issuer that is a rep&@ssuer

€) has filed an intey 45:1 ncial report prepared in accordance with Canadian
GAAP applicable to public countable enterprises for one or more interim periods
since its most recently c ted financial year for which annual financial statements

have been filed; and \&
pre Q

(b) its annual financial statements or an interim financial report for
the period im 1ately following the periods referred to in paragraph (a) in accordance

with U.S. G@,
thgC issuer must

C) restate the interim financial report for the periods referred to in
@agraph (a) in accordance with U.S. GAAP; and

(d) file the restated interim financial report referred to in paragraph (c) by the
filing deadline for the financial statements referred to in paragraph (b).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 3.
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4.4. Filing Deadline for an Interim Financial Report
An interim financial report must be filed

(@) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, on or before

the earlier of
&

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim fina cie(tll(eport
for a period ending on the last day of the interim period; or EZ) S

(1) the 45th day after the end of the interim period; and

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, on or before the earlier (@
0] the 60th day after the end of the interim period\ad

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdictio&ginterim financial report
for a period ending on the last day of the interim period. b‘

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4. (]9

4.5. Approval of Financial Statements er"

(1) The annual financial statements %porting issuer is required to file under
section 4.1 must be approved by the f directors before the statements are filed.

(2)  The interim financial repo reporting issuer is required to file under section 4.3
must be approved by the boarQ) Irectors before the report is filed.

3) In fulfilling the requ(ﬁént in subsection (2), the board of directors may delegate
the approval of the @ financial report to the audit committee of the board of
directors.

V)
M.O. 2005-03, &,™N5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.

4.6. Delq%of Financial Statements

(2) tporting issuer must send annually a request form to the registered holders
an&geneficial owners of its securities, other than debt instruments, that the registered

\ ers and beneficial owners may use to request any of the following:
(@) a paper copy of the reporting issuer’s annual financial statements and
MD&A for the annual financial statements;

(b)  a copy of the reporting issuer’s interim financial reports and MD&A for the
interim financial reports.
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(2) Despite paragraph (1), the reporting issuer must, in accordance with the
procedures set out in Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication with Beneficial
Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer (chapter V-1.1, r. 29) send the form referred
to in paragraph (1) to the beneficial owners of its securities who are identified under that
Regulation as having chosen to receive all securityholder materials sent to beneficial
owners of securities. %

3) If a registered holder or beneficial owner of securities, other th ert
instruments, of a reporting issuer requests the issuer's annual financial stgtemexits or
interim financial reports, the reporting issuer must send a copy of t a(xmested
financial statements to the person that made the request, without chargeg py ¥he later of,

(@) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a ventur ﬁer, 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline in subparagraph 4.2(a)(i) or 4.4(W¥f), section 4.7, or
subsection 4.10(2), as applicable, for the financial statements @Jested;

paragraph 4.2(b)(i) or 4.4(b)(i), section 4.7, or subsecd™M4.10(2), as applicable, for the

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, 10 calend;r Ms after the filing deadline in
financial statements requested; and q/

(© 10 calendar days after the issuer@i?es the request.

(4)  Areporting issuer is not required t %d copies of annual financial statements or
interim financial reports under subsec @ that were filed more than one year before
the issuer receives the request.

(5) Subsection (1) and th ’%ﬁr/ement to send annual financial statements under
subsection (3) do not ap 0 a reporting issuer that sends its annual financial
statements to its securit%érs, other than holders of debt instruments, within 140
days of the issuer's fi lal year-end and in accordance with Regulation 54-101
respecting Commur@qn with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer.

(6) If a repa@‘ssuer sends financial statements under this section, the reporting

issuer mustdjsodsend, at the same time, the annual or interim MD&A relating to the
financial s ents.

M.O &-03, s. 4.6: M.O. 2006-04. s. 6: M.O. 2008-06. s. 11: M.O. 2010-17, s. 4:
M.&( 13-01, s. 2.

\L . Filing of Financial Statements After Becoming a Reporting Issuer
(1) Despite any provisions of this Part other than subsections (2), (3) and (4) of this

section, the first annual financial statements and interim financial reports that a reporting
issuer must file under sections 4.1 and 4.3 are the financial statements for the financial
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year and interim periods immediately following the periods for which financial
statements were included in a document filed of the issuer

(@) thatresulted in the issuer becoming a reporting issuer; or

(b) in respect of a transaction that resulted in the issuer becoming a reporting

issuer. %

(2) If a reporting issuer is required to file annual financial statements for a % |aI
year that ended before the issuer became a reporting issuer, those ann ncial
statements must be filed on or before the later of L&

(@) the 20th day after the issuer became a reporting issuer;&

(b)  the filing deadline in section 4.2. 5
(3) If a reporting issuer is required to file an interim fin&%l report for an interim
period that ended before the issuer became a reportlp\%@suer that interim financial
report must be filed on or before the later of Q

(@) the 10th day after the issuer beca a:r]ﬁ)orting issuer; and

o

(4) A reporting issuer is not re to provide comparative interim financial
information for periods that ended he issuer became a reporting issuer if

(@) to a reasona@ son it is impracticable to present prior-period

(b)  the filing deadline in section 4

information on a basis consj t with subsection 4.3(2);
(b) the prior@@informaﬁon that is available is presented; and

(c) the Q to the interim financial report disclose the fact that the prior-
period informai as not been prepared on a basis consistent with the most recent

interim flnan% formation.

M.O. 2 , S. 4.7; M.O. 2006-04, s. 7; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.
4.8QQhange in Year-End

An SEC issuer satisfies this section if

@) it complies with the requirements of U.S. laws relating to a change of fiscal
year; and

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 19



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

(b) it files a copy of all materials required by U.S. laws relating to a change of
fiscal year at the same time as, or as soon as practicable after, they are filed with or
furnished to the SEC and, in the case of financial statements, no later than the filing
deadlines prescribed under sections 4.2 and 4.4.

(2) If a reporting issuer decides to change its financial year-end by more
than 14 days, it must file a notice as soon as practicable, and, in any event, not Ia%
than the earlier of '\

(@) the filing deadline, based on the reporting issuer's old financia(%e -end,
for the next financial statements required to be filed, either annual or interiq,/ Richever

comes first; and %
(b) the filing deadline, based on the reporting issuer's n@ncial year-end,

for the next financial statements required to be filed, either annua% nterim, whichever

comes first.
«O

(3)  The notice referred to in subsection (2) must stat?\b‘

(@) that the reporting issuer has decided to“%nge its year-end;

(b) the reason for the change,; er”
(© the reporting issuer's old fin@f year-end,;
(d) the reporting issuer's ancial year-end,

(e) the length and ’%«n date of the periods, including the comparative
periods, of each interim fin | report and the annual financial statements to be filed
for the reporting issuer's t vion year and its new financial year; and

financial statem d interim financial reports for the reporting issuer's transition

year. Q
4) For@ﬁurposes of this section,

@% a transition year must not exceed 15 months; and

N\

® (b)  the first interim period after an old financial year must not exceed 4
nths.

) the fiIi@%dlines, prescribed under sections 4.2 and 4.4, for the annual

(5) Despite subsection 4.3(1)(b), a reporting issuer is not required to file an interim
financial report for any period in its transition year that ends not more than 1 month

(@) after the last day of its old financial year; or

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 20



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

(b) before the first day of its new financial year.

(6) Despite subsection 4.1(1), if a transition year is less than 9 months in length, the
reporting issuer must include as comparative financial information to its annual financial
statements for its new financial year

€) a statement of financial position, a statement of comprehensive inco@?
statement of changes in equity, a statement of cash flows, and notes to the # ial
statements for its transition year;
A
(b)  a statement of financial position, a statement of compreh i(:/]!income, a
statement of changes in equity, a statement of cash flows and no %the financial
statements for its old financial year; Q

(© in the following circumstances, a statement of f@mal position as at the
beginning of the old financial year:

0] the reporting issuer discloses in @mnual financial statements an
unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS; andq/

(i)  the reporting issuer er K

(A) applies an a@%ting policy retrospectively in its annual
financial statements;

(B) make @trospective restatement of items in its annual
financial statements; or Q

©) % ssifies items in its annual financial statements; and

(d) in the of the reporting issuer's first IFRS financial statements, the
opening IFRS st t of financial position at the date of transition to IFRS.

(7 Despj gbsection 4.3(2), if interim periods for the reporting issuer's transition
year end I QW9 or 12 months after the end of its old financial year, the reporting issuer
must in

a) as comparative financial information in each interim financial report during
@ransition year, the comparative financial information required by subsection 4.3(2),
cept if an interim period during the transition year is 12 months in length and the
reporting issuer's transition year is longer than 13 months, the comparative financial
information must be the statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 12 month
period that constitutes its old financial year;
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(b)  as comparative financial information in each interim financial report during
its new financial year

(1) a statement of financial position as at the end of its transition year;
and

(i) the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes@;
equity and statement of cash flows for the periods in its transition year or old fi
year, for the same calendar months as, or as close as possible to, the calendar, ths
in the interim period in the new financial year; q

A

(© in the following circumstances, a statement of financial p@ as at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period: : é

0] the reporting issuer discloses in its interimNYfancial report an
unreserved statement of compliance with International Acco g Standard 34 Interim
Financial Reporting; and '{

(i) the reporting issuer Q
(A) applies an accounti%glﬂcy retrospectively in its interim
financial report; rb K
(B) makes a retr@?ﬁve restatement of items in its interim
financial report; or %
reclage€Nges'items in its interim financial report; and

(d) in the case of eporting issuer's first interim financial report required to
be filed in the year of ado FRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at
the date of transition t%

end 12,9, 6 or nths before the end of the transition year, the reporting issuer must

include Q/

as comparative financial information in each interim financial report during

its tr, @% year

0] a statement of financial position as at the end of its old financial

(8) Despite Z?O;Qon 4.3(2), if interim periods for a reporting issuer's transition year

r and

(i) the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for periods in its old financial year, for the same
calendar months as, or as close as possible to, the calendar months in the interim
period in the transition year;
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(b) as comparative financial information in each interim financial report during
its new financial year

0] a statement of financial position as at the end of its transition year;
and

equity and statement of cash flows in its transition year or old financial year, or as
appropriate, for the same calendar months as, or as close as possible to, t&ca ndar
months in the interim period in the new financial year; q/ S

(i) the statement of comprehensive income, statement of cha;@i@

(c) in the following circumstances, a statement of financia@ﬂon as at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period: Q

0] the reporting issuer discloses in its in financial report an
unreserved statement of compliance with International Ac g Standard 34 Interim
Financial Reporting; and '\b‘

(i) the reporting issuer (]9

(A) applies an accoum'@ﬁolicy retrospectively in its interim
financial report;

(B) makes a géﬁective restatement of items in its interim

financial report; or
©) recésgﬁ%s items in its interim financial report; and

(d) in the case Q&'reporting issuer's first interim financial report required to
be filed in the year of a Mg IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at
the date of transitio S.

D
M.O. 2005-03, Q@M.o. 2006-04, s. 8: M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.

4.9. Ch@’m Corporate Structure

&n‘ Issuer is party to a transaction that resulted in,

\é (@) the issuer becoming a reporting issuer other than by filing a prospectus; or
(b) if the issuer was already a reporting issuer, in
0] the issuer ceasing to be a reporting issuer,

(i) a change in the reporting issuer’s financial year end, or
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(i)  achange in the name of the reporting issuer;

the issuer must, as soon as practicable, and in any event not later than the
deadline for the first filing required under this Regulation following the transaction, file a
notice stating

(© the names of the parties to the transaction; Q'\%

(d) a description of the transaction; q/
Oy«

(e) the effective date of the transaction; %q/

() the name of each party, if any, that ceased to be a ting issuer after

the transaction and of each continuing entity;

() the date of the reporting issuer’s first fil‘ﬁ&ll year-end after the
transaction if paragraph (a) or subparagraph (b)(ii) appli?ib‘

(h)  the periods, including the comparati eriods, if any, of the interim
financial reports and the annual financial statemeggts r€équired to be filed for the reporting
issuer’s first financial year after the transactio Aragraph (a) or subparagraph (b)(ii)

applies; and Q‘
0] what documents were &mder this Regulation that described the

transaction and where those docu Can be found in electronic format, if paragraph
(a) or subparagraph (b)(ii) applie/§

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.9; M.O. @-04, s. 9; M.O. 2010-17, s. 5.

4.10. Reverse Taket@s%

(1) If a report’q@uer must comply with section 4.9 because it was a party to a
e

reverse takeov reporting issuer must comply with section 4.8 unless

(@) %(e reporting issuer had the same year-end as the reverse takeover
acquir re the transaction; or

)  the reporting issuer changes its year-end to be the same as that of the
\@erse takeover acquirer.

(2) If a reporting issuer completes a reverse takeover, it must

(@) file the following financial statements for the reverse takeover acquirer,
unless the financial statements have already been filed:
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0] financial statements for all annual and interim periods ending
before the date of the reverse takeover and after the date of the financial statements
included in an information circular or similar document, or under Item 5.2 of the
Form 51-102F3 Material Change Report, prepared in connection with the transaction; or

(i) if the reporting issuer did not file a document referred to in
subparagraph (i), or the document does not include the financial statements for %
reverse takeover acquirer that would be required to be included in a prospect "th
financial statements prescribed under securities legislation and described in thq@ of
prospectus that the reverse takeover acquirer was eligible to use prior to tfhe r&erse
takeover for a distribution of securities in the jurisdiction; &

Vv’
(b) file the annual financial statements required by paragra@on or before

the later of Q

(1) the 20th day after the date of the revers/e@ ver,

(i)  the 90th date after the end of the finarﬁal year; and

(i)  the 120th day after the end o(@ financial year if the reporting
issuer is a venture issuer; and

b
(c) file each interim financial rep galired by paragraph (a) on or before the
R

later of Q/
M the 10th day a & date of the reverse takeover;

(i) the 45th dégﬁ r the end of the interim period;

(i)  the %ay after the end of the interim period if the reporting
d

issuer is a venture iss@
(iv) Q filing deadline in paragraph (b).

3 Are t%g issuer is not required to provide comparative interim financial

informatio e reverse takeover acquirer for periods that ended before the date of a

revers ver if

a) to a reasonable person it is impracticable to present prior-period
@rmation on a basis consistent with subsection 4.3(2);

(b) the prior-period information that is available is presented; and
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(c) the notes to the interim financial report disclose the fact that the prior-
period information has not been prepared on a basis consistent with the most recent
interim financial information.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.10; M.O. 2006-04, s. 10; M.O. 2007-08, s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 6.
4.11. Change of Auditor '\Q.)

(1) In this section (19

“appointment” means, in relation to a reporting issuer, the earlier of (]9 S

(@) the appointment as its auditor of a person; and s@

(b)  the decision by the board of directors of the reportin uer to propose to
holders of qualified securities to appoint such person as @auditor to replace its
predecessor auditor;

“consultation” means advice provided by a su Essor auditor, whether or not in
writing, to a reporting issuer during the relevant pe[?i which the successor auditor
concluded was an important factor considered e reporting issuer in reaching a
decision concerning rb

(@) the application of accou principles or policies to a transaction,
whether or not the transaction is com ’

(b) a report provided % n auditor on the reporting issuer's financial
statements; Q«

(© scope or pr@e of an audit or review engagement; or

(d) financ@ementdisclosure;

“dlsagre?e t" means a difference of opinion between personnel of a reporting
issuer resp for finalizing the reporting issuer's financial statements and the
personnel predecessor auditor responsible for authorizing the issuance of audit
reports@ug'?e reporting issuer's financial statements or authorizing the communication

@ Its of the auditor's review of the reporting issuer's interim financial report, if
the& erence of opinion

\ €) resulted in a modified opinion in the predecessor auditor's audit report on
the reporting issuer's financial statements for any period during the relevant period,;

(b)  would have resulted in a modified opinion in the predecessor auditor's

audit report on the reporting issuer's financial statements for any period during the
relevant period if the difference of opinion had not been resolved to the predecessor
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auditor's satisfaction, not including a difference of opinion based on incomplete or
preliminary information that was resolved to the satisfaction of the predecessor auditor
upon the receipt of further information;

(c) resulted in a qualified or adverse communication or denial of assurance in
respect of the predecessor auditor's review of the reporting issuer's interim financial
report for any interim period during the relevant period; or '\Q.)

(d)  would have resulted in a qualified or adverse communication or QB&I of
assurance in respect of the predecessor auditor's review of the reporting issugr's imMterim
financial report for any interim period during the relevant period if the ‘ﬁrénce of
opinion had not been resolved to the predecessor auditor's satisfactionsnotMhcluding a
difference of opinion based on incomplete or preliminary informatior@was resolved
to the satisfaction of the predecessor auditor upon the receipt of fu@ information;

“predecessor auditor” means the auditor of a reportin %r that is the subject
of the most recent termination or resignation; @

“qualified securities” means securities of a repﬂﬂg Issuer that carry the right to
participate in voting on the appointment or removal @‘I']/ reporting issuer's auditor;

“relevant information circular” means er“

(@) if a reporting issuer's co 25 g documents or applicable law require
holders of qualified securities to take o remove the reporting issuer's auditor or to
appoint a successor auditor &

0] the infornés&ircular required to accompany or form part of every
notice of meeting at which t% ction is proposed to be taken; or

(i) the\lisClosure document accompanying the text of the written
resolution provided ers of qualified securities; or

(b) if&graph (a) does not apply, the information circular required to
accompany i, foxm part of the first notice of meeting to be sent to holders of qualified
@gﬁ

securities ing the preparation of a reporting package concerning a termination or

resigna@.

Q relevant period” means the period

\ (&) commencing at the beginning of the reporting issuer's 2 most recently
completed financial years and ending on the date of termination or resignation; or

(b) during which the predecessor auditor was the reporting issuer's auditor, if

the predecessor auditor was not the reporting issuer's auditor throughout the period
described in paragraph (a);
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“reportable event” means a disagreement, a consultation, or an unresolved issue;
“reporting package” means
(@) the documents referred to in subparagraphs (5)(a)(i) and (6)(a)(i);
issuer, unless an updated letter referred to in clause (6)(a)(iii))(B) has been recgt by
the reporting issuer; q
A

(c) the letter referred to in clause (6)(a)(ii)(B), if received % reporting

issuer; and : é

(d) any updated letter referred to in clause (6)(a)(iii received by the
reporting issuer,;

(b)  the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B), if received by the regh’q

“resignation” means notification from an audit r?g a reporting issuer of the
auditor's decision to resign or decline to stand for rea@x ment;

“successor auditor’ means the person Q?/

(&) appointed;

(b)  that the board of directo e proposed to holders of qualified securities
be appointed; or §

(© that the board of§ %rs have decided to propose to holders of qualified
securities be appointed, Q/

as the reportin 'gaer's auditor after the termination or resignation of the
reporting issuer's pr ssor auditor;

“termina&neans, in relation to a reporting issuer, the earlier of

appoint 7 the expiry of its auditor's term of appointment without reappointment, or

€)) ;S%(,e removal of its auditor before the expiry of the auditor's term of
theé tment of a different person as its auditor upon expiry of its auditor's term of
ntm

a ent; and

\ (b)  the decision by the board of directors of the reporting issuer to propose to
holders of its qualified securities that its auditor be removed before, or that a different
person be appointed as its auditor upon, the expiry of its auditor's term of appointment;

“unresolved issue” means any matter that, in the predecessor auditor's opinion,
has, or could have, a material impact on the financial statements, or reports provided by

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 28



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

the auditor relating to the financial statements, for any financial period during the
relevant period, and about which the predecessor auditor has advised the reporting
issuer if

(@) the predecessor auditor was unable to reach a conclusion as to the
matter's implications before the date of termination or resignation;

(b)  the matter was not resolved to the predecessor auditor's satisf@fz?

before the date of termination or resignation; or (l/

(c) the predecessor auditor is no longer willing to be associate@l@ﬁ‘ any of
the financial statements; %
(2) For the purposes of this section, the term “material” has ning consistent
with the discussion of the term “materiality” in the issuer's GAAP.
(3)  This section does not apply if '@

(@  the following 3 conditions are met: Q'\b‘

0] a termination, or resignatio arﬁl’appointment occur in connection
with an amalgamation, arrangement, takeo ? similar transaction involving the
reporting issuer or a reorganization of the r@t g issuer;

%signation, and appointment have been
en filed or in a disclosure document that has
ecurities and filed; and

(i) the termination,
disclosed in a news release that
been delivered to holders of qualj

@ii)  no repq@e event has occurred;

(b) the chan$% auditor is required by the legislation under which the

reporting issuer exi arries on its activities; or

(© %ange of auditor arises from an amalgamation, merger or other

th%t
reorganizati@ he auditor.

4) Qggc issuer satisfies this section if it

%) complies with the requirements of U.S. laws relating to a change of

q\@itor;

(b) files a copy of all materials required by U.S. laws relating to a change of
auditor at the same time as, or as soon as practicable after, they are filed with or
furnished to the SEC,;
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(c) issues and files a news release describing the information disclosed in the
materials referred to in paragraph (b), if there are any reportable events; and

(d) includes the materials referred to in paragraph (b) with each relevant
information circular.

(5) Upon a termination or resignation of its auditor, a reporting issuer must '\Q.)
(@)  within 3 days after the date of termination or resignation (19
0] prepare a change of auditor notice in accg e  with

subsection (7) and deliver a copy of it to the predecessor auditor; and %

(i) request the predecessor auditor to 0%

D

(A)  review the reporting issuer's chan @ auditor notice;

(B) prepare a letter, addressed the securities regulatory
authority, stating, for each statement in the change of Jor notice, whether the auditor

agrees, disagrees and the reasons why, or has no b% 0 agree or disagree; and

(C) deliver the letter too@ F‘eporting issuer within 7 days after
the date of termination or resignation; Q‘

(b)  within 14 days after the % termination or resignation
0] have the a mmittee of its board of directors or its board of

directors review the letter ref o in clause (5)(a)(ii))(B) if received by the reporting
issuer, and approve the cha(é?gf auditor notice;

(i) file py of the reporting package with the securities regulatory
authority; O
(iR eliver a copy of the reporting package to the predecessor auditor;
' if there are any reportable events, issue and file a news release
describi e information in the reporting package; and
C) include with each relevant information circular

\E 0] a copy of the reporting package as an appendix; and

(i) a summary of the contents of the reporting package with a cross-
reference to the appendix.

(6) Upon an appointment of a successor auditor, a reporting issuer must
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(@) within 3 days after the date of appointment

0] prepare a change of auditor notice in accordance with
subsection (7) and deliver it to the successor auditor and to the predecessor auditor;

(i) request the successor auditor to '\Q.)
(A) review the reporting issuer's change of auditor noticeg Q
(B) prepare a letter addressed to the securitim%agulatory
authority, stating, for each statement in the change of auditor notice, WhSEe e auditor

agrees, disagrees and the reasons why, or has no basis to agree or e; and

(C)  deliver that letter to the reporting issu%Qithin 7 days after
the date of appointment; and

(i) request the predecessor auditor to&m‘nin 7 days after the date of

appointment, Q

(A)  confirm that the lette efeked to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B) does
not have to be updated; or rb K

(B) prepare and g€ver to the reporting issuer an updated letter
to replace the letter referred to in clau a)(i)(B);

(b)  within 14 days afte/r& ate of appointment,

0] have t dit committee of its board of directors or its board of
directors review the letter rred to in clauses (6)(a)(ii)(B) and (6)(a)(iii)(B) if received
by the reporting issuer@ pprove the change of auditor notice;

(i) @ a copy of the reporting package with the securities regulatory

authority; Q

S%E deliver a copy of the reporting package to the successor auditor

and to decessor auditor; and

O (iv) if there are any reportable events, issue and file a news release

&Iosing the appointment of the successor auditor and describing the information in
reporting package or referring to the news release required under subparagraph

(B)(b)(iv).

(7) A change of auditor notice must state

(@) the date of termination or resignation;
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(b)  whether the predecessor auditor

(1) resigned on the predecessor auditor's own initiative or at the
reporting issuer's request;

(i) was removed or is proposed to holders of qualified securities toQS
removed during the predecessor auditor's term of appointment; or Q’\

(i)  was not reappointed or has not been proposed for reapp&i.r)\t(raént;
“

(c) whether the termination or resignation of the predecessor
appointment of the successor auditor were considered or appr
committee of the reporting issuer's board of directors or the repor{
directors; 5

de6r and any

issuer's board of

(d)  whether the predecessor auditor's report on a@‘ the reporting issuer's
financial statements relating to the relevant period expr?i&d a modified opinion and, if
so, a description of each modification;

(e) if there is a reportable event, the fo ng information:

o

0] for a disagreement, Q‘
A) a descripti§ e disagreement;

(B) Whet%? audit committee of the reporting issuer's board
of directors or the reporting is \s board of directors discussed the disagreement with
the predecessor auditor; an%

auditor to respon to inquiries by any successor auditor concerning the
disagreement angryN\adt, a description of and reasons for any limitation;

DQ for a consultation,
%

% (A) a description of the issue that was the subject of the
coz@ n;

(B) a summary of the successor auditor's oral advice, if any,
vided to the reporting issuer concerning the issue;

(CE$%ether the reporting issuer authorized the predecessor

(C) a copy of the successor auditor's written advice, if any,
received by the reporting issuer concerning the issue; and
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(D)  whether the reporting issuer consulted with the predecessor
auditor concerning the issue and, if so, a summary of the predecessor auditor's advice
concerning the issue; and

(i) for an unresolved issue,

(A) adescription of the issue;

N

(B)  whether the audit committee of the reporting issuer'gsl‘%ard
of directors or the reporting issuer's board of directors discussed the isss)w the
A

predecessor auditor; and q/
(C)  whether the reporting issuer authorize predecessor
auditor to respond fully to inquiries by any successor auditor con g the issue and,

if not, a description of and reasons for any limitation; and
() if there are no reportable events, a statement 6{@ effect.

(8) If a reporting issuer does not file the reporting Qﬁ%e required to be filed under
subparagraph (5)(b)(ii) or the news releas quired to be filed under
subparagraph (5)(b)(iv), the predecessor auditgamu$t, within 3 days of the required
filing date, advise the reporting issuer in writi@t’he failure and deliver a copy of the
letter to the securities regulatory authority. Q‘

(9) If a reporting issuer does not fi eporting package required to be filed under
subparagraph (6)(b)(i) or the release required to be filed under
subparagraph (6)(b)(iv), the suc@ auditor must, within 3 days of the required filing

date, advise the reporting iss riting of the failure and deliver a copy of the letter
to the securities regulatory @rity.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.11; W.O" 2006-04, s. 11; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 1,
M.O. 2010-17, s. 7: 014-07, s. 2.
PART 4A F@ARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
&
M.O. 20070Q¥S. 3.

4A¢§p~lication

This Part applies to forward-looking information that is disclosed by a reporting
\s uer other than forward-looking information contained in oral statements.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
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4A.2. Reasonable Basis

A reporting issuer must not disclose forward-looking information unless the issuer
has a reasonable basis for the forward-looking information.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. %
_ N
4A.3. Disclosure (19

A reporting issuer that discloses material forward-looking inforp@m must
include disclosure that

€) identifies forward-looking information as such; 0%

(b)  cautions users of forward-looking information th gjal results may vary
from the forward-looking information and identifies material ctors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from the forward-lookianrmation;

(© states the material factors or assumptiml)gsed to develop forward-looking

information; and .

(d)  describes the reporting is%r"bpolicy for updating forward-looking
information if it includes procedures in adQl/ to those described in subsection 5.8(2).

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. &
PART 4B FOFI AND FINA@&OUTLOOKS

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. %

4B.1. Application O@

(1)  This PaQ ies to FOFI or a financial outlook that is disclosed by a reporting

issuer. Q/

(2) @g art does not apply to disclosure that is

a)  subject to requirements in Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of
&;Iosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23), or Regulation 43-101
pecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (chapter V-1.1, r. 15); or

(b) made to comply with the conditions of any exemption from the
requirements referred to in paragraph (a) that a reporting issuer received from a
securities regulatory authority unless the securities regulatory authority orders that this
Part applies to disclosure made under the exemption; or
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(© contained in an oral statement.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
4B.2. Assumptions

(1) A reporting issuer must not disclose FOFI or a financial outlook unless the@
or financial outlook is based on assumptions that are reasonable in the circumst@l/ :

(2) FOFI or a financial outlook that is based on assumptions that are Nable in
the circumstances must, without limitation, %

(@) be limited to a period for which the information in % FI or financial
outlook can be reasonably estimated, and 5

(b) use the accounting policies the reporting issuef\egects to use to prepare
its historical financial statements for the period covereid\vky the FOFI or the financial
outlook.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. Q?/Q
S

4B.3. Disclosure Q‘
In addition to the disclosure @(ed by section 4A.3, if a reporting issuer

discloses FOFI or a financial outlo@s Issuer must include disclosure that

(@) states the date ’ggement approved the FOFI or financial outlook, if the
document containing the Fcé/qwﬁnancial outlook is undated; and

(b)  explainst %rpose of the FOFI or financial outlook and cautions readers
that the information ot be appropriate for other purposes.

.

M.O. 2007-08, (@(‘

PART 5 C&ANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

5.1. \tng of MD&A

® A reporting issuer must file MD&A relating to its annual financial statements and
ch interim financial report.

(1.1) Despite subsection (1), a reporting issuer does not have to file MD&A relating to
the annual financial statements and interim financial reports required under sections 4.7
and 4.10 for financial years and interim periods that ended before the issuer became a
reporting issuer.
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(2) The MD&A required to be filed must be filed on or before the earlier of

(@) the filing deadlines for the annual financial statements and each interim
financial report set out in sections 4.2 and 4.4, as applicable; and

(b) the date the reporting issuer files the financial statements un%
subsections 4.1(1) or 4.3(1), as applicable.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 12; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9. q(l/
A
5.2.  Filing of MD&A for SEC Issuers %q/

annual or interim MD&A prepared in accordance with Item 303 of ulation S-K under

Despite subsection 5.1(2), if an SEC issuer that is a reporﬁ%%suer is filing its
the 1934 Act, the SEC issuer must file that document on or b @ the earlier of

(@) the date the SEC issuer would be require%{o file that document under
section 5.1; and Q

(b)  the date the SEC issuer files that d@fr}]@nt with the SEC.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 13; @%010-17, s. 9.
5.3. Additional Disclosure for Vegt@?fgsuers Without Significant Revenue

(1) A venture issuer that has d significant revenue from operations in either of
its last 2 financial years, m {sclose in its MD&A, for each period referred to in
subsection (2), a breakdow aterial components of

@) exploratio@% evaluation assets or expenditures;
(b)  exp research and development costs;

(c) @gwible assets arising from development;

O

(Q~ general and administration expenses; and

€) any material costs, whether expensed or recognized as assets, not
\%grred to in paragraphs (a) through (d);
and if the venture issuer's business primarily involves mining exploration and
development, the analysis of exploration and evaluation assets or expenditures must be
presented on a property-by-property basis.

(2)  The disclosure in subsection (1) must be provided for the following periods:
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€) in the case of annual MD&A, for the 2 most recently completed financial
years; and

(b) in the case of interim MD&A, for the most recent year-to-date interim
period and the comparative year-to-date period presented in the interim financial report.

3) Subsection (1) does not apply if the information required under that subsQ&g?

has been disclosed in the financial statements to which the MD&A relates. (l/
M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 14; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9. (]9“
5.4. Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data X é@

(1) A reporting issuer must disclose in its MD&A the design&¥nh and number or
principal amount of O

(@) each class and series of voting or equity Writies of the reporting issuer
for which there are securities outstanding; Q

(b)  each class and series of securitiegQf tife reporting issuer for which there
are securities outstanding if the securities (%eonvertible into, or exercisable or
exchangeable for, voting or equity securitieqf‘t reporting issuer; and

(c) each class and series 0 0 or equity securities of the reporting issuer
that are issuable on the conversio cise or exchange of outstanding securities of

the reporting issuer. &

(2) For the application o graph (1)(c), if the exact number or principal amount of
voting or equity securitie e reporting issuer that are issuable on the conversion,
exercise or exchan of outstanding securities of the reporting issuer is not
determinable, the r, INg issuer must disclose the maximum number or principal
amount of each nd series of voting or equity securities that are issuable on the
conversion, ex or exchange of outstanding securities of the reporting issuer and, if
that maxim nmumber or principal amount is not determinable, the reporting issuer
must des the exchange or conversion features and the manner in which the
numbe@gﬁncipal amount of voting or equity securities will be determined.

(B)Q e disclosure under subsections (1) and (2) must be prepared as of the latest
ticable date.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.
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5.5. Approval of MD&A

(2) The annual MD&A that a reporting issuer is required to file under this Part must
be approved by the board of directors before being filed.

(2)  The interim MD&A that a reporting issuer is required to file under this Part ml@
be approved by the board of directors before being filed.

3) In fulfilling the requirement in subsection (2), the board of directors m dgégate
the approval of the interim MD&A required to be filed under this Par He audit
committee of the board of directors.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.5: M.O. 2010-17, s. 9. QT\

5.6. Delivery of MD&A O

instruments, of a reporting issuer requests the re g issuer's annual or interim
MD&A, the reporting issuer must send a copy of th ested MD&A to the person that
made the request, without charge, by the delive$ etdline set out in subsection 4.6(3)

(2) If a registered holder or beneficial owner zf&ecurities, other than debt

for the annual financial statements or interim fi al report to which the MD&A relates.

(2) A reporting issuer is not require %end copies of any MD&A that was filed
more than 2 years before the issuer r the request.

(3)  The requirement to send | MD&A under subsection (1) does not apply to a
reporting issuer that sends it al MD&A and any related MD&A supplement to its
securityholders, other than rs of debt instruments, within 140 days of the issuer's
financial year-end and in ance with Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication

with Beneficial Owner§ curities of a Reporting Issuer (chapter V-1.1, r. 29).

4) If a repor Quer sends MD&A under this section, the reporting issuer must
also send, at th% e time, the annual financial statements or interim financial report to
which the M AYelates.

M.O. 2 , S. 5.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 15; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.

S&Qdditional Disclosure for Reporting Issuers with Significant Equity

stees
N

(1) A reporting issuer that has a significant equity investee must disclose in its
MD&A for each period referred to in subsection (2),

(@ summarized financial information of the equity investee, including the
aggregated amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss; and
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(b) the reporting issuer's proportionate interest in the equity investee and any
contingent issuance of securities by the equity investee that might significantly affect the
reporting issuer's share of profit or loss.

(2)  The disclosure in subsection (1) must be provided for the following periods:

€) in the case of annual MD&A, for the 2 most recently completed fir@@

years; and (l/

(b) in the case of interim MD&A, for the most recent year-tq‘@“interim
period and the comparative year-to-date period presented in the interim @ ial report.

(3)  Subsection (1) does not apply if B\BQ

(@) the information required under that subsection I@been disclosed in the
financial statements to which the MD&A relates; or

(b)  the issuer files separate financial staterr@s of the equity investee for the
periods referred to in subsection (2). q/

M.O. 2006-04, s. 16: M.O. 2010-17, s. 9. er“

5.8. Disclosure Relating to Previoé‘Disclosed Material Forward-Looking

Information %

(1)  This section applies to mgg8ggiforward-looking information that is disclosed by a
reporting issuer other than Q

(@) forward-loo wiformation contained in an oral statement, or

(b) disclo@at IS

@ zsubject to the requirements in Regulation 51-101 respecting
Standards isclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23) or
Regulatio 01 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects

(i) made to comply with the conditions of any exemption from the

@lirements referred to in subparagraph (i) that a reporting issuer received from a

curities regulatory authority unless the securities regulatory authority orders that this
Part applies to disclosure made under the exemption.

(2)  Areporting issuer must discuss in its MD&A,
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(@) events and circumstances that occurred during the period to which the
MD&A relates that are reasonably likely to cause actual results to differ materially from
material forward-looking information for a period that is not yet complete that the
reporting issuer previously disclosed to the public; and

(b)  the expected differences referred to in paragraph (a).

(3)  Subsection (2) does not apply if the reporting issuer Q’\Q*)

issued and filed by the reporting issuer before the filing of the MD&A @d to in

(@) includes the information required by subsection (2) in a neys r#&ease
subsection (2); and % €

(b) includes disclosure in the MD&A referred to in subser@) that
0] identifies the news release referred to irl@graph (a);
(i) states the date of the news release; aw
(i)  states that the news release is w&ble at www.sedar.com.

(4) A reporting issuer must disclose and dof 3 in its MD&A, material differences

between Q‘

(@) actual results for the a@f interim period to which the MD&A relates,

(b)  any FOFI or fin &utlook for the period referred to in paragraph (a)
that the reporting issuer preQ?:ly disclosed.

and

(5) If during the pe dc“?o which its MD&A relates, a reporting issuer decides to
withdraw previously H sed material forward-looking information,

(@) t)ﬂ%?%rting issuer must disclose in its MD&A the decision and discuss
the events cumstances that led the reporting issuer to that decision, including a
discussio e assumptions underlying the forward-looking information that are no
longer and

@
&

subsection (4) does not apply to the reporting issuer with respect to the
0] if the reporting issuer complies with paragraph (a); and

(i) the MD&A is filed before the end of the period covered by the
forward-looking information.
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(6) Paragraph 5(a) does not apply if the reporting issuer
(@) includes the information required by paragraph (5)(a) in a news release

issued and filed by the reporting issuer before the filing of the MD&A referred to in
subsection (5); and

(b) includes disclosure in the MD&A referred to in subsection (5) that %
0] identifies the news release referred to in paragraph (a); Q
(i) states the date of the news release; and (]9 S
(i)  states that the news release is available at www. fcom.
M.O. 2007-08, s. 4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 10. 50
PART 6 ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM &O
6.1. Requirement to File an AIF Q’\b‘

A reporting issuer that is not a venture iss&r?ﬁst file an AIF.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.1. Q:'b
6.2. Filing Deadline for an AIF :%Q/

An AIF must be filed, &Q/

(@ on or before $%§Oth day after the end of the reporting issuer's most

recently completed financy ar; or

(b) in theg§of a reporting issuer that is an SEC issuer filing its AIF on
Form 10-K or ForQ~ , on or before the earlier of

j) the 90th day after the end of the reporting issuer's most recently

completedQB cial year; and

Q@ (i) the date the reporting issuer files its Form 10-K or Form 20-F with
the! :

S\.O. 2005-03, s. 6.2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 11.

6.3. (Revoked).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 17.

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 41



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015
PART 7 MATERIAL CHANGE REPORTS
7.1. Publication of Material Change

(1) If a material change occurs in the affairs of a reporting issuer, the reporting issuer
must

(@) immediately issue and file a news release authorized by an exe@@
officer disclosing the nature and substance of the change; and (l/

(b)  as soon as practicable, and in any event within 10 days o tate on
which the change occurs, file a Form 51-102F3 Material Change Repo@it respect to
the material change.

(2)  Subsection (1) does not apply if, 50

@) in the opinion of the reporting issuer, and if tl‘ﬁ&inion is arrived at in a
reasonable manner, the disclosure required by sul;%v‘tion (1) would be unduly
detrimental to the interests of the reporting issuer; or Q

(b)  the material change consists of a (gﬁ)n to implement a change made
by senior management of the reporting issueaxR No believe that confirmation of the

decision by the board of directors is proba d senior management of the reporting
issuer has no reason to believe that p s with knowledge of the material change
have made use of that knowledge i asing or selling securities of the reporting
issuer,

(2)(b) marked so as to indi that it is confidential, together with written reasons for
non-disclosure.

%)
(3)  (paragraph r@‘&)-
(4) (paragraq%/oked).

and the reporting iss&'ﬁﬁ/ediately files the report required under paragraph

(5) If rt has been filed under subsection (2), the reporting issuer must advise
the se regulatory authority in writing if it believes the report should continue to
remai nfidential, within 10 days of the date of filing of the initial report and every 10

da ereafter until the material change is generally disclosed in the manner referred to
w@naragraph (1)(a), or, if the material change consists of a decision of the type referred

\0 in paragraph (2)(b), until that decision has been rejected by the board of directors of
the reporting issuer.

(6) In Ontario, the reporting issuer must advise the securities regulatory authority.
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(7 If a report has been filed under subsection (2), the reporting issuer must promptly
generally disclose the material change in the manner referred to in subsection (1) upon
the reporting issuer becoming aware, or having reasonable grounds to believe, that
persons are purchasing or selling securities of the reporting issuer with knowledge of
the material change that has not been generally disclosed.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 7.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 18; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 2. %

PART 8 BUSINESS ACQUISITION REPORT (19

8.1. Interpretation and Application (]9
(2) In this Part, s@

“acquisition” includes an acquisition of an interest in business that is
consolidated for accounting purposes or accounted for by a r method, such as the
equity method; K

“acquisition of related businesses” means&k acquisition of 2 or more
businesses if q/

(@) the businesses were under con@ *ontrol or management before the
acquisitions were completed,;

(b)  each acquisition was §@(onal upon the completion of each other

acquisition; or

(c) the acquisitions @contlngent upon a single common event;

“business” includeéfnterest in an oil and gas property to which reserves, as
defined in Regulation §-¥01 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas
Activities (chapter V, . 23), have been specifically attributed; and
“specme% ofit or loss” means profit or loss from continuing operations

attributable owners of the parent, adjusted to exclude income taxes.

@g?‘art does not apply to a transaction that is a reverse takeover.

Mé(?o’osos s. 8.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 19; M.O. 2007-08, s. 5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 12.
\& . Obligation to File a Business Acquisition Report and Filing Deadline

(1) If a reporting issuer completes a significant acquisition, it must file a business
acquisition report within 75 days after the acquisition date.
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(2) Despite subsection (1), if the most recently completed financial year of the
acquired business ended 45 days or less before the acquisition date, a reporting issuer
must file a business acquisition report

(@ within 90 days after the acquisition date, in the case of an issuer other
than a venture issuer, or

(b)  within 120 days after the acquisition date, in the case of a venture is ég)

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 20; M.O. 2010-17, s. 13. q/
Oy«
8.3. Determination of Significance %q/
(1)  An acquisition of a business or related businesses is a signi@cquisition,
(a)  for a reporting issuer that is not a venture issue @he acquisition satisfies

any of the 3 significance tests set out in subsection (2); and

(b)  for a venture issuer, if the acquisition Qés either of the significance
tests set out in paragraphs (2)(a) or (b) if “20%” is reags “40%".

(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), the @iaance tests are:

% issuer's proportionate share of the

related businesses exceeds 20% of the
r calculated using the audited annual financial
uer and the business or the related businesses
ncial year of each that ended before the acquisition

(@) The asset test: The re
consolidated assets of the busine
consolidated assets of the reporting<
statements of each of the repory
for the most recently complet

date. Q/

(b) The in@ t test: The reporting issuer's consolidated investments in

and advances to usiness or related businesses as at the acquisition date
exceeds 20% of nsolidated assets of the reporting issuer as at the last day of the
most recently% pleted financial year of the reporting issuer ended before the
acquisition ,excluding any investments in or advances to the business or related
businesse&t that date.

@ The profit or loss test: The reporting issuer's proportionate share of the
co Idated specified profit or loss of the business or related businesses exceeds 20%
e consolidated specified profit or loss of the reporting issuer calculated using the
dited annual financial statements of each of the reporting issuer and the business or
related businesses for the most recently completed financial year of each ended before
the acquisition date.

3) Despite subsection (1), if an acquisition of a business or related businesses is
significant based on the significance tests in subsection (2),
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(@) a reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer may re-calculate the
significance using the optional significance tests in subsection (4); and

(b) a venture issuer may re-calculate the significance using the optional
significance tests in paragraphs (4)(a) or (b) if “20%” is read as “40%".

Q

(@) The asset test: The reporting issuer's proportionate shEe the

4) The optional significance tests are:

consolidated assets of the business or related businesses exceeds Sof the
consolidated assets of the reporting issuer, calculated using the financjal, stéddements of
each of the reporting issuer and the business or the related busin for the most
recently completed interim period or financial year of each, witho@g effect to the
acquisition.

(b)  The investment test: The reporting issuer's &Qlidated investments in
and advances to the business or related business s at the acquisition date
exceeds 20% of the consolidated assets of the reportgrg€ssuer as at the last day of the
most recently completed interim period or fina year of the reporting issuer,
excluding any investments in or advances to tthu ness or related businesses as at
that date. 23 °

(© The profit or loss test: Th %:ified profit or loss calculated under the
following subparagraph (i) exceeds 2 the specified profit or loss calculated under
the following subparagraph (ii):

0] the repor, "&lssuer's proportionate share of the consolidated
specified profit or loss of th iness or related businesses for the later of

(A Oth)e most recently completed financial year of the business or
related businesses;

B) the 12 months ended on the last day of the most recently

completed @ period of the business or related businesses;

[
Qg)(ii) the reporting issuer's consolidated specified profit or loss for the
Iate&@
@ (A) the most recently completed financial year, without giving
e

ct to the acquisition; or

(B) the 12 months ended on the last day of the most recently
completed interim period of the reporting issuer, without giving effect to the acquisition.
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(4.1) For the purposes of subsections (2) and (4), the reporting issuer must not
remeasure its previously held equity interest in the business or related businesses.

(4.2) For the purposes of paragraphs (2)(b) and (4)(b), the reporting issuer's
investments in and advances to the business or related businesses must include

(@) the consideration transferred for the acquisition, measured in accordanQS
with the issuer's GAAP, Q'\

(b) payments made in connection with the acquisition which do ngf corétitute
consideration transferred but which would not have been paid unless t Quisition
had occurred, and %

(© contingent consideration for the acquisition measure@ccordance with
the issuer's GAAP.

(5) If an acquisition does not meet any of the significancé{gs under paragraph (4),
the acquisition is not a significant acquisition. '\b‘

(6) Despite subsection (3), the significance of a %Jisition of a business or related
businesses may be re-calculated using financial &{atefnents for periods that ended after
the acquisition date only if, after the acquisitio “the business or related businesses

remained substantially intact and were noQﬁ fficantly reorganized, and no significant
assets or liabilities were transferred to otIQ/ tities.

(7) For the purposes of paragr )(c) and (4)(c), if any of the reporting issuer,
the business or the related busir}{0 has incurred a loss, the significance test must be

applied using the absolute v the loss from continuing operations attributable to
owners of the parent, adjusé/@exclude income taxes.

%paragraph (2)(c) and clause (4)(c)(ii)(A), if the reporting
cified profit or loss for the most recently completed financial
or more than its average consolidated specified profit or loss for
the 3 most ree? completed financial years, the issuer may, subject to subsection
(10), substi the average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most recently

ncial years in determining whether the significance test set out in
paragr (c) or (4)(c) is satisfied.

(8) For the purpose
issuer's consolidate,
year was lower b,

9) Qor the purpose of clause (4)(c)(ii))(B) if the reporting issuer's consolidated

cified profit or loss for the most recently completed 12-month period was lower

\h 20% or more than its average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most

recently completed 12-month periods, the issuer may, subject to subsection (10),

substitute the average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most recently

completed 12-month periods in determining whether the significance test set out in
paragraph (4)(c) is satisfied.
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(10) If the reporting issuer's consolidated specified profit or loss for either of the 2
earlier financial periods referred to in subsections (8) and (9) is a loss, the reporting
issuer's specified profit or loss for that period is considered to be zero for the purposes
of calculating the average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 financial periods.

(11) If a reporting issuer has made multiple investments in the same business, then
for the purposes of applying subsections (2) and (4), '\Q.)

@) if the initial investment and one or more incremental investmem@ere
made during the same financial year, the investments must be aggregated 6.;1d sted
A

on a combined basis; q/

(b) if one or more incremental investments were made @nancial year
subsequent to the financial year in which an initial or incremental i ment was made
and the initial or previous incremental investments are reflect n audited annual
financial statements of the reporting issuer previously filed, reporting issuer must
apply the significance tests set out in subsections (2) and n a combined basis to
the incremental investments not reflected in audited fina&cw statements of the reporting
issuer previously filed; and Q

subsequent to the financial year in which the im ivestment was made and the initial

(c) if one or more incremental inves?en were made in a financial year
investment is not reflected in audited annugtyin&hcial statements of the reporting issuer

previously filed, the reporting issuer apply the significance tests set out in
subsections (2) and (4) to the initial a mental investments on a combined basis.
(11.1) For the purposes of ting the optional profit or loss test under

clause (4)(c)(ii)(A), a reportingsgsNer may use pro forma consolidated specified profit or
loss for its most recently co@ ted financial year that was included in a previously filed

document if %

(@) the re issuer has made a significant acquisition of a business after
its most recently ted financial year; and

(b) Qg)reviously filed document included

gg)(i) audited annual financial statements of that acquired business for
the&@ s required by this Part; and
6)

N

(12) In determining whether an acquisition of related businesses is a significant
acquisition, related businesses acquired after the ending date of the most recently filed
audited annual financial statements of the reporting issuer must be considered on a
combined basis.

(i) the pro forma financial information required by subsection 8.4(5)
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(13) For the purposes of calculating the significance tests in subsections (2) and (4),
the amounts used for the business or related businesses must

(@) be based on the issuer's GAAP, and

(b) be translated into the same presentation currency as that used in EQS
reporting issuer's financial statements. '\

(13.1) Paragraph 8.3(13)(a) does not apply to a venture issuer if q’

Oy«
(@) the financial statements for the business or related busin@gﬂeferred to
in subsections 8.3(2) and (4) : é

0] are prepared in accordance with Canadian AP applicable to
private enterprises, and O

(i) are prepared in a manner that constidates any subsidiaries and
accounts for significantly influenced investees and%'&nt ventures using the equity

method; q/

and er”

(b) none of the accounting gﬂes described in paragraphs 3.11(1)(a)
through (e) of Regulation 52-107 r ng Acceptable Accounting Principles and
Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, were used to prepare financial statements for
the business or related business’K rred to in subsections 8.3(2) and (4).

(14) Despite subsections nd (4), the significance of an acquisition of a business
or related businesses m calculated using unaudited financial statements of the
business or related butyp&Sses that comply with section 3.11 of Regulation 52-107
respecting Acceptam ccounting Principles and Auditing Standards if the financial

statements of t iness or related businesses for the most recently completed
financial year ot been audited.

(15) DegDig¥Subsections (2) and (4), the significance of an acquisition of a business

or relat sinesses may be calculated using the audited financial statements for the

fina ear immediately preceding the reporting issuer's most recently completed

find&gtial year if the reporting issuer has not been required to file, and has not filed,
ited financial statements for its most recently completed financial year.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 21; M.O. 2010-17, s. 14.
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8.4. Financial Statement Disclosure for Significant Acquisitions

(2) If a reporting issuer is required to file a business acquisition report under section
8.2, the business acquisition report must include the following for each business or
related businesses:

(@) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in ab@
and a statement of cash flows for the following periods:

0] if the business has completed one financial year, (]9

(A) the most recently completed financial )@énded on or
before the acquisition date; and 0

(B) the financial year immediately pre@iing the most recently
completed financial year, if any; or

(i) if the business has not complete@qe financial year, the financial
period commencing on the date of formation and g on a date not more than 45
days before the acquisition date;

‘\
(b) a statement of financial pos'(?ﬂrgs at the end of each of the periods
specified in paragraph (a); and

(© notes to the finanualg ents.

(2)  The most recently con@ﬂe
be audited.

(3) If a reporting |S§e IS requwed to include financial statements in a business

financial period referred to in subsection (1) must

acquisition report subsection (1), the business acquisition report must include

financial stateme@

@) ost recently completed interim period or other period that started the
day after te of the statement of financial position specified in paragraph (1)(b) and

ended, Q~
QO 0] in the case of an interim period, before the acquisition date; or

\E (i) in the case of a period other than an interim period, after the interim
period referred to in subparagraph (i) and on or before the acquisition date; and

(b) a comparable period in the preceding financial year of the business.
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(3.1) If a reporting issuer is required under subsection (3) to include an interim
financial report in a business acquisition report and the financial statements for the
business or related businesses acquired are prepared in accordance with Canadian
GAAP applicable to private enterprises, as permitted under Regulation 52-107
respecting  Acceptable  Accounting  Principles and  Auditing  Standards
(chapter V-1.1, r. 25), the interim financial report must include

(@) a balance sheet as at the end of the interim period and a balance sha\g?
at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any; (l/

(b) an income statement, a statement of retained earnings anq-ﬁa‘sh flow
statement, all for the year-to-date interim period, and comparative finapcjalwhformation
for the corresponding interim period in the immediately preceding fir& year, if any;

and 50

()  notes to the financial statements. O
(4) Despite subsection (3), the business acquisition\gport may include financial
statements for a period ending not more than oneAJdtim period before the period
referred to in subparagraph (3)(a)(i) if q/

(@) the business does not, or related'ﬁiﬁesses do not, constitute a material
departure from the business or operations Qﬁ eporting issuer immediately before the
acquisition; and

(b) (paragraph revoked).%&
(c) either Q&
0] the a%ion date is, and the reporting issuer files the business

acquisition report, withif\t€ following time after the business's or related businesses'
most recently comp interim period:

Q% ZA) 45 days, if the reporting issuer is not a venture issuer; or
(B) 60 days, if the reporting issuer is a venture issuer; or

QQ (i) the reporting issuer filed a document before the acquisition date
thaldnCluded financial statements for the business or related businesses that would
e been required if the document were a prospectus, and those financial statements
for a period ending not more than one interim period before the interim period
referred to in subparagraph (3)(a)(i).

(5) If a reporting issuer is required to include financial statements in a business

acquisition report under subsection (1) or (3), the business acquisition report must
include
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€) a pro forma statement of financial position of the reporting issuer,

(1) as at the date of the reporting issuer's most recent statement of
financial position filed, that gives effect, as if they had taken place as at the date of the
pro forma statement of financial position, to significant acquisitions that have been
completed, but are not reflected in the reporting issuer's most recent statement%
financial position for an annual or interim period; or Q\

(i) if the reporting issuer has not filed a statement of finangial p#Sition
for any annual or interim period, as at the date of the acquired business'q&? recent
statement of financial position, that gives effect, as if they had taken plage, adat the date
of the pro forma statement of financial position, to significant acq@\s that have

been completed; 0

(b) a pro forma income statement of the reporting, E3\ler that gives effect to
significant acquisitions completed since the beginning of the\ahcial year referred to in
clause (i)(A) or (ii))(A), as applicable, as if they had takenw{ace at the beginning of that
financial year, for each of the following financial perioc%

(i)  the reporting issuer's Q?/

(A)  most recently c@‘l'ged financial year for which it has filed
financial statements; and Q/

(B) interim or which it has filed an interim financial report
that started after the period in cl @ A) and ended immediately before the acquisition
date or, in the reporting issuer'é;sc etion, after the acquisition date; or

(i) if the@ting issuer has not filed a statement of comprehensive
income for any annua@n rim period, for the business's or related businesses'

most recently completed financial year that ended before the
acquisition dat

% (B) period for which financial statements are included in the
busine uisition report under paragraph (3)(a); and

C) pro forma earnings per share based on the pro forma financial statements
\%grred to in paragraph (b).

(6) Despite paragraph (5)(a) and clauses (5)(b)(i)(B) and (5)(b)(ii)(B), if the reporting
issuer relies on subsection (4), the business acquisition report may include
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(@) a pro forma statement of financial position as at the date of the statement
of financial position filed immediately before the reporting issuer's most recent
statement of financial position filed; and

(b) a pro forma income statement for the period ending not more than one
interim period before the interim period referred to in clause (5)(b)(i)(B) or (5)(b)(ii)(B),
as applicable.

(7 If a reporting issuer is required to include pro forma financial statemeg@w a
business acquisition report under subsection (5),
Q)\

(@) the reporting issuer must identify in the pro forma finapejal Vstatements
each significant acquisition, if the pro forma financial statements gj ect to more
than one significant acquisition; 50

(b) the reporting issuer must include in the pro forrj@ancial statements

0] adjustments attributable to each sigNficant acquisition for which
there are firm commitments and for which the complg\'nancial effects are objectively
determinable; q/

(i) adjustments to conform Onts for the business or related
businesses to the issuer's accounting policin d

(i)  a description of t @ﬁrlying assumptions on which the pro forma
financial statements are prepar oss-referenced to each related pro forma

adjustment; &

(c) if the financia Qr-end of the business differs from the reporting issuer's
year-end by more than %ﬁ/s, for the purpose of preparing the pro forma income
statement for the repor suer's most recently completed financial year, the reporting
issuer must constr@% income statement of the business for a period of 12
consecutive mon ding no more than 93 days before or after the reporting issuer's
year-end, by a@‘the results for a subsequent interim period to a completed financial
year of the iness and deducting the comparable interim results for the immediately
preceding&

@ if a constructed income statement is required under paragraph (c), the pro
for Inancial statements must disclose the period covered by the constructed income
ement on the face of the pro forma financial statements and must include a note
ting that the financial statements of the business used to prepare the pro forma
financial statements were prepared for the purpose of the pro forma financial
statements and do not conform with the financial statements for the business included
elsewhere in the business acquisition report;
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(e) if a reporting issuer is required to prepare a pro forma income statement
for an interim period required by paragraph (5)(b), and the pro forma income statement
for the most recently completed financial year includes results of the business which are
also included in the pro forma income statement for the interim period, the reporting
issuer must disclose in a note to the pro forma financial statements the revenue,
expenses and profit or loss from continuing operations included in each pro forma
income statement for the overlapping period; and %

() a constructed period referred to in paragraph (c) does not havcl/% be

audited. q .

financial
involves an

(8) If a reporting issuer is required under subsection (1) to ipclu
statements for more than one business because the significant acqy
acquisition of related businesses, the financial statements require I subsection (1)
must be presented separately for each business, except for the ods during which

the businesses have been under common control or man ggnt in which case the

reporting issuer may present the financial statements of th nesses on a combined
basis.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.4; M.O. 2006-04, s. 22; M.O. 20@8&, s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 15.

8.5. (Revoked). er“

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.5; M.O. 2006-04, s. 2

8.6. Exemption for Significan @lsmons Accounted for Using the Equity
Method

A reporting issuer is @pt from the requirements in section 8.4 if

(@ the acqui Is, or will be, of an equity investee,;

(b) the@ess acquisition report includes disclosure for the periods for
which financial ents are otherwise required under subsection 8.4(1) that

summarizes financial information of the equity investee, including
the ag d amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss; and

(i) describes the reporting issuer's proportionate interest in the equity
wgstee and any contingent issuance of securities by the equity investee that might
\s nificantly affect the reporting issuer's share of profit or loss;

(c) the financial information provided under paragraph (b) for the most
recently completed financial year
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0] has been derived from audited financial statements of the equity
investee; or

(i) has been audited; and
(d) the business acquisition report

0] identifies the financial statements referred to in subparagrap)&\f(?
from which the disclosure provided under paragraph (b) has been derived; or (l/

(i) discloses that the financial information provided und Pagraph
(b), if not derived from audited financial statements, has been audited;

(i)  discloses that the auditor expressed an un jed opinion with
respect to the financial statements referred to in subparagrap?b or the financial

information referred to in subparagraph (ii).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 24; M.O. 2010-1;,\%16.

8.7. (Revoked). (]9

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.7; M.O. 2006-04, s. 25. er“
8.8. Exemption for Significant Acqui% ns if Financial Year End Changed

If under section 8.4 a report] uer is required to provide financial statements
for a business acquired and the ss changed its financial year end during either of
the financial years required t Included, the reporting issuer may include financial

statements for the transitio in satisfaction of the financial statements for one of the
years, provided that the tr@e¥0on year is at least 9 months.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.@ 2006-04, s. 26.

8.9. Exempti from Comparatives if Financial Statements Not Previously

Prepared %

orting issuer is not required to provide comparative information for an
inte&' ncial report required under subsection 8.4(3) for a business acquired if

(@) to a reasonable person it is impracticable to present prior-period
\a ormation on a basis consistent with the most recently completed interim period of the
acquired business;

(b) the prior-period information that is available is presented; and
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(c) the notes to the interim financial report disclose the fact that the prior-
period information has not been prepared on a basis consistent with the most recent
interim financial information.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.9; M.O. 2006-04, s. 27; M.O. 2010-17, s. 17.

8.10. Acquisition of an Interest in an Oil and Gas Property '\Q.)
(1) Despite subsections 8.3(1), 8.3(2), 8.3(3) and 8.3(4), the asset (e& in
paragraphs 8.3(2)(a) and 8.3(4)(a) do not apply to an acquisition
A
(@) of a business that is an interest in an oil and gas prc@)/or related

businesses that are interests in oil and gas properties; and : é

(b)  thatis not of securities of another issuer, unless the @or transferred the
business referenced in paragraph (1)(a) to the other issuer a f@a other issuer

(1) was created for the sole purpose of faylitating the acquisition; and

(i) other than assets or operationsd’t%ing to the transferred business,

Q-
(A)  substantial asseQQrb

has no

(B) operating E .
(2) Despite subsections 8& ? 8.3(2), 8.3(3), 8.3(4), 8.3(8), 8.3(9), 8.3(10)
and 8.3(11.1), a reporting iss St substitute “operating income” for “specified profit
or loss” for the purposes of@yroﬁt or loss test in paragraphs 8.3(2)(c) and 8.3(4)(c) if
the acquisition is one des@ in subsection (1).

3) Exemption fr@'nancial Statement Disclosure - A reporting issuer is exempt
from the requirenQL n section 8.4 if

@) @e ignificant acquisition is an acquisition described in subsection (1);

(: che reporting issuer is unable to provide the financial statements in respect
of t ificant acquisition otherwise required under this Part because those financial
stad@gments do not exist or because the reporting issuer does not have access to those
@ncial statements;

(© the acquisition does not constitute a reverse takeover,

(d) (paragraph revoked);
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(e) in respect of the business or related businesses, for each of the financial
periods for which financial statements would, but for this section, be required under
section 8.4, the business acquisition report includes

0] an operating statement for the business or related businesses
prepared in accordance with subsection 3.11(5) of Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25); %

(i) a pro forma operating statement of the reporting issuer th %/es
effect to significant acquisitions completed since the beginning of the reportjng iuer’s

most recently completed financial year for which financial statements ar, Nired to
have been filed, as if they had taken place at the beginning of that fipgncwl year, for
each of the financial periods referred to in paragraph 8.4(5)(b); s%

(i)  a description of the property or properties an interest acquired

by the reporting issuer; and

(iv)  disclosure of the annual oil and gasw;o%uction volumes from the
business or related businesses; Q

() the operating statement for the m t‘;lﬁently completed financial period
referred to in subsection 8.4(1) is audited; andrb K

(g) the business acquisition re%%iscloses

(1) the estimated es and related future net revenue attributable
to the business or related busir}gt . the material assumptions used in preparing the

estimates and the identity an ionship to the reporting issuer or to the vendor of the
person who prepared the e tes; and

related businesses e first year reflected in the estimates disclosed under

subparagraph (i).Q~

(i) thegs%lated oil and gas production volumes from the business or
t

(4) A repghsing issuer is exempt from the requirements of subparagraphs (3)(e)(i), (i)

and (v), ifC)

production, gross sales, royalties, production costs and operating income
Wein for the business or related businesses for each financial period; and

\ (b)  the business acquisition report discloses this fact.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.10; M.O. 2006-04, s. 28; M.O. 2008-06, s. 3; M.O. 2010-17, s. 18;
M.O. 2013-04, s. 2.
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8.11. Exemption for Multiple Investments in the Same Business

Despite section 8.4, a reporting issuer is exempt from the requirements to file
financial statements for an acquired business, other than the pro forma financial
statements required by subsection 8.4(5), in a business acquisition report if the
reporting issuer has made multiple investments in the same business and the acquirﬁ
business has been consolidated in the reporting issuer's most recent annual fi '
statements that have been filed. (l/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.11; M.O. 2006-04, s. 29; M.O. 2010-17, s. 19. (]9
PART 9 PROXY SOLICITATION AND INFORMATION CIRCUL@
9.1. Sending of Proxies and Information Circulars 50

(1) If management of a reporting issuer gives notice oﬁ@eeting to its registered
holders of voting securities, management must, at the_styne time as or before giving
that notice, send to each registered holder of voting @uities who is entitled to notice

of the meeting a form of proxy for use at the meetind-

(2) A person that solicits proxies from reg@e"d holders of voting securities of a
reporting issuer must, Q‘

'@or on behalf of management of a reporting
the notice of meeting to each registered

, Or

(@) in the case of a solicitat
issuer, send an information circu
securityholder whose proxy is sol

(b) in the case %y other solicitation, concurrently with or before the
solicitation, send an infor circular to each registered securityholder whose proxy

is solicited. @
(3) (paragrap@ed).
<

M.O. 2005-(@.\9.1; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 3.

9.1.1. ng&-and-Access

(1)Q person soliciting proxies may use notice-and-access to send proxy-related
erials to a registered holder of voting securities of a reporting issuer if all of the
\0 lowing apply:

(@) the registered holder of voting securities is sent a notice that contains the
following information and no other information:
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0] the date, time and location of the reporting issuer's meeting for
which the proxy-related materials are being sent;

(i) a description of each matter or group of related matters identified in
the form of proxy to be voted on, unless that information is already included in a form of
proxy that is being sent to the registered holder of voting securities under paragraph (b);

(i)  the website addresses for SEDAR and the non-SEDAR w&{
where the proxy-related materials are posted; (l/

(iv)  areminder to review the information circular before vo@@ S

(v) an explanation of how to obtain a paper copyig\f\e%é information

circular and, if applicable, the documents in paragraph (2)(b) from rson;

(vi)  a plain-language explanation of notice-an@;oess that includes the
following information:

(A) if the person is using st ation, a list of the types of
registered holders or beneficial owners who will rec aper copies of the information

circular and, if applicable, the documents in paraﬁg‘ (2)(b);

(B) the estimated d ‘;?d time by which a request for a paper
copy of the information circular and, if apgiCeble, the documents in paragraph (2)(b), is
to be received in order for the reque receive the paper copy in advance of any
deadline for the submission of the% nd the date of the meeting;

(C) an hation of how the registered holder is to return the
proxy, including any deadli@retum of the proxy;

(D Oth)e sections of the information circular where disclosure

regarding each mat roup of related matters identified in the notice can be found,;
% E) a toll-free telephone number the registered holder can call to
get informatQ/a out notice-and-access;

(: che registered holder of voting securities is sent, by prepaid mail, courier
or the( eYdivalent, the notice required by paragraph (a) and a form of proxy for use at the
meS¢ng and, in the case of a solicitation by or on behalf of management of the reporting
syer, the notice and form of proxy are sent at least 30 days before the date of the

eting;

(c) in the case of a solicitation by or on behalf of management of the reporting

issuer, the reporting issuer files on SEDAR the notification of meeting and record dates
in the manner and within the time specified by Regulation 54-101 respecting
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Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(chapter V-1.1, r. 29);

(d) public electronic access to the information circular, form of proxy and the
notice in paragraph (a) is provided on or before the date that the person soliciting
proxies sends the notice in paragraph (a) to registered holders in the following manner:

(1) the documents are filed on SEDAR as required by section 9.36\%

(i) the documents are posted until the date that is one yegy frofm the
date that the documents are posted, on a website other than the website fm(\%)AR;

(e) atoll-free telephone number is provided for use by the r, %red holder of
voting securities to request a paper copy of the information circu d, if applicable,
the documents in paragraph (2)(b), at any time from the date tha person soliciting
proxies sends the notice in paragraph (a) to the registered k@er up to and including
the date of the meeting, including any adjournment;

() if a request for a paper copy of the info@«on circular and, if applicable,
the documents in paragraph (2)(b), is received e toll-free telephone number
provided under paragraph (e) or by any othgameans, a paper copy of any such
document requested is sent free of charge (@ﬁ‘e person soliciting proxies to the
requester at the address specified in the regagstin the following manner:

0] in the case of a r%ﬁ received prior to the date of the meeting,
within 3 business days after recei\@\ e request, by first class mail, courier or the

equivalent; &

(i) in the of a request received on or after the date of the
meeting, and within one f the information circular being filed, within 10 calendar
days after receiving the est, by prepaid mail, courier or the equivalent.

(2) Unless ar@naﬂon circular is included with the proxy-related materials, a
reporting issue% t sends proxy-related materials to a registered holder of voting

securities ug tice-and-access must not include with the proxy-related materials any
informatio ocument that relates to the particulars of any matter to be submitted to
the me ~except for the following:

a) the information required to be included in the notice under

\ségraph (1)(@);

(b) financial statements of the reporting issuer to be approved at the meeting
and MD&A related to those financial statements, which may be part of an annual report.
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(3) A notice under paragraph (1)(a) and the form of proxy may be combined in a
single document.

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5.

9.1.2. Posting materials on non-SEDAR website

(1) A person that posts proxy-related materials in the manner referred 6{9
subparagraph 9.1.1(1)(d)(ii) must also post on the website the following documez@

(@ any disclosure material regarding the meeting that the persoptﬁs“sent to
registered holders or beneficial owners of voting securities; %

(b) any written communications the person solicitin xies has made
available to the public regarding each matter or group of matters to\N>¥ voted upon at the
meeting, whether or not they were sent to registered holder@r eneficial owners of
voting securities.

(2) Proxy-related materials that are posted under&paragraph 9.1.2(1)(d)(ii) must
be posted in a manner and be in a format that pe n individual with a reasonable
level of computer skill and knowledge to do all of&e\f lowing easily:

(@) access, read and search the @ents on the website;
(b)  download and print the nts.

M.O. 2013-0L, s. 5. /&

9.1.3. Consent to other de@y methods

For greater cer'@%ection 9.1.1 does not

@) pre registered holder of voting securities from consenting to a
person’s use otQ r delivery methods to send proxy-related materials;

previou ve to a person regarding the use of other delivery methods to send proxy-

rela&@'u terials: or

ﬁ (c) prevent a person from sending proxy-related materials using a delivery
thod to which a registered holder has consented prior to February 11, 2013.

(b) § ? minate or modify a consent that a registered holder of voting securities

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5.
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9.1.4. Instructions to receive paper copies

(2) Despite section 9.1.1, a reporting issuer may obtain standing instructions from a
registered holder of voting securities that a paper copy of the information circular and, if
applicable, the documents in paragraph 9.1.1(2)(b), be sent to the registered holder in
all cases when the reporting issuer uses notice-and-access. '\Q.)

(2) If a reporting issuer has obtained standing instructions from a registereqb@der
under subsection (1), the reporting issuer must do both of the following:
A
€) include with the notice required by paragraph 9.1.1(1)(a) %‘a{per copies
of information circulars and, if applicable, the documents in par 9.1.1(2)(b),
required to comply with standing instructions obtained under subse@

(b) include with the notice under paragraph (a) a@cription, or otherwise
inform the registered holder of, the means by which the r red holder may revoke
the registered holder’s standing instructions. '\b‘

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5. (]9

9.1.5. Compliance with SEC Notice-and Ac@ﬁules

A reporting issuer that is an SE uer can send proxy-related materials to
registered holders under section 9. a delivery method permitted under U.S.
federal securities law, if both of the ng apply:

(@) the SEC issuer ’gu ject to, and complies with Rule 14a-16 under the

1934 Act; Q/

(b) residents nada do not own, directly or indirectly, outstanding voting
securities carrying han 50% of the votes for the election of directors, and none of
the following app

residents

& the majority of the executive officers or directors of the issuer are
ada

Oa (i) more than 50% of the consolidated assets of the issuer are located
in Qnada;

\ (i) the business of the issuer is administered principally in Canada.

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5.
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9.2. Exemptions from Sending Information Circular

(1)  Subsection 9.1(2) does not apply to a solicitation by a person in respect of
securities of which the person is the beneficial owner.

(2) Paragraph 9.1(2)(b) does not apply to a solicitation if the total number%
securityholders whose proxies are solicited is not more than 15. Q’\
(3) For the purposes of subsection (2), 2 or more persons who are join%eglfered
owners of one or more securities are considered to be one securityholder. q/ S

(4) Despite paragraph 9.1(2)(b), a person, other than management o %porting issuer
or a person acting on behalf of management, may solicit progi rom registered
securityholders of a reporting issuer without sending an informatiorNeYfcular, if

(@) the solicitation is made to the public by broadoégt,Qpeech or publication;

(b)  soliciting proxies by broadcast, speech blication is permitted by the
laws under which the reporting issuer is incorporatéyNdrganized or continued and the
person making the solicitation complies with thg refuirements, if any, of those laws
relating to the broadcast, speech or publicatiorcb K

(© the person has filed the foll %information:

(1) the name an ress of the reporting issuer to which the
solicitation relates, &

(i) the infq, jon required under item 2, sections 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4 and
paragraphs (b) and (d) of { of Form 51-102F5,

(i) @nformation required to be disclosed in respect of the
broadcast, spee publication by the laws under which the reporting issuer is

incorporated, OQ’al ized or continued, and
Q ' a copy of any communication intended to be published; and

; the broadcast, speech or publication contains the information referred to in

pagranhs (©)() to (i).

Subsection (4) does not apply to a person that is proposing, at the time of the
solicitation, a significant acquisition or restructuring transaction involving the reporting
issuer and the person, under which securities of the person, or securities of an affiliate
of the person, are to be changed, exchanged, issued or distributed, unless
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(@) the person has filed an information circular or other document containing
the information required by section 14.4 of Form 51-102F5; and

(b) the solicitation refers to that information circular or other document and
discloses that the circular or other document is on SEDAR.

(6)  Subsection (4) does not apply to a person that is nominating or proposin
nominate, at the time of the solicitation, an individual, including himself or hers%
election as a director of the reporting issuer, unless (l/

(@) the person has filed an information circular or other docum Mtaining
the information required by Form 51-102F5 in respect of the proposed n@i e; and

(b) the solicitation refers to that information circular or@gr document and
discloses that the circular or other document is on SEDAR. 5

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s.’ﬁ\o
9.3. Filing of Information Circulars and Proxy-R@d Material

A person that is required under this Reg tigll/to send an information circular or
form of proxy to registered securityholders o borting issuer must promptly file a
copy of the information circular, form of pr ard all other material required to be sent
by the person in connection with the me@ﬁ) which the information circular or form of
proxy relates.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.3; M.O. 2008/&&§. 11.
9.3.1. Content of Informa@ircular

(1)  Subject to Item &o™orm 51-102F5, if a reporting issuer sends an information
circular to a security, r under paragraph 9.1(2)(a), the issuer must,

€) dig&e all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or
idad

otherwise p , directly or indirectly, by the issuer, or a subsidiary of the issuer, to
each NE director, in any capacity, including, for greater certainty, all plan and
non-pl pensation, direct or indirect pay, remuneration, economic or financial

ard, benefit, gift or perquisite paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or
ot iIse provided to the NEO or director for services provided, directly or indirectly, to
issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer, and

(b) include detail and discussion of the compensation, and the decision-
making process relating to compensation, presented in such a way that it provides a
reasonable person, applying reasonable effort, an understanding of

(1) how decisions about NEO and director compensation are made,

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 63



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

(i) the compensation paid, made payable, awarded, granted, given or
otherwise provided to each NEO and director, and

(i)  how specific NEO and director compensation relates to the overall
stewardship and governance of the reporting issuer.

set out in, in accordance with, and subject to any exemptions set out in, F 1-

(2)  The disclosure required under subsection (1) must be provided for the pgfb@
102F6, which came into force on December 31, 2008.

Oy«
3) For the purposes of this section, “NEO” and “plan” have the meapi (g‘;léscribed to
those terms in Form 51-102F6, which came into force on December 3@’08.

(4)  This section does not apply to an issuer in respect of a@ncial year ending
before December 31, 2008. @

M.O. 2008-18, s. 2; M.O. 2011-05, s. 1. '\b‘

9.4. Content of Form of Proxy (]9

(1) A form of proxy sent to securityholders éborting issuer by a person soliciting
proxies must indicate in bold-face type wheyheY or not the proxy is solicited by or on
behalf of the management of the repo Issuer, provide a specifically designated
blank space for dating the form of pro specify the meeting in respect of which the

proxy is solicited.

(2)  An information circular ’ngs%/securityholders of a reporting issuer or the form of
proxy to which the informati% cular relates must

@) indicate iM\Qoftd-face type that the securityholder has the right to appoint a
person to represen securityholder at the meeting other than the person if any,
designated in the, f proxy; and

(b) %ain instructions as to the manner in which the securityholder may
exercise t t referred to in paragraph (a).

3) %form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer contains a

de&gnation of a named person as nominee, it must provide an option for the

rityholder to designate in the form of proxy some other person as the
curityholder's nominee.

(4) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer must provide an

option for the securityholder to specify that the securities registered in the
securityholder's name will be voted for or against each matter or group of related
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matters identified in the form of proxy, in the notice of meeting or in an information
circular, other than the appointment of an auditor and the election of directors.

(5) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer may confer
discretionary authority with respect to each matter referred to in subsection (4) as to
which a choice is not specified if the form of proxy or the information circular states in
bold-face type how the securities represented by the proxy will be voted in respec%
each matter or group of related matters. Q

option for the securityholder to specify that the securities registered in th 2 of the
securityholder must be voted or withheld from voting in respect of the apppir#nent of an
auditor or the election of directors. : é@

(6) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer must Erov e an
(7)  An information circular sent to securityholders of a reportin uer or the form of
proxy to which the information circular relates must state that O

(@) the securities represented by the proxy be voted or withheld from
voting in accordance with the instructions of the securj der on any ballot that may be

called for; and q/

(b) if the securityholder specifies a "> under subsection (4) or (6) with
respect to any matter to be acted upon, the ties will be voted accordingly.
(8) A form of proxy sent to se olders of a reporting issuer may confer

discretionary authority with respe

(@) amendments oréx%etons to matters identified in the notice of meeting;

and

(b)  other mat@& hICh may properly come before the meeting,

if, Q‘

(c) Qperson by whom or on whose behalf the solicitation is made is not
aware wit easonable time before the time the solicitation is made that any of those
amend , variations or other matters are to be presented for action at the meeting;
and

S

(d) a specific statement is made in the information circular or in the form of
Xy that the proxy is conferring such discretionary authority.

(9) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer must not confer
authority to vote
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(@) for the election of any person as a director of a reporting issuer unless a
bona fide proposed nominee for that election is named in the information circular or, in
the case of a solicitation under subsection 9.2(4), the document required under
paragraph 9.2(6)(a); or

(b) at any meeting other than the meeting specified in the notice of meeting or
any adjournment of that meeting. '\Q.)

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.4; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 20. (19
9.5. Exemption

Sections 9.1 to 9.4 do not apply to a reporting issuer, or a @ﬁ that solicits
proxies from registered holders of voting securities of a reporting |s

(@) the reporting issuer or other person complies wi@e requirements of the
laws relating to the solicitation of proxies under whi e reporting issuer is
incorporated, organized or continued; \b‘

(b)  the requirements referred to in subsec@ (a) are substantially similar to
the requirements of this Part; and

(c) the reporting issuer or other [?s~ flles a copy of any information circular
and form of proxy, or other document contain substantially similar information,
promptly after the reporting issuer o r person sends the circular, form or other
document in connection with the m

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.5; M.O. 206—%4, s. 30; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 5.

PART 10 RESTRICT&CURITY DISCLOSURE

10.1. Restricted S@y Disclosure

(2) If a repc@‘ssuer has outstanding restricted securities, or securities that are
directly or tly convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for restricted
securities curities that will, when issued, result in an existing class of outstanding
securiti ing considered restricted securities, each document referred to in
sub (2) must

& (@) refer to restricted securities using a term that includes the appropriate
tricted security term;

(b) not refer to securities by a term that includes “common”, or “preference” or

“preferred”, unless the securities are common shares or preference shares,
respectively;
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(c) describe any restrictions on the voting rights of restricted securities;

(d)  describe the rights to participate, if any, of holders of restricted securities if
a takeover bid is made for securities of the reporting issuer with voting rights superior to
those attached to the restricted securities;

reporting issuer's securities that are represented by the class of restricted secm@g

and (l/

() if holders of restricted securities have no right to participate¢ akeover
bid is made for securities of the reporting issuer with voting rights&ir r to those

(e) state the percentage of the aggregate voting rights attached to %

attached to the restricted securities, contain a statement to that effectyg d-face type.
(2)  Subsection (1) applies to the following documents: 50
(@  aninformation circular; '@

(b)  a document required by this Regulation Q%e delivered upon request by a
reporting issuer to any of its securityholders; and q/

(c) an AIF prepared by a reporting ise@ K

3) Despite subsection (2), annual fi jal statements, an interim financial report
and MD&A or other accompanying ssion by management of those financial
statements are not required to in@l e details referred to in paragraphs (1)(c), (d),

(e) and (f). &
4) Each reference to %cted securities in any document not referred to in
subsection (2) that a re 0 issuer sends to its securityholders must include the

appropriate restricted s&guffty term.

(5) A reporti Quer must not refer, in any of the documents described in
subsection (4)@ecurities by a term that includes “common” or “preference” or

“preferred”, I®ss the securities are common shares or preference shares,
respectivefy.
(6) pite paragraph (1)(b) and subsection (5), a reporting issuer may, in one place

on a document referred to in subsection (2) or (4), describe the restricted securities

he term used in the constating documents of the reporting issuer, to the extent that

\e m differs from the appropriate restricted security term, if the description is not on the

front page of the document and is in the same type face and type size as that used
generally in the document.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.1; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.O. 2008-06, s. 4; M.O. 2010-17,
s. 21.
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10.2. Dissemination of Disclosure Documents to Holder of Restricted Securities

Q) If a reporting issuer sends a document to all holders of any class of its equity
securities the document must also be sent by the reporting issuer at the same time to
the holders of its restricted securities.

(2) A reporting issuer that is required by this Regulation to arrange for, or volu &fi@
makes arrangements for, delivery of the documents referred to in subsection ( the
beneficial owners of any securities of a class of equity securities registered in theMhame
of a registrant, must make similar arrangements for delivery of the docmﬁ@ to the
beneficial owners of securities of a class of restricted securities registeyed ™ the name
of the registrant. Q

M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.2. 50

10.3. Exemptions for Certain Reporting Issuers '@

The provisions of sections 10.1 and 10.2 do no@p?;to

percentage of securities that may be voted or a by persons that are not citizens or
residents of Canada or that are otherwise stdered as a result of any law applicable
to the reporting issuer to be non-CanadiaQ,/ ut only to the extent of the restriction; and

(@)  securities that carry a right to vote gbj“e]ﬁ to a restriction on the number or

(b)  securities that are sujp 0 a restriction, imposed by any law governing
the reporting issuer, on the le ownership of the securities by any person or
combination of persons, but o% e extent of the restriction.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.3; M.%S-OG, s. 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 3.

PART 11 ADDI@ FILING REQUIREMENTS

11.1. Additior@ isclosure Requirements

@ A r@fﬁg issuer must file a copy of any disclosure material

Q@; that it sends to its securityholders;

§ (b) in the case of an SEC issuer, that it files with or furnishes to the SEC

der the 1934 Act, including material filed as exhibits to other documents, if the
material contains information that has not been included in disclosure already filed in a
jurisdiction by the SEC issuer; or

(c) that it files with another provincial or territorial securities regulatory
authority other than in connection with a distribution.

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 68



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

(2) A reporting issuer must file the material on the same date as, or as soon as
practicable after, the earlier of

(@) the date on which the reporting issuer sends the material to its
securityholders;

(b) the date on which the reporting issuer files or furnishes the materlalgtg?
SEC; and

(c) the date on which the reporting issuer files that material \m@h‘e other
provincial or territorial securities regulatory authority.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 31. Qs
11.2. Change of Status Report O

A reporting issuer must file a notice promptly after wg occurrence of either of the

following: Q

(@) the reporting issuer becomes a vergggsuer; or

(b)  the reporting issuer ceases to@enture issuer.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.2

ST &‘0
11.3. Voting Results &%

A reporting issuer thénot a venture issuer must, promptly following a meeting
of securityholders at WhIC% atter was submitted to a vote, file a report that discloses,
for each matter voted u

@) @scrlptlon of the matter voted upon and the outcome of the vote;

and

(b) he vote was conducted by ballot, including a vote on a matter in which
votes a t both in person and by proxy, the number or percentage of votes cast for,
agai withheld from the vote.

.2005-03, s. 11.3.
X i
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11.4. Financial Information

A reporting issuer must file a copy of any news release issued by it that discloses
information regarding its historical or prospective financial performance or financial
condition for a financial year or interim period.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 23. '\Q*)
11.5. Re-filing Documents q
“

If a reporting issuer decides it will %q/

(@) re-file a document filed under this Regulation, or s

(b) re-state financial information for comparati periods in financial
statements for reasons other than retrospective applieé({ of a change in an
accounting standard or policy or a new accounting stan(ia\&

and the information in the re-filed document'a%re -stated financial information,
will differ materially from the information origi ed, the issuer must immediately
issue and file a news release authorized by écutlve officer disclosing the nature
and substance of the change or proposed 333

M.O. 2006-04, s. 32; M.O. 2010-17, s

11.6. Executive Compensaﬂo@)sure for Certain Reporting Issuers

(1)  Areporting issuer th s not send to its securityholders an information circular
that includes the disclosu uired by Item 8 of Form 51-102F5 and that does not file
an AIF that includes t ecutive compensation disclosure required by Item 18 of

Form 51-102F2 mu

€) dﬁ&a all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or
id&d, directly or indirectly, by the issuer, or a subsidiary of the issuer, to
director, in any capacity, including, for greater certainty, all plan and
pensation, direct or indirect pay, remuneration, economic or financial
ard, benefit, gift or perquisite paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or
ot iIse provided to the NEO or director for services provided, directly or indirectly, to
issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer, and

(b) include detail and discussion of the compensation, and the decision-
making process relating to compensation, presented in such a way that it provides a
reasonable person, applying reasonable effort, an understanding of

0] how decisions about NEO and director compensation are made,
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(i) the compensation paid, made payable, awarded, granted, given or
otherwise provided to each NEO and director, and

(i)  how specific NEO and director compensation relates to the overall
stewardship and governance of the reporting issuer.

set out in, and in accordance with Form 51-102F6, which came into f on

(2)  The disclosure required under subsection (1) must be provided for the pgfb@
December 31, 2008.

than 140 days after the end of the reporting issuer’'s most recently ted financial

year. 0

(4) For the purposes of this section, “NEO” and “plan” h e meaning ascribed to
those terms in Form 51-102F6, which came into force on D er 31, 2008.

3) The disclosure required under subsection (1) must be gi not later

(5)  This section does not apply to an issuer tI@Natlsfles securities legislation
requirements relating to information circulars, pr% and proxy solicitation under
section 4.6 or 5.7 of Regulation 71-102 respew ontinuous Disclosure and Other
Exemptions Relating to Foreign Issuers (chapt 1,r.37).

(6) This section does not apply to a g er in respect of a financial year ending
before December 31, 2008.

M.O. 2008-18, s. 4; M.O. 20119@

PART 12 FILING OF C IN DOCUMENTS

12.1. Filing of Docu@ Affectlng the Rights of Securityholders
@ A reportln@er must file copies of the following documents, and any material
f

amendments t ollowing documents, unless previously filed:

constati establishing documents of the issuer, unless the constating or establishing
doc<|®1 is a statutory or regulatory instrument;

(@) S%,icles of Incorporation, amalgamation, continuation or any other
[
\é (b) by-laws or other corresponding instruments currently in effect;
(c) any securityholder or voting trust agreement that the reporting issuer has
access to and that can reasonably be regarded as material to an investor in securities of
the reporting issuer;

(d) any securityholders' rights plans or other similar plans; and

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 71



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

(e) any other contract of the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer that creates or
can reasonably be regarded as materially affecting the rights or obligations of its
securityholders generally.

(2) A document required to be filed under subsection (1) may be filed in paper format
if

o

@) it is dated before June 1, 2005; and (19
(b) it does not exist in an acceptable electronic format. (]9 S
M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 33. %

12.2. Filing of Material Contracts 50

(2) Unless previously filed, a reporting issuer must fiIe&Qterial contract entered
into '\b‘
(@)  within the last financial year; or (]9

(b) before the last financial year if th f&rial contract is still in effect.

(2) Despite subsection (1), a reporg %’ssuer iIs not required to file a material
contract entered into in the ordinary ¢ f business unless the material contract is

(@) a contract to which,&gttors, officers, or promoters are parties other than
a contract of employment; Q

(b) a continuingé«fact to sell the majority of the reporting issuer’s products
or services or to pu@g e majority of the reporting issuer’s requirements of goods,

services, or raw ma:

(© ise or licence or other agreement to use a patent, formula, trade

adl,
secret, proc@% trade name;

(: a financing or credit agreement with terms that have a direct correlation
WithQ ated cash distributions;
\é (e) an external management or external administration agreement; or

) a contract on which the reporting issuer's business is substantially
dependent.

(3) A provision in a material contract filed pursuant to subsections (1) or (2) may be
omitted or marked to be unreadable if an executive officer of the reporting issuer
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reasonably believes that disclosure of that provision would be seriously prejudicial to the
interests of the reporting issuer or would violate confidentiality provisions.

(4) Subsection (3) does not apply if the provision relates to:
(@) debt covenants and ratios in financing or credit agreements;

(b)  events of default or other terms relating to the termination of the m@&?
contract; or

(c) other terms necessary for understanding the impact ofd@matenal
contract on the business of the reporting issuer.

(5) If a provision is omitted or marked to be unreadable und sectlon (3), the
reporting issuer must include a description of the type of inforrfon that has been
omitted or marked to be unreadable immediately after the pr@ion in the copy of the
material contract filed by the reporting issuer.

(6) Despite subsections (1) and (2), a reportlngQgﬁuer is not required to file a
material contract entered into before January 1, 2002]/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 5. er“
12.3. Time for Filing of Documents Qg

The documents required to under sections 12.1 and 12.2 must be filed no
later than the time the reporting | files a material change report in Form 51-102F3,
if the making of the documentQ Itutes a material change for the issuer, and

(@) no later tharéﬁme the reporting issuer's AlF is filed under section 6.1, if
the document was ma@ dopted before the date of the issuer's AlF; or

(b) if th rting issuer is not required to file an AIF under section 6.1, within
120 days after. end of the issuer's most recently completed financial year, if the
document de or adopted before the end of the issuer's most recently completed

financial y€ag
&
-03, s. 12.3; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727.

eﬂg‘ 13 EXEMPTIONS

13.1. Exemptions from this Regulation

(2) The securities regulatory authority may grant an exemption from this Regulation,
in whole or in part, subject to such conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the
exemption.
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(2) Despite subsection (1), in Ontario only the regulator may grant such an
exemption.

3) Except in Ontario, an exemption referred to in subsection (1) is granted under the
statute referred to in Appendix B of Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions

(chapter V-1.1, r. 3), opposite the name of the local jurisdiction. '\Q.)
M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 34; M.O. 2008-18, s. 6 and 13. (19
13.2. Existing Exemptions (]9“

(1) A reporting issuer that was entitled to rely on an exemption, or approval
granted to it by a securities regulatory authority relating to cQ™suous disclosure
requirements of securities legislation or securities directions existingMnmediately before
this Regulation came into force is exempt from any substanti imilar provision of this
Regulation to the same extent and on the same condition#N\{ &hy, as contained in the

exemption, waiver or approval.

(2) A reporting issuer must, at the time that it fira‘l&nds to rely on subsection (1) in
connection with a filing requirement under @ egulation, inform the securities
regulatory authority in writing of rb K

(@) the general nature of the pr'Q/g;emption, waiver or approval and the date
on which it was granted; and %

(b) the requirement undepSNgfigr securities legislation or securities directions in
respect of which the prior ex ’sﬁon, waiver or approval applied and the substantially
similar provision of this Reg@ n.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.2, %
13.3. ExemptioQ@ertain Exchangeable Security Issuers

(1) In thi@gion:
K nated Canadian jurisdiction” means Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba,
Ne wick, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Québec, or Saskatchewan;

“designated exchangeable security” means an exchangeable security which
vides the holder of the security with economic and voting rights which are, as nearly
as possible except for tax implications, equivalent to the underlying securities;

“exchangeable security” means a security of an issuer that is exchangeable for,

or carries the right of the holder to purchase, or of the parent issuer to cause the
purchase of, an underlying security;
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“exchangeable security issuer’” means a person that has issued an exchangeable
security;

“parent issuer”, when used in relation to an exchangeable security issuer, means
the person that issues the underlying security; and

“underlying security” means a security of a parent issuer issued or transfer%!\?rp
to be issued or transferred, on the exchange of an exchangeable security.

(2)  An exchangeable security issuer satisfies the requirements in this R tion if

(@) the parent issuer is the beneficial owner of all the issu@d outstanding

voting securities of the exchangeable security issuer; 50
(b)  the parent issuer is either O
0] an SEC issuer with a class of securi listed or quoted on a U.S.

marketplace that has filed all documents it is required @He with the SEC; or

(i) a reporting issuer in a desjgnatéd Canadian jurisdiction that has
filed all documents it is required to file under th¢ Qulatlon

(© the exchangeable security %g? does not issue any securities, and does
not have any securities outstanding, o I@ an

0] designated 5\& geable securities;

(i) secuntl% sued to and held by the parent issuer or an affiliate of
the parent issuer; %

(iii)
and investment ¢,
savings or cre

financial instgyti
¥

% (iv)  securities issued under exemptions from the prospectus
re% nt in section 2.35 of Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus Exemptions

ecurities issued to and held by banks, loan corporations, loan
tions, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury branches,
ions, financial services cooperatives, insurance companies or other
S; or

(chsgter V-1.1, r. 21);
\ (d) the exchangeable security issuer files in electronic format,
0] if the parent issuer is not a reporting issuer in a designated

Canadian jurisdiction, copies of all documents the parent issuer is required to file with
the SEC under the 1934 Act, at the same time as, or as soon as practicable after, the
filing by the parent issuer of those documents with the SEC; or
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(i) if the parent issuer is a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian
jurisdiction,

(A) a notice indicating that the exchangeable security issuer is
relying on the continuous disclosure documents filed by its parent issuer and setting out
where those documents can be found in electronic format, if the parent issuer iegs
reporting issuer in the local jurisdiction; or Q\

under securities legislation, other than in connection with a distribution, at t Me time

as the filing by the parent issuer of those documents with a sec% regulatory

authority; : é

(e) the exchangeable security issuer concurrently se to all holders of
designated exchangeable securities all disclosure materials t are sent to holders of
the underlying securities in the manner and at the time requ#fsgy

0] U.S. laws and any U.S. marke on which securities of the
parent issuer are listed or quoted, if the parent i IS not a reporting issuer in a

designated Canadian jurisdiction; or

(B) copies of all documents the parent issuer is rqu';refjlfo file

b
(i) securities legislation, iQ‘é“Barent issuer is a reporting issuer in a
designated Canadian jurisdiction;

() the parent issuer &

0] complies iR "U.S. laws and the requirements of any U.S.
marketplace on which the% rities of the parent issuer are listed or quoted if the
parent issuer is not a % ing issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction, or
securities legislation if rent issuer is a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian
jurisdiction, in resp making public disclosure of material information on a timely

basis; and Q‘

ji) immediately issues in Canada and files any news release that
discloses @ferial change in its affairs;
?‘ the exchangeable security issuer issues in Canada a news release and
fileS¢ Material change report in accordance with Part 7 of this Regulation for all material
ges in respect of the affairs of the exchangeable security issuer that are not also
terial changes in the affairs of its parent issuer; and

(h)  the parent issuer includes in all mailings of proxy solicitation materials to
holders of designated exchangeable securities a clear and concise statement that
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0] explains the reason the mailed material relates solely to the parent
issuer;

(i) indicates that the designated exchangeable securities are the
economic equivalent to the underlying securities; and

(i)  describes the voting rights associated with the designaﬁ@S
exchangeable securities.

under National Instrument 55-102 System for Electronic Disclosure Msiders
(chapter V-1.1, r. 30) does not apply to any insider of an exchangeable @J Ay issuer in
respect of securities of the exchangeable security issuer so long as, | é

3) The insider reporting requirement and the requirement to file an i@eﬁ}rofile

@) if the insider is not the parent issuer,

0] the insider does not receive, in the ord’fﬂq@course information as
to material facts or material changes concerning the par®gt issuer before the material
facts or material changes are generally disclosed, andQ

(i) the insider is not an insidexof the parent issuer in any capacity
other than by virtue of being an insider of the e@ngeable security issuer;

(b) the parent issuer is the ngicial owner of all of the issued and
outstanding voting securities of the ex eable security issuer;

(c) if the insider is the‘gss issuer, the insider does not beneficially own any
designated exchangeable secyNts other than securities acquired through the exercise
of the exchange right and nébsequently traded by the insider;

(d)  the paren '%er is an SEC issuer or a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdictio

(e) tr‘%g?hangeable security issuer has not issued any securities and does
not have an )@ rities outstanding, other than

QS) designated exchangeable securities;

(i) securities issued to and held by the parent issuer or an affiliate of

%parent issuer;

(i)  debt securities issued to and held by banks, loan corporations, loan
and investment corporations, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury branches,
savings or credit unions, financial services cooperatives, insurance companies or other
financial institutions; and
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(iv)  securities issued under exemptions from the prospectus
requirement in section 2.35 of Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus Exemptions.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 35; M.O. 2008-06, s. 6 and 11; M.O. 2009-05,
s. 1; I.N. 2015-06-01.

13.4. Exemption for Certain Credit Support Issuers '\Q.)
(1) In this section: (19

“alternative credit support” means support, other than a guara Sor the
payments to be made by the issuer, as stipulated in the terms of the SQS ¥&s or in an
agreement governing rights of, or granting rights to, holders of the seg that

(@) obliges the person providing the support to provide issuer with funds
sufficient to enable the issuer to make the stipulated paymen s@

(b)  entitles the holder of the securities to receifg, from the person providing
the support, payment if the issuer fails to make a stip payment;

“credit support issuer’” means an issuer g e‘;]frities for which a credit supporter
has provided a guarantee or alternative credit M

“credit supporter” means a person@g‘provides a guarantee or alternative credit
support for any of the payments to b e by an issuer of securities as stipulated in
the terms of the securities or in an ment governing rights of, or granting rights to,
holders of the securities; &%

“designated Canadia% isdiction” means Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba,
New Brunswick, Nova S /' Ontario, Québec or Saskatchewan; “designated credit

support securities” me@

@) no rtible debt securities or convertible debt securities that are
convertible int -convertible securities of the credit supporter; or

(b) C%n-convertible preferred shares or convertible preferred shares that are
convertd Mto securities of the credit supporter, in respect of which a parent credit

sup @ has provided

\é (c) alternative credit support that
0] entitles the holder of the securities to receive payment from the

credit supporter, or enables the holder to receive payment from the credit support
issuer, within 15 days of any failure by the credit support issuer to make a payment; and
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(i) results in the securities receiving the same credit rating as, or a
higher credit rating than, the credit rating they would have received if payment had been
fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the credit supporter, or would result in the
securities receiving such a rating if they were rated; or

(d) a full and unconditional guarantee of the payments to be made by the
credit support issuer, as stipulated in the terms of the securities or in an agreem%
governing the rights of holders of the securities, that results in the holder of
securities being entitled to receive payment from the credit supporter within 15 of
any failure by the credit support issuer to make a payment; q

A

“parent credit supporter” means a credit supporter of which the r@t g issuer is

a subsidiary; : é

“subsidiary credit supporter” means a credit supporter that Y~ subsidiary of the
parent credit supporter; and

“summary financial information” includes the follow line items:

(@) revenue; (\9

(b) profit or loss from continuing flons attributable to owners of the
parent; Q‘

(c) profit or loss attributable &ers of the parent; and

(d) unless the account inciples used to prepare the financial statements
of the person permits the pr, tion of the person's statement of financial position

provides alternative mea financial information which is more appropriate to the

industry, \&
0] Q@rent assets;

@ non-current assets;

Qg)(iii) current liabilities; and

without classifying assets aga bilities between current and non-current and the person

Q (iv)  non-current liabilities.

1) For the purposes of subparagraph (2)(g)(ii), consolidating summary financial
information must be prepared on the following basis:

(@) an entity’s annual or interim summary financial information must be

derived from the entity’s financial information underlying the corresponding consolidated
financial statements of the parent credit supporter for the corresponding period;
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(b) the parent credit supporter column must account for investments in all
subsidiaries under the equity method; and

(c) all subsidiary entity columns must account for investments in non-credit
supporter subsidiaries under the equity method.

(2) Except as provided in this section, a credit support issuer satisfie "t@
requirements in this Regulation if

(@) the parent credit supporter is the beneficial owner of all thf@ﬁandlng
voting securities of the credit support issuer;

(b) the parent credit supporter is either Qs

(1) an SEC issuer that is incorporated or or zed under the laws of
the United States of America or any state or territory of the d States of America or
the District of Columbia and that has filed all documentN is required to file with the

SEC; or Q

(i) a reporting issuer in a desjgnatéd Canadian jurisdiction that has
filed all documents it is required to file under th¢ Qulatlon

(© the credit support issuer d q(?t issue any securities, and does not have
any securities outstanding, other than

0] designated 5@5 upport securities;

(i) securiti sued to and held by the parent credit supporter or an
affiliate of the parent credi orter,

(iii)
and investment ¢,
savings or cre

financial instgyti
¥

% (iv)  securities issued under exemptions from the prospectus
re% nt in section 2.35 of Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus Exemptions

ecurities issued to and held by banks, loan corporations, loan
tions, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury branches,
ions, financial services cooperatives, insurance companies or other
S; or

(chsgter V-1.1, r. 21);
\ (d)  the credit support issuer files in electronic format,
0] if the parent credit supporter is not a reporting issuer in a

designated Canadian jurisdiction, copies of all documents the parent credit supporter is
required to file with the SEC under the 1934 Act, at the same time or as soon as
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practicable after the filing by the parent credit supporter of those documents with the
SEC,; or

(i) if the parent credit supporter is a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction,

(A) a notice indicating that the credit support issuer is relyin Q;

the continuous disclosure documents filed by the parent credit supporter and settié

where those documents can be found for viewing in electronic format, if thcl/ dit
Oy«

support issuer is a reporting issuer in the local jurisdiction; or

required to file under securities legislation, other than in connection YN distribution,
at the same time as the filing by the parent credit supporter of th cuments with a
securities regulatory authority;

(B) copies of all documents the parent cre;g svpporter is

(e) if the parent credit supporter is not a reporﬁ&ssuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction, the parent credit supporter '\b‘

0] complies with U.S. laws an Qe requirements of any U.S.
marketplace on which securities of the parent giegditYsupporter are listed or quoted in
respect of making public disclosure of materiald mation on a timely basis; and

(i) immediately issues Q/%anada and files any news release that
discloses a material change in its affai %

) the credit support J issues in Canada a news release and files a
material change report in acc e with Part 7 for all material changes in respect of
the affairs of the credit suppgsuer that are not also material changes in the affairs of
the parent credit supportec'o

(9) the cr@pport issuer files, in electronic format, in the notice referred to
in clause (d)(ii)(A or with the copy of each consolidated interim financial report and
consolidated al financial statements filed under subparagraph (d)(i) or

clause (d)(ii¢B), ®ither
4

Q; 0] a statement that the financial results of the credit support issuer are

incl (@ the consolidated financial results of the parent credit supporter, if at that
tim

\é (A)  the credit support issuer has minimal assets, operations,
revenue or cash flows other than those related to the issuance, administration and
repayment of the securities described in paragraph (c), and

(B) each item of the summary financial information of the
subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a combined basis, other than the credit
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support issuer, represents less than 3% of the corresponding items on the consolidated
financial statements of the parent credit supporter being filed or referred to under
paragraph (d), or

(i) for the periods covered by the consolidated interim financial report
or consolidated annual financial statements of the parent credit supporter filed,
consolidating summary financial information for the parent credit supporter present@S
with a separate column for each of the following: Q\

(A)  the parent credit supporter;

V>
(B) the credit support issuer; %

(C) any other subsidiaries of the parent q@supporter on a
combined basis;

(D) consolidating adjustments; and '@

(E) the total consolidated amo@s

the credit support issuer filed the notice " the statement contemplated in

(h)  the credit support issuer files a ?ﬁft d notice under clause (d)(ii))(A) if
subparagraph (g)(i) and the credit Qg issuer can no longer rely on

subparagraph (g)(i);

(1) in the case of desig redit support securities that include debt, the
credit support issuer concurrent s to all holders of such securities all disclosure
materials that are sent to ho@r f similar debt of the parent credit supporter in the
manner and at the time req% by

0] U, g&s and any U.S. marketplace on which securities of the
parent credit supp re listed or quoted, if the parent credit supporter is not a
reporting issuer i% ignated Canadian jurisdiction; or

Q% securities legislation, if the parent credit supporter is a reporting
issuer in fOnated Canadian jurisdiction; and

Q~ in the case of designated credit support securities that include preferred
sh&és, the credit support issuer concurrently sends to all holders of such securities all
losure materials that are sent to holders of similar preferred shares of the parent

dit supporter in the manner and at the time required by

0] U.S. laws and any U.S. marketplace on which securities of the

parent credit supporter are listed or quoted, if the parent credit supporter is not a
reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction; or
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(i) securities legislation, if the parent credit supporter is a reporting
issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction.

(k) no person other than the parent credit supporter has provided a guarantee
or alternative credit support for the payments to be made under any issued and
outstanding securities of the credit support issuer.

(2.1) A credit support issuer satisfies the requirements of this Regulation where@)@
is a parent credit supporter and one or more subsidiary credit supporters if (l/

(@) the conditions in paragraphs (2)(a) to (f), (i), and (j) are compl fth;

(b)  the parent credit supporter controls each subsidiary cr, %Jpporter and
the parent credit supporter has consolidated the financial statemeny each subsidiary
credit supporter into the parent credit supporter’s financial stater?s s that are filed or
referred to under paragraph (2)(d); O

(© the credit support issuer files, in electronicg{?mat, in the notice referred to
in clause (2)(d)(ii)(A) or in or with the copy of each C%} Idated interim financial report
and the consolidated annual financial statements fi nder subparagraph (2)(d)(i) or
clause (2)(d)(ii))(B), for a period covered by anyonsOlidated interim financial report or
consolidated annual financial statements of arent credit supporter filed by the
parent credit supporter, consolidating sumr%x mancial information for the parent credit
supporter presented with a separate colu r each of the following:

0] the parent cre%/@%orter;
(i) the credit Q’éport issuer;

(i)  each s%fdiary credit supporter on a combined basis;

(iv) @her subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a combined

basis; )QQ‘

consolidating adjustments; and
QS) (vi)  the total consolidated amounts;
d) no person, other than the parent credit supporter or a subsidiary credit
&porter has provided a guarantee or alternative credit support for the payments to be
de under the issued and outstanding designated credit support securities; and

(e) the guarantees or alternative credit supports are joint and several.

(2.2) Despite paragraph (2.1)(c), the information set out in a column in accordance
with
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(@) subparagraph (2.1)(c)(iv), may be combined with the information set out in
accordance with any of the other columns in paragraph (2.1)(c); if each item of the
summary financial information set out in a column in accordance with
subparagraph (2.1)(c)(iv) represents less than 3% of the corresponding items on the
consolidated financial statements of the parent credit supporter being filed or referred to

under paragraph (2)(d), Q,)
N

(b)  subparagraph (2.1)(c)(ii) may be combined with the information s m in
accordance with any of the other columns in paragraph (2.1)(c); if the credit sMpport
issuer has minimal assets, operations, revenue or cash flows other than thgj;geﬂated to
the issuance, administration and repayment of the securities%d cribed in

paragraph (2)(c). %

(3) The insider reporting requirement and the requirement to an insider profile
under National Instrument 55-102 System for Electronic DisfoMzre by Insiders (SEDI)
(chapter V-1.1, r. 30) do not apply to an insider of a creditrt issuer in respect of
securities of the credit support issuer so long as, \b‘

(@) the conditions in paragraphs (2)(a) to (C&e complied with;
(b) if the insider is not a credit suppo@ °
(1) the insider does not

to material facts or material changes
facts or material changes are gener,

ive, in the ordinary course, information as
rning a credit supporter before the material
closed, and

other than by virtue of bein sider of the credit support issuer; and

(i) the ins@;&mt an insider of a credit supporter in any capacity

(c) if the insj %a credit supporter, the insider does not beneficially own any
designated credit s@ securities;

(4) A pare %it supporter is not a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian
jurisdiction the purposes of subparagraph (2)(b)(ii) if the parent credit supporter
complies WiiW a requirement of this Regulation by relying on a provision of
Regula -102 respecting Continuous Disclosure and Other Exemptions Relating to
For i@ suers (chapter V-1.1, r. 37).

g.‘zoos-oa s. 13.4: Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.O. 2006-04, s. 36: M.O. 2008-
.s. 7 and 11: M.O. 2008-18, s. 7: M.O. 2009-05, s. 2;: M.O. 2010-17, s. 26:
M.O. 2012-05, s. 1: I.N. 2015-06-01.
PART 14  EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION

14.1. Effective Date
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(Omitted).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 14.1.
14.2. Transition

Despite section 14.1, section 5.7 applies for financial years of the reporting%\(@
beginning on or after January 1, 2007. (l/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 14.2; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.O. 2006-04, s. 37. (\9"

14.3. Transition - Interim Financial Report s@

(2) Despite section 4.4 and paragraph 4.10(2)(c), the first inNgm financial report
required to be filed in the year of adopting IFRS in res of an interim period
beginning on or after January 1, 2011 may be filed

@) in the case of a reporting issuer other tlﬁu\a venture issuer, on or before

the earlier of q/

(1) the 75th day after the end ab%e“interim period; and

(i) the date of filing, in
for a period ending on the last day of '

Ign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
rim period; or

(b) in the case of a ve& suer, on or before the earlier of
0] the QOt@ after the end of the interim period; and

for a period ending last day of the interim period.

(i) the&ge)of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report

(2) Despite @ction 5.1(2), the MD&A required to be filed under subsection 5.1(1)
f

relating to t&, fitst interim financial report required to be filed in the year of adopting
IFRS inr of an interim period beginning on or after January 1, 2011 may be filed
onorb he earlier of

a) the filing deadline for the interim financial report set out in subsection (1);

(b) the date the reporting issuer files the interim financial report under
subsections (1) or 4.3(1), as applicable.

3) Despite subsection 4.6(3), if a registered holder or beneficial owner of securities,
other than debt instruments, of a reporting issuer requests the issuer's first interim
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financial report required to be filed in the year of adopting IFRS in respect of an interim
period beginning on or after January 1, 2011, the reporting issuer may send a copy of
the required interim financial report and the interim MD&A relating to the interim
financial report to the person that made the request, without charge, by the later of,

(@) in the case of a reporting issuer relying on subsection (1), 10 calendar

days after the filing deadline set out in subsection (1), for the financial statememﬁ
requested,; '\

days after the filing deadline in subparagraph 4.4(a)(i) or 4.4(b)(i), subsectj 20(2) or
subsection 14.3(1), as applicable, for the financial statements requested@u

(b) in the case of a reporting issuer not relying on subsection (1), é ca¥endar
(© 10 calendar days after the issuer receives the requesgs
(4) Subsections (1), (2) and (3) do not apply unless the re @19 issuer:
(@) is disclosing, for the first time, a statement ov‘ompliance with International
Accounting Standard 34 Interim Financial Reporting;

(b)  did not previously file financial sta@]gfs that disclosed compliance with
IFRS. 20 °

(5) Subsections (1), (2) and (3) do n ply if the first interim financial report is in
respect of an interim period ending a ch 30, 2012.

M.O. 2010-17, 5. 27. /&
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FORM 51-102F1 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

(@) Description of MD&A

company performed during the period covered by the financial statements, and g
company's financial condition and future prospects. MD&A complememﬁd
supplements your financial statements, but does not form part of yotrbfi

statements. (L

Your objective when preparing the MD&A should be to impro r company's
overall financial disclosure by giving a balanced discussion of yo pany's financial
performance and financial condition including, without limitation, s considerations as
liquidity and capital resources - openly reporting bad news as@l as good news. Your

MD&A is a narrative explanation, through the eyes of management, of hov@
nd

ncial
)

MD&A should A

- help current and prospective investor@nderstand what the financial
statements show and do not show; q/

- discuss material information that ot be fully reflected in the financial

statements, such as contingent Iiabilitie?rd aults under debt, off-balance sheet
financing arrangements, or other contrac% bligations;

- discuss important tr tand risks that have affected the financial
statements, and trends and risk’K are reasonably likely to affect them in the future;

and Q
- provide infoﬁ()n about the quality, and potential variability, of your

company's profit or lo d cash flow, to assist investors in determining if past
performance is indic@ of future performance.

(b)  Date of mation

In ing the MD&A, you must take into account information available up to
the dat e MD&A. If the date of the MD&A is not the date it is filed, you must ensure
the i ure in the MD&A is current so that it will not be misleading when it is filed.

\é Use of “Company”

Wherever this Form uses the word “company”, the term includes other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business
entities.
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(d) Explain Your Analysis

Explain the nature of, and reasons for, changes in your company's performance.
Do not simply disclose the amount of change in a financial statement item from period

to period. Avoid using boilerplate language. Your discussion should assist the reader to
understand trends, events, transactions and expenditures.

Focus your MD&A on material information. You do not need ﬁ di¥Close

(e) Focus on Material Information

information that is not material. Exercise your judgment when determipi¥yg) Whether
information is material.

® Determination of what is Material Information 0%

Would a reasonable investor's decision whether or 0 buy, sell or hold
securities in your company likely be influenced or changed fﬂb information in question
was omitted or misstated? If so, the information is likely R&rial.

() Venture Issuers Without Significant Reverﬂ&

If your company is a venture issuer winﬁé‘ignificant revenue from operations,
focus your discussion and analysis of fpncral performance on expenditures and
progress towards achieving your busine jectives and milestones.

(h)  Reverse Takeover Transa@&

If an acquisition is a rey, ’s%takeover, the MD&A should be based on the reverse
takeover acquirer's financia@ement&

() (paragraph revc@%
) Resource rs

If yo &mpany has mineral projects, your disclosure must comply with
-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects
71, r. 15), including the requirement that all scientific and technical
disc be based on a technical report or other information prepared by or under the
su&wsion of a qualified person.

\ If your company has oil and gas activities, your disclosure must comply with
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 23).
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(k) Numbering and Headings

The numbering, headings and ordreing of items included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not be repeated
elsewhere.

() Omitting Information %
You do not need to respond to any item in this Form that is inapplicable. (19
(m) Defined Terms q/ R

If a term is used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of@ﬂaﬁon 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1 24) and to
Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If§ rm is used in this
Form and is defined in both the securities statute of th al jurisdiction and in
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Oblig&QMs, refer to section 1.4 of
Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting Contwous Disclosure Obligations
(Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20) for further gu@ce.

GAAP applicable to publicly accountable |5‘rises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy S nt to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations .

H
(n)  Plain Language <‘§t
%

Write the MD&A so t aders are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language principles Iisted§2 section 1.5 of Policy Statement 51-102 respecting

This Form also uses accounting terms gat re defined or used in Canadian

Continuous Disclosure Weftions for further guidance. If you use technical terms,
explain them in a clear &d“€oncise manner.

(0) AvailableQ@Period Information
aYe not presented comparative financial information in your financial

our MD&A you must provide prior period information relating to financial
that is available.

perfor

(s)Q se of “Financial Condition”

This Form uses the term “financial condition”. Financial condition reflects the
overall health of the company and includes your company's financial position (as shown
on the statement of financial position) and other factors that may affect your company's
liquidity, capital resources and solvency.
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PART 2 CONTENT OF MD&A
ltem1 Annual MD&A

1.1 Date

the date of the auditor's report on the annual financial statements for your co y's

Specify the date of your MD&A. The date of the MD&A must be no earlie;lhg?
most recently completed financial year.

4

1.2 Overall Performance %q/

Provide an analysis of your company's financial condition, f{{n\\cial performance
and cash flows. Discuss known trends, demands, commitments, e S or uncertainties
that are reasonably likely to have an effect on your company’ siness. Compare your
company's performance in the most recently completed finaefyat year to the prior year's
performance. Your analysis should address at least the ‘o\@yving:

(@) operating segments that are reportat@segments as those terms are
described in the issuer's GAAP; Q“

(b)  other parts of your business if,
0] they have a disg lonate effect on revenue, profit or loss or

cash needs; or

(i) there are ’ssﬁ/gal or other restrictions on the flow of funds from
one part of your company's @:ess to another;

(c) industry a onomic factors affecting your company's performance;

(d wh @ges have occurred or expected changes have not occurred in
your company'&cial condition and financial performance; and

(e) ()%(e effect of discontinued operations on current operations.

|NS4@§HONS

' When explaining changes in your company's financial condition and results,
\a lude an analysis of the effect on your continuing operations of any acquisition,
disposition, write-off, abandonment or other similar transaction.

(i) A discussion of financial condition should include important trends and risks that

have affected the financial statements, and trends and risks that are reasonably likely to
affect them in the future.
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(i) Include information for a period longer than 2 financial years if it will help the
reader to better understand a trend.

1.3. Selected Annual Information

(1) Provide the following financial data derived from your company's annual finan(%
statements for each of the 3 most recently completed financial years: Q’\

Oy«
(b) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable tgzowkérs of the
parent, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; : é

(@) total revenue;

(c) profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent, iQtaI and on a per-
share and diluted per-share basis; @

(d) total assets;
N

(e) total non-current financial liabilities; an Q
() distributions cash dividends declm@p’ér-share for each class of share.

(2) Discuss the factors that have % period to period variations including
discontinued operations, changes i unting policies, significant acquisitions or
dispositions and changes in the di %ﬂ of your business, and any other information
your company believes would e;@c an understanding of, and would highlight trends
in, financial position and finan'QI formance.

INSTRUCTIONS %@

0] For each o@ 3 most recently completed financial years, indicate the
accounting princi at the financial data has been prepared in accordance with, the
presentation ¢ cy and the functional currency if different from the presentation

currency. Q/

(i) I financial data provided was not prepared in accordance with the same
acc principles for all 3 years, focus the discussion on the important trends and
ris& at have affected the business.

\ Discussion of Operations

Discuss your analysis of your company's operations for the most recently
completed financial year, including
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(@) total revenue by reportable segment, including any changes in such
amounts caused by selling prices, volume or quantity of goods or services being sold, or
the introduction of new products or services;

(b)  any other significant factors that caused changes in total revenue;

(c) cost of sales or gross profit; '\Q.)

(d)  for issuers that have significant projects that have not yet gm%ted
revenue, describe each project, including your company's plan for the project amMd the
status of the project relative to that plan, and expenditures made and hovyﬁ‘e relate
to anticipated timing and costs to take the project to the next stage of th@ ct plan;

(e) for resource issuers with producing mines or mine %r development,

identify any milestone, including, without limitation, mine expanS| lans, productivity
improvements, plans to develop a new deposit, or producti ecisions, and whether
the milestone is based on a technical report filed under R tion 43-101 respecting

Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects;

() factors that caused a change in tiﬂ?laﬂonshlp between costs and
revenue, including changes in costs of Iabour rials, price changes or inventory

adjustments;

(@9 commitments, events, risk ncertalntles that you reasonably believe
will materially affect your companys performance including total revenue and
profit or loss from continuing opera tributable to owners of the parent;

(h)  effect of inflatio éﬂ specific price changes on your company's total
revenue and on profit or IoQ?om continuing operations attributable to owners of the

parent; %

0] acom
your company
financing, an e

company's %

(Q:“Junusual or infrequent events or transactions.

INQQCTION

ﬁr discussion under paragraph 1.4(d) should include

n in tabular form of disclosure you previously made about how
ing to use proceeds (other than working capital) from any
ation of variances and the impact of the variances, if any, on your
to achieve its business objectives and milestones; and

0] whether or not you plan to expend additional funds on the project; and

(i) any factors that have affected the value of the project(s) such as change in
commodity prices, land use or political or environmental issues.
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1.5 Summary of Quarterly Results

Provide the following information in summary form, derived from your company's
financial statements, for each of the 8 most recently completed quarters:

(@ total revenue; '\Q.)

(b) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to ownerr@the
parent, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; and q
A

(© profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent, in tot%n on a per-
share and diluted per-share basis. : é

Discuss the factors that have caused variations over the &)ters necessary to
understand general trends that have developed and the i{@wa ity of the business.

INSTRUCTIONS
N

(1) In the case of the annual MD&A, your mo ently completed quarter is the
guarter that ended on the last day of your most rﬁe[‘] completed financial year.

becoming a reporting issuer if your com has not prepared financial statements for

(i) You do not have to provide infc@iﬁpfor a quarter prior to your company
those quarters.

(i)  For sections 1.2, 1.3, 1.4 .5 consider identifying, discussing and analyzing
the following factors: Q

(A) changes in %ﬁmer buying patterns, including changes due to new
technologies and char@i demographics;

(B) chaQ;Qin selling practices, including changes due to new distribution
arrangements <{<3 eorganization of a direct sales force;

©) %ﬁanges in competition, including an assessment of the issuer's
resour rengths and weaknesses relative to those of its competitors;

Q )  the effect of exchange rates;

\ (E) changes in pricing of inputs, constraints on supply, order backlog, or other
input-related matters;

(F) changes in production capacity, including changes due to plant closures
and work stoppages;
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(G) changes in volume of discounts granted to customers, volumes of returns
and allowances, excise and other taxes or other amounts reflected on a net basis
against revenue;

(H) changes in the terms and conditions of service contracts;
() the progress in achieving previously announced milestones; %

J) for resource issuers with producing mines, identify changes to cagﬁl'f S
caused by changes in production throughput, head-grade, cut-off grade, gical
recovery and any expectation of future changes; and (n]é)

(K) if you have an equity investee that is significant to ;@(ompany, the
nature of the investment and significance to your company. Q

(iv)  For each of the 8 most recently completed quarte Q icate the accounting
principles that the financial data has been prepared in acco& with, the presentation
currency and the functional currency if different from the p@g,entatlon currency.

(v) If the financial data provided was not prepapg in accordance with the same
accounting principles for all 8 quarters, focus th c¥ssion on the important trends and
risks that have affected the business. rb

1.6  Liquidity
Provide an analysis of you %/ y's I|qU|d|ty including
(@) its ability to gen fficient amounts of cash and cash equivalents, in

the short term and the lon , to maintain your company's capacity, to meet your
company's planned growt fund development activities;

(b) trends&mected fluctuations in your company's liquidity, taking into
account demand tments, events or uncertainties;

(c) @%/orklng capital requirements;
(Q~ liquidity risks associated with financial instruments;
e) if your company has or expects to have a working capital deficiency,
&uss its ability to meet obligations as they become due and how you expect it to
edy the deficiency;

() statement of financial position conditions or profit or loss attributable to
owners of the parent or cash flow items that may affect your company's liquidity;
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(9) legal or practical restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to transfer funds
to your company and the effect these restrictions have had or may have on the ability of
your company to meet its obligations; and

(n)  defaults or arrears or significant risk of defaults or arrears on

0] distributions or dividends payments, lease payments, interest@s
principal payment on debt; '\

Q
(i) debt covenants; and q’
Oy«

(i)  redemption or retraction or  sinking fu%qlpayments,

and how your company intends to cure the default or arrear@jdress the risk.

INSTRUCTIONS O
(1) In discussing your company's ability to generate_sW{icient amounts of cash and
cash equivalents you should describe sources of fu and the circumstances that

could affect those sources that are reasonabl?k ely to occur. Examples of
circumstances that could affect liquidity are park€ or commodity price changes,
economic downturns, defaults on guarantees htractions of operations.

(i) In discussing trends or expecte %tuations in your company's liquidity and
liquidity risks associated with financial i ents you should discuss

(A)  provisions in debt @or other arrangements that could trigger an
additional funding requireme@ early payment. Examples of such situations are

provisions linked to credit r profit or loss, cash flows or share price; and

(B) circumstafges” that could impair your company's ability to undertake
transaction conside sential to operations. Examples of such circumstances are the

inability to maintgd estment grade credit rating, earnings per-share, cash flow or
share price. Q

@ii) In sing your company's working capital requirements you should discuss
situatio ere your company must maintain significant inventory to meet customers'

deli @ guirements or any situations involving extended payment terms.

@ In discussing your company's statement of financial position conditions or profit

loss or cash flow items you should present a summary, in tabular form, of contractual
obligations including payments due for each of the next 5 years and thereafter. The
summary and table do not have to be provided if your company is a venture issuer. An
example of a table that can be adapted to your company's particular circumstances
follows:

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 95



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

Payments Due by Period

Contractual
Obligations

Total

Less than 1 year

1-3years

4 -5years

After 5 years

Debt

Finance Lease

Obligations

Operating Leases

|

Purchase
Obligations(1)

-

D

Other
Obligations(2)

v
_O\

Total Contractual

Y &
Obligations ‘6' b

(1) “Purchase Obligation” means an agreement to purchase goods or servi@(t is enforceable
and legally binding on your company that specifies all significant terms, inc : fixed or minimum
guantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the oximate timing of the
transaction.

(2) “Other Obligations” means other financial liabilities reflected
financial position.

Qr company's statement of

The tabular presentation may be accom "?d by footnotes to describe
provisions that create, increase or accelerate obligat|pns, or other details to the extent
necessary for an understanding of the timing a%amount of your company's specified

contractual obligations.

ny's capital resources, including

1.7 Capital Resources
Provide an analysis of your

(@ commitments f %ital expenditures as of the date of your company's
financial statements includj

0] th@mount, nature and purpose of these commitments;
(ii)QQQE expected source of funds to meet these commitments; and
J expenditures not yet committed but required to maintain your
companyd capacity, to meet your company's planned growth or to fund development
activitj
Q (b) known trends or expected fluctuations in your company's capital
S%)urces, including expected changes in the mix and relative cost of these resources;

d

(© sources of financing that your company has arranged but not yet used.
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INSTRUCTIONS

0] Capital resources are financing resources available to your company and include
debt, equity and any other financing arrangements that you reasonably consider will
provide financial resources to your company.

and development, or research and development expenditures required to in

(i) In discussing your company's commitments you should discuss any ex;;i@g?
ai
properties or agreements in good standing.

A
1.8 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements %q/

Discuss any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or %asonably likely
to have, a current or future effect on the financial performance or ncial condition of
your company including, without limitation, such consideraﬁi&@as liquidity and capital
resources.

In your discussion of off-balance sheet arran@ents you should discuss their
business purpose and activities, their economic sﬂk nce, risks associated with the
arrangements, and the key terms and conditi a¥sociated with any commitments.
Your discussion should include rb

(@) adescription of the other cc@%ﬁng party(ies);
(b) the effects of terminat'@% arrangement;

(© the amounts re ’&&be or payable, revenue, expenses and cash flows
resulting from the arrangen@

the arrangement t uld require your company to provide funding under the
arrangement andQ‘ iggering events or circumstances that could cause them to arise;
and

(d) the na@%amounw of any other obligations or liabilities arising from

availab benefits of the arrangement (including any termination) and the course of

(e) LS%, y known event, commitment, trend or uncertainty that may affect the
acti Q t management has taken, or proposes to take, in response to any such
cirz(ms ances.

STRUCTIONS
0] Off-balance sheet arrangements include any contractual arrangement with an

entity not reported on a consolidated basis with your company, under which your
company has

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 97



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015
(A) any obligation under certain guarantee contracts;

(B) aretained or contingent interest in assets transferred to an unconsolidated
entity or similar arrangement that serves as credit, liquidity or market risk support to that
entity for the assets;

(C) any obligation under certain derivative instruments; or %

(D) any obligation held by your company in an unconsolidated em'@hat
provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit risk support to your cqmpavly, or
engages in leasing, hedging activities or, research and development servie@%th your

company %
(i) Contingent liabilities arising out of litigation, arbitration or r@ory actions are
not considered to be off-balance sheet arrangements.

(i)  Disclosure of off-balance sheet arrangements sho&&gver the most recently
completed financial year. However, the discussion sh%w address changes from the
previous year where such discussion is necessary to stand the disclosure.

statements if the discussion clearly cross-r tes to specific information in the
relevant notes and integrates the substanc notes into the discussion in a manner
that explains the significance of the |nfor not included in the MD&A.

(iv)  The discussion need not repeat informati§ rﬂfvlded in the notes to the financial

1.9 Transactions Between Rel arties

Discuss all transactlonwéw en related parties as defined by the issuer's GAAP.
INSTRUCTION %

In discussin@r company's transactions between related parties, your
discussion shou ude both qualitative and quantitative characteristics that are
necessary for ?h derstanding of the transactions' business purpose and economic
substance ould discuss

(Q~ the relationship and identify the related person or entities;

Q )  the business purpose of the transaction;

\ (C) the recorded amount of the transaction and describe the measurement
basis used; and

(D) any ongoing contractual or other commitments resulting from the
transaction.
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1.10 Fourth Quarter

Discuss and analyze fourth quarter events or items that affected your company's
financial condition, financial performance or cash flows, year-end and other
adjustments, seasonal aspects of your company's business and dispositions of
business segments. If your company has filed separate MD&A for its fourth quarter, you

may satisfy this requirement by incorporating that MD&A by reference. '\Q.)
1.11 Proposed Transactions (19
Discuss the expected effect on financial condition, financial perf fce and
cash flows of any proposed asset or business acquisition or dispggsi®n if your
company's board of directors, or senior management who believe t nfirmation of
the decision by the board is probable, have decided to proceed WNM the transaction.

Include the status of any required shareholder or regulatory appro
INSTRUCTION A

You do not have to disclose this inforrr@o if, under section 7.1 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous DisclosuFT{ bligations, your company has
fled a Form 51-102F3 Material Change Reggrt Yegarding the transaction on a
confidential basis and the report remains confi&

1.12 Critical Accounting Estimates Qg

If your company is not a ve ssuer, provide an analysis of your company's
critical accounting estimates. Yo lysis should

@) identify and @ibe each critical accounting estimate used by your
company including %

0] @cription of the accounting estimate;

(ii{<2the methodology used in determining the critical accounting

estimate; Q/
O

(i)  the assumptions underlying the accounting estimate that relate to
ma&e@} hly uncertain at the time the estimate was made;

ﬁ (iv)  any known trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that could
terially affect the methodology or the assumptions described; and

(v) if applicable, why the accounting estimate is reasonably likely to
change from period to period and have a material impact on the financial presentation;
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(b)  explain the significance of the accounting estimate to your company's
financial position, changes in financial position and financial performance and identify
the financial statement line items affected by the accounting estimate;

(c) (paragraph revoked);

financial years including the reasons for the change and the quantitative effect o

(d)  discuss changes made to critical accounting estimates during the @
company's overall financial performance and financial statement line items; and (l/

(e) identify the reportable segments of your company's busi that the
accounting estimate affects and discuss the accounting estimate reportable
segment basis, if your company operates in more than one reportablxément.

INSTRUCTIONS 50
0] An accounting estimate is a critical accounting estimaﬁ\%y if

(A) it requires your company to make asw ions about matters that are
highly uncertain at the time the accounting estimateq/ de; and

(B) different estimates that your c “y could have used in the current
period, or changes in the accounting estingaye that are reasonably likely to occur from
period to period, would have a material '%t on your company's financial condition,
changes in financial condition or finangf rformance.

(i) As part of your descripti each critical accounting estimate, in addition to
gualitative disclosure, you s provide quantitative disclosure when quantitative
information is reasonably ayéjj%ple and would provide material information for investors.
Similarly, in your discus f assumptions underlying an accounting estimate that
relates to matters hi certain at the time the estimate was made, you should
provide quantitativeﬁ&osure when it is reasonably available and it would provide
material informat investors. For example, quantitative information may include a
sensitivity anal ?a disclosure of the upper and lower ends of the range of estimates
from which reécorded estimate was selected.

1.13 Cérﬁes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption

%gscuss and analyze any changes in your company's accounting policies,
\' ing

(@) for any accounting policies that you have adopted or expect to adopt
subsequent to the end of your most recently completed financial year, including
changes you have made or expect to make voluntarily and those due to a change in an
accounting standard or a new accounting standard that you do not have to adopt until a
future date, you should
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0] describe the new standard, the date you are required to adopt it
and, if determined, the date you plan to adopt it;

(i) disclose the methods of adoption permitted by the accounting
standard and the method you expect to use;

(i)  discuss the expected effect on your company's fm@t@
statements, or if applicable, state that you cannot reasonably estimate the effect;

(iv)  discuss the potential effect on your business, for examﬁ%échnlcal
violations or default of debt covenants or changes in business practiceS@d

(b) for any accounting policies that you have initially ada@ during the most
recently completed financial year, you should

0] describe the events or transactions Qave rise to the initial
adoption of an accounting policy; '\b‘

(i) describe the accounting polic}'@t has been adopted and the
method of applying that policy;

(i)  discuss the effect rgfpg from the initial adoption of the
accounting policy on your company's fma@ position, changes in financial position and
financial performance;

(iv) if your cws is permitted a choice among acceptable

accounting policies,

(A) é@ that you made a choice among acceptable alternatives;

@ identify the alternatives;

Q C) describe why you made the choice that you did; and

financi
alter

% (D) discuss the effect, where material, on your company's
aé%tion, changes in financial position and financial performance under the
s not chosen; and
§ (v) if no accounting literature exists that covers the accounting for the events
transactions giving rise to your initial adoption of the accounting policy, explain your
decision regarding which accounting policy to use and the method of applying that
principle.

INSTRUCTION
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You do not have to present the discussion under paragraph 1.13(b) for the initial
adoption of accounting policies resulting from the adoption of new accounting
standards.

1.14 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments
For financial instruments and other instruments, '\Q.)

(@) discuss the nature and extent of your company's use of, iqr@ing
relationships among, the instruments and the business purposes that they sesj;
A

(b) describe and analyze the risks associated with the instru “)/

discussion of the objectives, general strategies and instruments d to manage the

(© describe how you manage the risks in paragr@ including a
risks, including any hedging activities;

(d) disclose the financial statement classificat and amounts of income,
expenses, gains and losses associated with the instru@?glnd

(e)  discuss the significant assumption glfe in determining the fair value of
financial instruments, the total amount and dshcial statement classification of the
change in fair value of financial instrumenigyecognized in profit or loss for the period,
and the total amount and financial statev&lassification of deferred or unrecognized

gains and losses on financial instrur@
INSTRUCTIONS /&
0] “Other instruments” §£Q1$truments that may be settled by the delivery of non-

financial assets. A comm utures contract is an example of an instrument that may
be settled by delivery @) “financial assets.

(i) Your dis Qn under paragraph 1.14(a) should enhance a reader's
understanding % significance of recognized and unrecognized instruments on your
company ial position, financial performance and cash flows. The information
should alﬁq%lst a reader in assessing the amounts, timing, and certainty of future
cash fl ssociated with those instruments. Also discuss the relationship between
liabili equity components of convertible debt instruments.

& For purposes of paragraph 1.14(c), if your company is exposed to significant

ice, credit or liquidity risks, consider providing a sensitivity analysis or tabular
information to help readers assess the degree of exposure. For example, an analysis of
the effect of a hypothetical change in the prevailing level of interest or currency rates on
the fair value of financial instruments and future profit or loss and cash flows may be
useful in describing your company's exposure to price risk.

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 102



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

(iv)  For purposes of paragraph 1.14(d), disclose and explain the revenue, expenses,
gains and losses from hedging activities separately from other activities.

1.15 Other MD&A Requirements

€) Your MD&A must disclose that additional information relating to your
company, including your company's AlF if your company files an AlF, is on SEDAR@

www.sedar.com. Q\

(b)  Your MD&A must also provide the information required in tt&fgkwing

sections of Regulation 51-102, if applicable: q/ S
0] section 5.3 involving additional disclosure fo&ﬂture issuers
without significant revenue; Q

(i) section 5.4 involving disclosure of outstan@ Share data; and

(i)  section 5.7 involving additional disclo&re for reporting issuers with

significant equity investees. Q
(c) Your MD&A must include t D&A disclosure required by
Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification of ¢y Sure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim

leorm 52-109F1 Certification of Annual
ertification of Refiled Annual Filings, or

Filings in Connection with Voluntarily Filed

Filings (chapter V-1.1, r. 27) and, as appli
Filings — Full Certificate, Form 52-109
Form 52-109F1 AIF Certification of
AlF.

ltem 2 Interim MD&A

2.1 Date %@Q

Specify the d@your interim MD&A.
2.2 Interim @A

Int D&A must update your company's annual MD&A for all disclosure
require em 1 except section 1.3. This disclosure must include

a discussion of your analysis of

E<< 2
\ 0] current quarter and year-to-date results including a comparison of
financial performance to the corresponding periods in the previous year;

(i.0) a comparison of cash flows to the corresponding period in the
previous year;
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(i) changes in financial performance and elements of profit or loss
attributable to owners of the parent that are not related to ongoing business operations;

(i)  any seasonal aspects of your company's business that affect its
financial position, financial performance or cash flows; and

(b) a comparison of your company's interim financial condition to y@s
company's financial condition as at the most recently completed financial year- endQ

INSTRUCTIONS (l’

A
I (\%&A, you

A. Base the

(1) If the first MD&A you file in this Form (your first MD&A) is an int
must provide all the disclosure called for in Item 1 in your first
disclosure, except the disclosure for section 1.3, on your interim fj 1al report. Since
you do not have to update the disclosure required in section 1. 3 ou interim MD&A,
your first MD&A will provide disclosure under section 1.3 bas your annual financial
statements. Your subsequent interim MD&A for that year ﬂ pdate your first interim
MD&A.
'\

(i) For the purposes of paragraph 2.2(b), you m %sume the reader has access to
your annual MD&A or your first MD&A. You do $ h e to duplicate the discussion and

analysis of financial condition in your annual or your first MD&A. For example, if
economic and industry factors are substan@ nchanged you may make a statement
to this effect.

(i)  For the purposes of s@@aph 2.2(a)(i), you should generally give

promlnence to the current quarte

or loss or cash flow items n interim period, you do not have to present a summary,
in tabular form, of all RRo™n contractual obligations contemplated under section 1.6.
Instead, you shoul ose material changes in the specified contractual obligations
during the interi d.

(iv)  In discussing your%{ ny's statement of financial position conditions or profit

(v) Interl% &A prepared in accordance with Item 2 is not required for your
company h quarter as relevant fourth quarter content will be contained in your
compa nual MD&A prepared in accordance with Iltem 1 (see section 1.10).

(vi)QQ your interim MD&A, update the summary of quarterly results in section 1.5 by
iding summary information for the 8 most recently completed quarters.

(vii)  Your annual MD&A may not include all the information in Item 1 if you were a
venture issuer as at the end of your last financial year. If you ceased to be a venture
issuer during your interim period, you do not have to restate the MD&A you previously
filed. Instead, provide the disclosure for the additional sections in Item 1 that you were
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exempt from as a venture issuer in the next interim MD&A you file. Base your disclosure
for those sections on your interim financial report.

2.3  Other Interim MD&A Requirements

Your interim MD&A must include the interim MD&A disclosure required by
Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Integ
Filings and, as applicable, Form 52-109F2 Certification of Interim Filings = '@
Certificate or Form 52-109F2R Certification of Refiled Interim Filings. (\9

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F1; M.O. 2005-25, s. 2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 38; 7\@.-@2@07-08,
S. 6; M.O. 2008-17, s. 1, M.O. 2008-18, s. 8 and 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 2§ M.¥. 2011-02,

s. 1. %
»
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FORM 51-102F2 ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM

PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

(@) Description of AIF

An AIF (annual information form) is required to be filed annually by cert
companies under Part 6 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disc @
Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24). An AlF is a disclosure document intended tom&ide
material information about your company and its business at a point in jjme ¥ the
context of its historical and possible future development. Your AIF d%és your
company, its operations and prospects, risks and other external factors @t pact your

company specifically. : é

This disclosure is supplemented throughout the year by sﬁ&%quent continuous
disclosure filings including news releases, material change re@s, usiness acquisition
reports, financial statements and management discussion afﬁk alysis.

(b) Date of Information Q

presented as at the last day of your company’ i recently completed financial year.
If necessary, you must update the informagey iff'the AIF so it is not misleading when it
is filed. For information presented as % y date other than the last day of your
company's most recently completed

disclosure. &
(c) Use of “Company” Q&%

Unless otherwise specified in this Forr;ﬁ!}e nformation in your AIF must be

ial year, specify the relevant date in the

Wherever this Forﬁés the word “company”, the term includes other types of
business organization@ as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business
entities.

All refer 2? to “your company” in Items 4, 5, 6, 12, 13, 15 and 16 of this Form

apply collecigglyMo your company, your company's subsidiaries, joint ventures to which
your com Is a party and entities in which your company has an investment
accoun r by the equity method.

(d)Q ocus on Material Information

\ Focus your AIF on material information. You do not need to disclose information
that is not material. Exercise your judgment when determining whether information is
material. However, you must disclose all corporate and individual cease trade orders,
bankruptcies, penalties and sanctions in accordance with Item 10 and section 12.2 of
this Form.
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(e) Determination of What is Material

Would a reasonable investor's decision whether or not to buy, sell or hold
securities in your company likely be influenced or changed if the information in question
was omitted or misstated? If so, the information is likely material.

()] Incorporating Information by Reference Q.)

You may incorporate information required to be included in your AIF by rqﬂ'j?me
to another document, other than a previous AIF. Clearly identify the referénced
document or any excerpt of it that you incorporate into your AlF. Unl du have
already filed the referenced document or excerpt, including any docum orporated
by reference into the document or excerpt, under your SEDAR prof, u must file it
with your AIF. You must also disclose that the documen&n SEDAR at
www.sedar.com.

(9) Defined Terms &

If a term is used but not defined in this Form, r@o Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations anmn( Regulation 14-101 respecting
Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used~p ts Form and is defined in both the
securities statute of a local jurisdiction and in R@Iﬁtion 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4pf Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Oblig% (Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20)
for further guidance.

This Form also uses ac g terms that are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publiclyyascountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
Q Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting

subsections 1.4(7) and (
Continuous Disclosure O ons.

(h)  Plain Langu@

Write th% so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain

/ es listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respectin inuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical
them in a clear and concise manner.

(is QQpeual Purpose Entities

If your company is a special purpose entity, you may have to modify the
disclosure items in this Form to reflect the special purpose nature of your company's
business.
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() Numbering and Headings

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not be repeated

elsewhere.
o)
Q\

You do not need to respond to any item in this Form that is mappllca&glﬁ you
may omit negative answers.

(k)  Omitting Information

PART 2 CONTENT OF AIF ‘é%
tem 1 Cover Page 50

1.1 Date '\O

Specify the date of your AIF. The date must @o earlier than the date of the
auditor's report on the financial statements for your any's most recently completed
financial year.

You must file your AIF within 10 day f% date of the AlF.
1.2 Revisions

If you revise your com|o’®§ AlIF after you have filed it, identify the revised
version as a “revised AlF".

Item 2  Table of Conte(%%Q

2.1 Table of Cor@

Include le of contents.

ltem 3 @)rate Structure
3.1Q§;e, Address and Incorporation

& State your company's full corporate name or, if your company is an
incorporated entity, the full name under which it exists and carries on business, and
the address(es) of your company's head and registered office.

(2) State the statute under which your company is incorporated, continued or

organized or, if your company is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the jurisdiction or
foreign jurisdiction under which it is established and exists. Describe the substance of

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 108



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

any material amendments to the articles or other constating or establishing documents
of your company.

3.2 Intercorporate Relationships

Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate relationships
among your company and its subsidiaries. For each subsidiary state: '\Q.)

(@) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the sm@ary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by your con&%’m 4

(b) the percentage of each class of restricted securities ojjhé/subsidiary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by y; mpany; and

(c) where it was incorporated, continued, formed or orgaﬁsgd.
INSTRUCTION '\O

You may omit a particular subsidiary if, at the most@ent financial year-end of your

company, q/

(1) the total assets of the subsidiary do no@é‘ed 10% of the consolidated assets
of your company;

of your company; and

(i) the revenue of the subsidiary géﬁt exceed 10% of the consolidated revenue

(i) the conditions in paragrQ'ﬁgﬁ and (ii) would be satisfied if you

(A) aggregated %@ﬁbsidiaries that may be omitted under paragraphs (i) and

(i), and
o

(B) ch he reference in those paragraphs from 10% to 20% .

Item 4 G@gl Development of the Business

4.1 Q& History

QQescribe how your company's business has developed over the last 3 completed
sdyncial years. Include only events, such as acquisitions or dispositions, or conditions

t have influenced the general development of the business. If your company
produces or distributes more than one product or provides more than one kind of
service, describe the products or services. Also discuss changes in your company's
business that you expect will occur during the current financial year.
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4.2  Significant Acquisitions

Disclose any significant acquisition completed by your company during its most
recently completed financial year for which disclosure is required under Part 8 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, by providing a brief
summary of the significant acquisition and stating whether your company has filedgs
Form 51-102F4 in respect of the acquisition. Q’\
Item 5 Describe the Business (l’

q N
5.1 General %q/

Describe the business of your company and its operatin@ments that are
reportable segments as those terms are described in the issu% GAAP. For each

reportable segment include: @

(@) Summary - For products or services, '\b‘
0] their principal markets; (]9
(i)  distribution methods; er K

(i) for each of the 2 m gaantly completed financial years, as dollar

amounts or as percentages, the reve each category of products or services that
accounted for 15% or more of tot solidated revenue for the applicable financial
year derived from &

A. % or transfers to joint ventures in which your company is
a participant or to entitie ich your company has an investment accounted for by

the equity method, \&
%9 sales to customers, other than those referred to in clause A,
outside the con{z ated entity, and
C. sales or transfers to controlling shareholders;

2 (iv)  if not fully developed, the stage of development of the products or
se@es and, if the products are not at the commercial production stage

\ A. the timing and stage of research and development
programs,

B. whether your company is conducting its own research and

development, is subcontracting out the research and development or is using a
combination of those methods, and
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C. the additional steps required to reach commercial production
and an estimate of costs and timing.

(b) Production and Services - The actual or proposed method of production
and, if your company provides services, the actual or proposed method of providing

services. %
N

(c) Specialized Skill and Knowledge - A description of any speciali %kill
and knowledge requirements and the extent to which the skill and knowledd€ are
available to your company. qé) R

(d) Competitive Conditions - The competitive conditions J r company's
principal markets and geographic areas, including, if reasQn®My possible, an
assessment of your company's competitive position.

(e) New Products - If you have publicly announc&@e introduction of a new
product, the status of the product. '\b‘

) Components - The sources, pricing{*@i availability of raw materials,
component parts or finished products. .

(9) Intangible Properties - The | ggnce, duration and effect of identifiable
intangible properties, such as brand n cwculation lists, copyrights, franchises,
licences, patents, software, subscripti § and trademarks, on the segment.

(h) Cycles - The exte&@

cyclical or seasonal.

hich the business of the reportable segment is

0] Economic %dence A description of any contract upon which your
company's business is 8nbSfantially dependent, such as a contract to sell the major part
of your company's p@%s or services or to purchase the major part of your company's
requirements for , Services or raw materials, or any franchise or licence or other
agreement to 1%] patent, formula, trade secret, process or trade name upon which
your compa siness depends.

(QS)Changes to Contracts -A description of any aspect of your company's
busi that you reasonably expect to be affected in the current financial year by
rerfggoliation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts, and the likely effect.

\ (k) Environmental Protection - The financial and operational effects of
environmental protection requirements on the capital expenditures, profit or loss and
competitive position of your company in the current financial year and the expected
effect in future years.
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)] Employees - The number of employees as at the most recent financial
year-end or the average number of employees over the year, whichever is more
meaningful to understand the business.

(m) Foreign Operations - Describe the dependence of your company and
any reportable segment upon foreign operations.

(n) Lending - With respect to your company's lending operations, disclo%tg?
investment policies and lending and investment restrictions. (l/

(2) Bankruptcy and Similar Procedures - Disclose the nature and r, S of any
bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings against the compary  oVany of its
subsidiaries, or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar dings by the
company or any of its subsidiaries, within the 3 most recently com financial years
or during or proposed for the current financial year.

(3) Reorganizations - Disclose the nature and results ofﬁ(@material reorganization
of your company or any of its subsidiaries within the 3 o&recently completed financial
years or completed during or proposed for the current@ocial year.

(4)  Social or Environmental Policies - If y (‘:‘Jﬂupany has implemented social or
environmental policies that are fundamenta@ 90ur operations, such as policies
regarding your company's relationship W@E nvironment or with the communities in

which it does business, or human righ licies, describe them and the steps your
company has taken to implement the@
5.2 Risk Factors «%

Disclose risk factors%%ing to your company and its business, such as cash
flow and liquidity proble any, experience of management, the general risks
inherent in the businesQcafried on by your company, environmental and health risks,
reliance on key per , regulatory constraints, economic or political conditions and
financial history other matter that would be most likely to influence an investor's
securities of your company. If there is a risk that securityholders of

decision to pur?
your compagg,may become liable to make an additional contribution beyond the price of
the securiyf; (Mclose that risk.

|NS4@§HONS

@ Disclose the risks in order of seriousness from the most serious to the least
rious.

(i) A risk factor should not be de-emphasized by including excessive caveats or
conditions.
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5.3 Companies with Asset-backed Securities Outstanding

If your company had asset-backed securities outstanding that were distributed
under a prospectus, disclose the following information:

(1) Payment Factors - A description of any events, covenants, standards %
preconditions that may reasonably be expected to affect the timing or amount
payments or distributions to be made under the asset-backed securities. (l/

(2) Underlying Pool of Assets - For the 3 most recently completed fif@ial years
of your company or the lesser period commencing on the first dat hich your
company had asset-backed securities outstanding, financial disc at described
the underlying pool of financial assets servicing the asset-backed s@es relating to

(@) the composition of the pool as of the end of ea@manual year or partial

period; «

(b) profit and losses from the pool on at le 'éﬂb;nnual basis or such shorter
period as is reasonable given the nature of the und pool of assets;

(© the payment, prepayment and ¢ h experience of the pool on at least
an annual basis or such shorter perlod reasonable given the nature of the
underlying pool of assets;

(d) servicing and other a %@aﬂve fees; and
c

(e) any S|gn|f|cant es experienced in the matters referred to in
paragraphs (a) through (d)

(2.1) If any of the fin% dlsclosure disclosed in accordance with subsection (2) has
been audited, discl existence and results of the audit.

3) Invest arameters The investment parameters applicable to investments
of any cash urpluses.

4) l@g)ent History - The amount of payments made during the 3 most recently

comp{e®M financial years or the lesser period commencing on the first date on which

yow¢cOmpany had asset-backed securities outstanding, in respect of principal and

wyrest or capital and yield, each stated separately, on asset-backed securities of your
mpany outstanding.

(5) Acceleration Event - The occurrence of any event that has led to, or with the

passage of time could lead to, the accelerated payment of principal, interest or capital of
asset-backed securities.
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(6) Principal Obligors - The identity of any principal obligors for the outstanding
asset-backed securities of your company, the percentage of the pool of financial assets
servicing the asset-backed securities represented by obligations of each principal
obligor and whether the principal obligor has filed an AIF in any jurisdiction or a
Form 10-K or Form 20-F in the United States.

INSTRUCTIONS Q.)
0] Present the information requested under subsection (2) in a manner thatp@les
a reader to easily determine the status of the events, covenants, stan&lrd and

preconditions referred to in subsection (1) of this item. S

(i) If the information required under subsection (2) s@

(A) is not compiled specifically on the pool of financia ets servicing the
asset-backed securities, but is compiled on a larger pool of th me assets from which
the securitized assets are randomly selected so that the p ance of the larger pool

is representative of the performance of the pool of secur}{&d assets, or

(B) inthe case of a new company, where oﬁool of financial assets servicing
the asset-backed securities will be randomly s ted from a larger pool of the same
assets so that the performance of the larn pool will be representative of the

performance of the pool of securitized asgejs t0 be created, a company may comply
with subsection (2) by providing the info@?n required based on the larger pool and

disclosing that it has done so.

5.4 Companies With Mlneray&; cts

If your company had@reral project, disclose the following information for each
project material to your co% :

Q) Project Des@n and Location

€) I(zg?ea (in hectares or other appropriate units) and the location of the

project. Q/

The nature and extent of your company's title to or interest in the project,
inc surface rights, obligations that must be met to retain the project and the
&ﬂ ilon date of claims, licences and other property tenure rights.

\ (c) The terms of any royalties, overrides, back-in rights, payments or other
agreements and encumbrances to which the project is subject.

(d)  All environmental liabilities to which the project is subject.
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(e)  The location of all known mineralized zones, mineral resources, mineral
reserves and mine workings, existing tailing ponds, waste deposits and important
natural features and improvements.

() To the extent known, the permits that must be acquired to conduct the
work proposed for the project and if the permits have been obtained.

(2)  Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiogra@?‘)

(&) The means of access to the property. q/

Q N
nature of

(b)  The proximity of the property to a population centre ar@%
transport.

(c) To the extent relevant to the mining project, the cIirﬁé)and length of the
operating season.

(d) The sufficiency of surface rights for minin rations, the availability and
sources of power, water, mining personnel, potenti \INngs storage areas, potential

waste disposal areas, heap leach pads areas and pm't/ al processing plant sites.

(e)  The topography, elevation and veg%t?on.

3) History Qg‘

€) The prior ownership evelopment of the property and ownership
changes and the type, amount, y and results of the exploration work undertaken
by previous owners, and any WuUs production on the property, to the extent known.

(b) If your com;@écquired a project within the 3 most recently completed
financial years or durin@\h¥ current financial year from, or intends to acquire a project
from, an informed p or promoter of your company or an associate or affiliate of an
informed person moter, the name of the vendor, the relationship of the vendor to
your company,Q the consideration paid or intended to be paid to the vendor.

eceive a greater than 5% interest in the consideration received or to be
the vendor referred to in paragraph (b).

(c) %6 the extent known, the name of every person that has received or is
expect

rece y

\Q Geological Setting - The regional, local and property geology.

(5) Exploration - The nature and extent of all exploration work conducted by, or on
behalf of, your company on the property, including

(@ the results of all surveys and investigations and the procedures and
parameters relating to surveys and investigations;
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(b) an interpretation of the exploration information;

(© whether the surveys and investigations have been carried out by your
company or a contractor and if by a contractor, the name of the contractor; and

(d) a discussion of the reliability or uncertainty of the data obtained in EQS
program. Q’\
(6) Mineralization - The mineralization encountered on the proEert / the

surrounding rock types and relevant geological controls, detailing length, i, depth
and continuity together with a description of the type, character and djgtribdtion of the

mineralization. : é

(7 Drilling - The type and extent of drilling, including the pro@nes followed and
an interpretation of all results.

(8) Sampling and Analysis - The sampling and assW including

(@) description of sampling methods andm@location, number, type, nature,
spacing or density of samples collected; Q“

(b) identification of any driIIingqtg ling or recovery factors that could
materially impact the accuracy or reliabili@ he results;

(© a discussion of th @Ie qguality and whether the samples are
representative and of any factor@ ay have resulted in sample biases;

(d) rock types, ge. cal controls, widths of mineralized zones, cut-off grades
and other parameters us stablish the sampling interval; and

(e) quality@l measures and data verification procedures.

9) Securit)(z%amples - The measures taken to ensure the validity and integrity of
samples tak%

(20) !Qgéal Resource and Mineral Reserve Estimates - The mineral resources
and al reserves, if any, including

§ (@) the quantity and grade or quality of each category of mineral resources
d mineral reserves;

(b) the key assumptions, parameters and methods used to estimate the
mineral resources and mineral reserves; and
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(c) the extent to which the estimate of mineral resources and mineral
reserves may be materially affected by metallurgical, environmental, permitting, legal,
title, taxation, socio-economic, marketing, political and other relevant issues.

(11) Mining Operations - For development properties and production properties, the
mining method, metallurgical process, production forecast, markets, contracts for sale of
products, environmental conditions, taxes, mine life and expected payback period%

capital. Q\

(12) Exploration and Development - A description of your company's rrgﬁ and
contemplated exploration or development activities. % S

INSTRUCTIONS sQ/

0] Disclosure regarding mineral exploration development or p ction activities on
material projects must comply with, and is subject to t imitations set out in,
Regulation 43-101 respecting Standards of Disclos for Mineral Projects

(chapter V-1.1, r. 15). Use the appropriate terminology tgk scribe mineral reserves and
mineral resources. Base the disclosure on a techr@n report, or other information,

prepared by or under the supervision of a qualified pﬂL

(i) You may satisfy the disclosure requireﬂ?é‘ in section 5.4 by reproducing the
summary from the technical report on tl?_rﬁn erial property, and incorporating the
detailed disclosure in the technical report@ the AIF by reference.

@ii)  In giving the information r d under section 5.4 include the nature of
ownership interests, such as feej sts, leasehold interests, royalty interests and any

other types and variations of on ship interests.

5.5 Companies with Cnbotcﬁ Gas Activities

If your cor@ is engaged in oil and gas activities as defined in
Regulation 51-10 pecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities

(chapter V-1.1, ), disclose the following information:

(2) Re@s Data and Other Information

?‘ In the case of information that, for purposes of Form 51-101F1 Statement

of R¢s€rves Data and Other Oil and Gas Information, is to be prepared as at the end of

Ypancial year, disclose that information as at your company's most recently completed
WYancial year-end.

(b) In the case of information that, for purposes of Form 51-101F1, is to be

prepared for a financial year, disclose that information for your company's most recently
completed financial year.
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(c) (paragraph revoked).

(2) Report of Independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator or Auditor - Include
with the disclosure under subsection (1) a report in the form of Form 51-101F2 Report
on Reserves Data by Independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator or Auditor, on the
reserves data included in the disclosure required under subsection (1).

report in the form of Form 51-101F3 Report of Management and Directors on nd

3) Report of Management -Include with the disclosure under subsection gi}f?
Gas Disclosure under Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure&r and

Gas Activities that refers to the information disclosed under subsection (1).(]/ S

4) Material Changes — To the extent not reflected in the infor disclosed in
response to subsection (1), disclose the information contempl by Part 6 of
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil Gas Activities in

respect of material changes that occurred after your c@oany’s most recently
completed financial year-end.

INSTRUCTION Q
The information presented in response to seghion %.5 must be in accordance with
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Di ?e for Oil and Gas Activities.

ltem 6 Dividends and Distributions Qg
6.1 Dividends and Distributio &

(2) Disclose the amount o ’z&h dividends or distributions declared per security for
each class of your compa securities for each of the 3 most recently completed

financial years. %
(2) Describe any@:tion that could prevent your company from paying dividends
or distributions. Q‘
3) Discl gour company’s current dividend policy and any intended change in
dividend pQTiQy
Ite OzDescription of Capital Structure
\é General Description of Capital Structure

Describe your company's capital structure. State the description or the
designation of each class of authorized security, and describe the material
characteristics of each class of authorized security, including voting rights, provisions for

exchange, conversion, exercise, redemption and retraction, dividend rights and rights
upon dissolution or winding-up.
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INSTRUCTION

This section requires only a brief summary of the provisions that are material from a
securityholder's standpoint. The provisions attaching to different classes of securities do
not need to be set out in full. This summary should include the disclosure required in
subsection 10.1(1) of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligation%

7.2 Constraints (19

If there are constraints imposed on the ownership of securities of y, dmpany
to ensure that your company has a required level of Canadian ownershty, &éscribe the
mechanism, if any, by which the level of Canadian ownership of the&ﬂties is or will
be monitored and maintained. 50

7.3 Ratings
<O

(2) If you have asked for and received a credit ratingmr if you are aware that you
have received any other kind of rating, including a staﬁl\y rating or a provisional rating,
from one or more credit rating organizations for ties of your company that are
outstanding, or will be outstanding, and the ratin%r\r ings continue in effect, disclose

(@) each rating received from a crgyit rating organization;

(b)  for each rating disclos er paragraph (a), the name of the credit
rating organization that has assign @ ating;

(c) a definition or Q’sgci tion of the category in which each credit rating
organization rated the se es and the relative rank of each rating within the
organization’s overall clasgition system;

(d) an ex@n of what the rating addresses and what attributes, if any, of
the securities are, dressed by the rating;

(e) ?{r{&factors or considerations identified by the credit rating organization as
giving rise usual risks associated with the securities;

a statement that a credit rating or a stability rating is not a
re%\mendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision or
r

\@ awal at any time by the credit rating organization; and
(9) any announcement made by, or any proposed announcement known to
your company that is to be made by, a credit rating organization to the effect that the

organization is reviewing or intends to revise or withdraw a rating previously assigned
and required to be disclosed under this section.
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(2) If payments were, or reasonably will be, made to a credit rating organization that
provided a rating described in subsection (1), state that fact and state whether any
payments were made to the credit rating organization in respect of any other service
provided to your company by the credit rating organization during the last 2 years.

INSTRUCTIONS

rating organization when they give a rating. For example, in the case of cas led

There may be factors relating to a security that are not addressed by a #52?
derivative instruments, factors in addition to the creditworthiness of the issusr, s§h as

the continued subsistence of the underlying interest or the volatility of the Value or

level of the underlying interest may be reflected in the rating analysjg. ther than
being addressed in the rating itself, these factors may be describe credit rating
organization by way of a superscript or other notation to a ratin such attributes

must be discussed in the disclosure under section 7.3.

A provisional rating received before the company*@st recently completed
financial year is not required to be disclosed under sectigr\‘&&

Item 8 Market for Securities (]9

: : Q“
8.1 Trading Price and Volume ('b
Q) For each class of securities of acompany that is traded or quoted on a
Canadian marketplace, identify the tplace and the price ranges and volume
traded or quoted on the Canadian place on which the greatest volume of trading

or quotation generally occurs. &

(2) If a class of securiti
marketplace, but is trad

your company is not traded or quoted on a Canadian
guoted on a foreign marketplace, identify the foreign
marketplace and th ranges and volume traded or quoted on the foreign
marketplace on whi@&xgreatest volume of trading or quotation generally occurs.

3) Provide @formaﬁon required under subsections (1) and (2) on a monthly
basis for ea% h or, if applicable, partial months of the most recently completed
financial y,

8.2 tr Sales

§ For each class of securities of your company that is outstanding but not listed or

oted on a marketplace, state the price at which securities of the class have been
issued during the most recently completed financial year by your company, the number
of securities of the class issued at that price, and the date on which the securities were
issued.
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Item 9 Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restriction
on Transfer

9.1 Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restriction on
Transfer

(1)  State, in substantially the following tabular form, the number of securities of ea%
class of your company held, to your company’s knowledge, in escrow or that are s@g
to a contractual restriction on transfer and the percentage that number represenm the

outstanding securities of that class for your company’s most recently .conleted
financial year. q/ S
ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT %
TO CONTRACTUAL RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER AN
Designation of class Number of securities held in Percenl%@fvclass

escrow or that are subject to a

contractual restriction on transfer | , G

and conditions governing the release of the secUflyi®8 from escrow or the date the
contractual restriction on transfer ends, as applk@g‘.

o

INSTRUCTIONS Q‘

(2) In a note to the table disclose the name of t@sitory, if any, and the date of

0] For the purposes of this item w includes securities subject to a pooling
agreement. @

(i) For the purposes of t@em, securities subject to contractual restrictions on
transfer as a result of pledg de to lenders are not required to be disclosed.

ltem 10 Directors a@cers
10.1 Name, OcQQion and Security Holding

(1) List tie,n2me, province or state, and country of residence of each director and
executive (0 r of your company and indicate their respective positions and offices
held wi our company and their respective principal occupations during the 5
pre years.

@ State the period or periods during which each director has served as a director
d when his or her term of office will expire.

(3)  State the number and percentage of securities of each class of voting securities

of your company or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or directed,
directly or indirectly, by all directors and executive officers of your company as a group.
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4) Identify the members of each committee of the board.

(5) If the principal occupation of a director or executive officer of your company is
acting as an officer of a person other than your company, disclose that fact and state
the principal business of the person.

INSTRUCTION %

For the purposes of subsection (3), securities of subsidiaries of your company re
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by difectéfs or
executive officers through ownership, or control or direction, directly or ir\c}éﬂy, over
securities of your company, do not need to be included.

10.2 Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctio %

If a director or executive officer of your company is, a the date of the AIF, or
was within 10 years before the date of the AlF, a director, ¢ ecutive officer or chief
financial officer of any company (including your compan);)\,mat:

(@) was subject to an order that was iss(r't?while the director or executive
officer was acting in the capacity as director, q@ei xecutive officer or chief financial

officer, rb
: &

(b)  was subject to an or at was issued after the director or executive
officer ceased to be a director, ¢ ecutive officer or chief financial officer and which
resulted from an event that d while that person was acting in the capacity as
director, chief executive off@r chief financial officer, state the fact and describe the
basis on which the order ade and whether the order is still in effect.

(1.1) Forthe purp@ subsection (1), “order” means any of the following, if in effect
for a period of mQ‘ n 30 consecutive days:

@) Q/c ase trade order;

NS,

an order similar to a cease trade order; or

C) an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under

%uQrities legislation.
N\

(1.2) If a director or executive officer of your company, or a shareholder holding a
sufficient number of securities of your company to affect materially the control of your
company
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(@) is, as at the date of the AIF, or has been within the 10 years before the
date of the AIF, a director or executive officer of any company (including your company)
that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person
ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings,
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or
trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or %

(b) has, within the 10 years before the date of the AIF, become b@@ipt,
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, Qr b&ome
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise With-%mors, or
had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assetg of director,
executive officer or shareholder, state the fact. %

(2) Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounB; WhICh they were
imposed, or the terms of the settlement agreement and the ci @I ances that gave rise
to the settlement agreement, if a director or executive of f your company, or a
shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities your company to affect
materially the control of your company, has been subj%eho

(@) any penalties or sanctions impoged My a court relating to securities
legislation or by a securities regulatory aut@ or has entered into a settlement
agreement with a securities regulatory aut

(b)  any other penalties or ns imposed by a court or regulatory body
that would likely be conS|dered ant to a reasonable investor in making an
investment decision.

(3) Despite subsection no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement
entered into before Dece 1, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be important
to a reasonable investo@q aking an investment decision.

INSTRUCTIONS

personal g companies of any of the persons referred to in subsections (1), (1.2)

0] The&%sure required by subsections (1), (1.2) and (2) also applies to any

and (2 (é
(||) management cease trade order which applies to directors or executive officers
company is an “order” for the purposes of paragraph 10.2(1)(a) and must be
closed, whether or not the director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer
was named in the order.

(i) A late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies to the late filing of an insider
report, is not a “penalty or sanction” for the purposes of section 10.2.
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(iv)  The disclosure in paragraph 10.2(1)(a) only applies if the director or executive
officer was a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer when the order was
issued against the company. You do not have to provide disclosure if the director or
executive officer became a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer after
the order was issued.

10.3 Conflicts of Interest %

Disclose patrticulars of existing or potential material conflicts of interest men
your company or a subsidiary of your company and any director or offiger your
company or of a subsidiary of your company. S) S

Item 11 Promoters ‘é%
11.1 Promoters 50

For a person that has been, within the 2 most recenlﬂ\gnpleted financial years
or during the current financial year, a promoter of your @(’npany or of a subsidiary of
your company, state

Q
(@)  the person name; q/

Q-
(b)  the number and percentage Q:;;\g class of voting securities and equity
securities of your company or any of its % laries beneficially owned, or controlled or
directed, directly or indirectly;

(c) the nature and ary@ anything of value, including money, property,
k

contracts, options or rights g ind received or to be received by the promoter
directly or indirectly from y mpany or from a subsidiary of your company, and the
nature and amount of a&ets, services or other consideration received or to be
received by your com a subsidiary of your company in return; and

or during the c financial year, or an asset to be acquired, by your company or by a

(d) f?%;get acquired within the 3 most recently completed financial years
t
subsidiary of4ou* company from a promoter

C)(i) the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by
whi consideration has been or will be determined;

§ (i) the person making the determination referred to in subparagraph (i)
d the person relationship with your company, the promoter, or an associate or affiliate
of your company or of the promoter; and

(i)  the date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and the cost
of the asset to the promoter.
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Iltem 12 Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions
12.1 Legal Proceedings

(1) Describe any legal proceedings your company is or was a party to, or that any of
its property is or was the subject of, during your company’s financial year.

(2) Describe any such legal proceedings your company knows to be contempla®©

the court or agency, the date instituted, the principal parties to the pr Mg, the
nature of the claim, the amount claimed, if any, whether the proch is being
contested, and the present status of the proceeding.

INSTRUCTION 50

You do not need to give information with respect to any proesqgg that involves a claim
for damages if the amount involved, exclusive of in@@nd costs, does not exceed

3) For each proceeding described in subsections (1) and (2), include the na#he of
Qd%’ ?j

10% of the current assets of your company. Howeya{,\ any proceeding presents in
large degree the same legal and factual issues as af?/ proceedings pending or known
to be contemplated, you must include the amm@in olved in the other proceedings in
computing the percentage. rb K

12.2 Regulatory Actions &
Describe any Q/@%

(@) penalties or san@ﬁs Imposed against your company by a court relating
to securities legislation or b)Q/ curities regulatory authority during your financial year,

(b) any other\gemalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body
against your comp, hat would likely be considered important to a reasonable

investor in makin vestment decision, and

(c) @%ement agreements your company entered into before a court relating
to securiti gislation or with a securities regulatory authority during your financial

year. Q~

IN CTION

u do not need to give information with respect to any proceeding that involves a claim
for damages if the amount involved, exclusive of interest and costs, does not
exceed 10% of the current assets of your company. However, if any proceeding
presents in large degree the same legal and factual issues as other proceedings
pending or known to be contemplated, you must include the amount involved in the
other proceedings in computing the percentage.
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Item 13 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions
13.1 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions

Describe, and state the approximate amount of, any material interest, direct or
indirect, of any of the following persons in any transaction within the 3 most recerﬂzs
completed financial years or during the current financial year that has materially af bhe
or is reasonably expected to materially affect your company: (l/

(a) adirector or executive officer of your company; (\9 °

(b)  a person that beneficially owns, or controls or directs, d@for indirectly,
more than 10% of any class or series of your outstanding voting se%' s; and

(© an associate or affiliate of any of the persons i{f@ to in paragraphs (a)

N

INSTRUCTIONS Q

or (b).

0] The materiality of the interest is to be detggmin€d on the basis of the significance
of the information to investors in light of all the € Mstances of the particular case. The
importance of the interest to the person @i the interest, the relationship of the
parties to the transaction with each ot nd the amount involved are among the
factors to be considered in deterpd the significance of the information to
securityholders.

(i) This Item does not ap ’%&y interest arising from the ownership of securities
of your company if the sec older receives no extra or special benefit or advantage
not shared on an equal y all other holders of the same class of securities or all

other holders of the sa@ ss of securities who are resident in Canada.

person whose i st in any transaction is described and the nature of the relationship

(i)  Give a tl)ri&@cription of the material transactions. Include the name of each
to your comgny?

(iv) @y transaction involving the purchase of assets by or sale of assets to your
co r a subsidiary of your company, state the cost of the assets to the purchaser,
an&he cost of the assets to the seller if acquired by the seller within 3 years before the

saction.
A\

(v) You do not need to give information under this Item for a transaction if

(A) the rates or charges involved in the transaction are fixed by law or
determined by competitive bids,
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(B) the interest of a specified person in the transaction is solely that of a
director of another company that is a party to the transaction,

(C) the transaction involves services as a bank or other depository of funds, a
transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust indenture or other similar services, or

(D) the transaction does not involve remuneration for services and the inter
of the specified person arose from the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, @
than 10% of any class of equity securities of another company that is partr&the
transaction and the transaction is in the ordinary course of business of your &np ny or
A

your company's subsidiaries. q/

(vi)  Describe all transactions not excluded above that involve rem on (including
an issuance of securities), directly or indirectly, to any of the \fled persons for
services in any capacity unless the interest of the person a solely from the

beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, of less than 10% of an@ass of equity securities
of another company furnishing the services to your c y Or your company's
subsidiaries.

Item 14 Transfer Agents and Registrars (]9
14.1 Transfer Agents and Registrars er“

State the name of your compan %ansfer agent(s) and registrar(s) and the
location (by municipalities) of the regii of transfers of each class of securities.

ltem 15 Material Contracts /&
15.1 Material Contracts %Q

Give particulars &\afy material contract

(@) req@o be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation at the time this
AlF is filed, as ired under section 12.3 of the Regulation, or

time th is filed, as required under section 12.3 of the Regulation, but for the fact
that @ previously filed.

UCTIONS
Ny

(1) You must give particulars of any material contract that was entered into within the
last financial year or before the last financial year but is still in effect, and that is required
to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation or would be required to be filed under
section 12.2 of the Regulation but for the fact that it was previously filed. You do not
need to give particulars of a material contract that was entered into

(b) g%,uld be required to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation at the
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before January 1, 2002 because these material contracts are not required to be filed
under section 12.2 of the Regulation.

(i) Set out a complete list of all contracts for which particulars must be given under
this item, indicating those that are disclosed elsewhere in the AlF. Particulars need only
be provided for those contracts that do not have the particulars given elsewhere in the

AlF. '\%

(i)  Particulars of contracts must include the dates of, parties to, consi@i/%ion

provided for in, and general nature and key terms of, the contracts.
A

Item 16 Interests of Experts %q/
16.1 Names of Experts 50%

Name each person O

(@) who is named as having prepared or '}ied a report, valuation,
statement or opinion described or included in a fiIin%Zx referred to in a filing, made
under Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous‘l{ closure Obligations by your
company during, or relating to, your company's Oit ecently completed financial year;

and rb

(b)  whose profession or busir@g gives authority to the report, valuation,

statement or opinion made by the per§©
16.2 Interests of Experts /&

(1) Disclose all registereﬁ beneficial interests, direct or indirect, in any securities
or other property of your (@ ny or of one of your associates or affiliates

(@) held @expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not an
individual, by tr& ated professionals of that expert, when that expert prepared the

report, valuatio tement or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a);

individ the designated professionals of that expert, after the time specified in
pargdiayh 16.2(1)(a); or

§ (© to be received by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not
individual, by the designated professionals of that expert.

(b) S%ceived by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not an

(1.1) For the purposes of subsection (1), a “designated professional” means, in
relation to an expert named in section 16.1,
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(@) each partner, employee or consultant of the expert who participated in and
who was in a position to directly influence the preparation of the report, valuation,
statement or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a); and

(b)  each partner, employee or consultant of the expert who was, at any time
during the preparation of the report, valuation, statement or opinion referred to in
paragraph 16.1(a), in a position to directly influence the outcome of the preparationqi.s
the report, valuation, statement or opinion, including, without limitation Q\

(1) any person who recommends the compensation of oM who
provides direct supervisory, management or other oversight of, the partner(ﬁ)h)yee or
consultant in the performance of the preparation of the report, valuati s¥ltement or
opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a), including those at all succes@senior levels

through to the expert's chief executive officer; Q

(i) any person who provides consultatio garding technical or
industry-specific issues, transactions or events for the aration of the report,
valuation, statement or opinion referred to in paragraph W(a); and

(i) any person who provides quali(?&ntrol for the preparation of the
report, valuation, statement or opinion referred twe ragraph 16.1(a).

(2) For the purposes of subsection (@e person's interest in the securities
represents less than 1% of your outstaQ/ securities of the same class, a general
statement to that effect is sufficient. %

itor who is independent in accordance with the
uct in a jurisdiction of Canada or who has performed
an audit in accordance with PCAOB GAAS or U.S. AICPA GAAS is not required to
provide the disclosure i%ﬁsection (1) if there is disclosure that the auditor is
independent in accor with the auditor's rules of professional conduct in a
jurisdiction of Cana@%?hat the auditor has complied with the SEC's rules on auditor

independence. Q‘
%

(3) Ifap or a director, officer or employee of a person referred to in subsection
(1) is or i ected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or
our company or of any associate or affiliate of your company, disclose the
ectation.

&%?UCTIONS

0] (paragraph revoked);

(2.1) Despite subsection (1),
auditor's rules of professional Q

(i) Section 16.2 does not apply to
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(A) auditors of a business acquired by your company provided they have not

been or will not be appointed as your company's auditor subsequent to the acquisition,
and

(B) your company's predecessor auditors, if any, for periods when they were
not your company's auditor.

(i)  Section 16.2 does not apply to registered or beneficial interests, direct or in@g’t?
held through mutual funds.

ltem 17 Additional Information (]9“
17.1 Additional Information s@

(1) Disclose that additional information relating to your compég?may be found on
SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

(2) If your company is required to distribute a @m 51-102F5 to any of its
securityholders, include a statement that additional ir@r tion, including directors' and
officers’' remuneration and indebtedness, principal I'ttlﬁ] s of your company's securities
and securities authorized for issuance under equity cdmpensation plans, if applicable, is
contained in your company's information circ ? its most recent annual meeting of
securityholders that involved the election on@ ors.

(3) Include a statement that addj financial information is provided in your
company's financial statements a &A for its most recently completed financial
year. «

INSTRUCTION %Q

Your company may als %required to provide additional information in its AlF as set
out in Form 52-110 it Committee Information Required in an AlF.

Item 18 AddiQ%| Disclosure for Companies Not Sending Information Circulars

18.1 Ad@al Disclosure

2 companies that are not required to send a Form 51-102F5 to any of their
sedityholders, disclose the information required under Items 6 to 10, 12 and 13 of
\ 51-102F5, as modified below, if applicable:
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Form 51-102-F5 Reference

Modification

ltem 6 -Voting Securities and Principal
Holders of Voting Securities

Include the disclosure specified in section 6.1 without
regard to the phrase “entitled to be voted at the
meeting”. Do not include the disclosure specified in
sections 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4. Include the disclosure
specified in section 6.5.

Iltem 7 - Election of Directors

v

Disregard the preamble of section 7.1. Include MRe-
disclosure specified in section 7.1 without regarfb he
d

Item 8 - Executive Compensation

word “proposed” throughout. Do not incl the
disclosure specified in section 7.3.

AD*
Disregard the preamble and paragra (¥ (b) and (c)
of ltem 8. A company that Q/not send a
management information circula securityholders
must  provide the dis e required by

Form 51-102F6.

O

Item 9 - Securities Authorized for Issuance
under Equity Compensation Plans

Disregard subsection $N)-

\a

ltem 10 - Indebtedness of Directors and
Executive Officers

replace the phrgge “date of the informtion circular” with
“date %oﬂt e AIF" throughout. Disregard

paragr% .3(a).

Include the c!s%@u?e specified throughout; however,

Item 12 - Appointment of Auditor

N

O

th auditor. If the auditor was first appointed
< n the last 5 years, state the date when the auditor

as first appointed.

A4
M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102EX % 2005-25, s. 3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 39; M.O. 2007-08,
s. 7; M.O. 2008-06, s. d 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 29;
M.O. 2011-02, s. 2; M% 2-05, s. 3; M.O. 2013-09, s. 2.
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FORM 51-102F3 MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT

PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

(@) Confidentiality

If this Report is filed on a confidential basis, state in block capit%
“CONFIDENTIAL” at the beginning of the Report. Q’\

Oy«

Wherever this Form uses the word “company” the term includeg otivér types of

(b)  Use of “Company”

business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other uninc ed business

entities. Q
D)

(¢) Numbering and Headings O

guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to, item need not be repeated

elsewhere q/

(d) Defined Terms er“

The numbering, headings and ordering of the iée@g included in this Form are

g?orm, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102

ations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14-101 respecting Defi (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
Form and is defined in both ecurities statute of a local jurisdiction and in

Regulation 51-102 respecting inuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of
Regulation 51-102 respecti ntinuous Disclosure Obligations.
(e) Plain Language\&%

Write the t so that readers are able to understand it. Consider both the

If a term is used but not defined i
respecting Continuous Disclosure

level of detail ided and the language used in the document. Refer to the plain
language pgficiptes listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respectin inuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20).

hnical terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.
PAQF CONTENT OF MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT
m 1 Name and Address of Company

State the full name of your company and the address of its principal office in
Canada.
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Item 2  Date of Material Change
State the date of the material change.
Item 3  News Release

State the date and method(s) of dissemination of the news release issued 6’@
section 7.1 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations. (l/

Item 4  Summary of Material Change q/ R

Provide a brief but accurate summary of the nature and subst@ the material

change.
»

Item 5  Full Description of Material Change @
5.1  Full Description of Material Change '\b‘

Supplement the summary required under | 94 with sufficient disclosure to
enable a reader to appreciate the significancgyan¥ impact of the material change
without having to refer to other material. @é‘ement is in the best position to
determine what facts are significant and st’disclose those facts in a meaningful
manner. See also Item 7. Q/

Some examples of significa relating to the material change include: dates,
parties, terms and conditions, tion of any assets, liabilities or capital affected,
purpose, financial or dollar v easons for the change, and a general comment on
the probable impact on thegr or its subsidiaries. Specific financial forecasts would
not normally be required. %

Other additi@sclosure may be appropriate depending on the particular

situation. Q‘

5.2 Disclgsure for Restructuring Transactions

%@l’em applies to a material change report filed in respect of the closing of a
rest L@ Ing transaction under which securities are to be changed, exchanged, issued
or 8gtrbuted. This item does not apply if, in respect of the transaction, your company

t an information circular to its securityholders or filed a prospectus or a securities
change takeover bid circular.

Include the disclosure for each entity that resulted from the restructuring
transaction, if your company has an interest in that entity, required by section 14.2 of
Form 51-102F5. You may satisfy the requirement to include this disclosure by
incorporating the information by reference to another document.
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INSTRUCTIONS

(1) If your company is engaged in oil and gas activities, the disclosure under Item 5
must also satisfy the requirements of Part 6 of Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards
of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23).

the referenced document or any excerpt from it. Unless you have already f the
referenced document or excerpt, you must file it with the material change pepo¥’ You
must also disclose that the document is on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 5) S

(i) If you incorporate information by reference to another document, clearly |$h§9

Iltem 6  Reliance on subsection 7.1(2) of Regulation 51-102 &

If this Report is being filed on a confidential basis in relianc subsection 7.1(2)
of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Okzl{@)ns, state the reasons

for such reliance.
,\b&

INSTRUCTION Q

Disclosure Obligations concerning continuin i@ations in respect of reports filed
under subsection 7.1(2) of Regulation Q‘ respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations.

ltem 7 Omitted Information &

State whether any infonQ{@ﬁio%has been omitted on the basis that it is confidential

information. Q/
@

In a separate le 0 the securities regulatory authority marked “Confidential”
provide the reasons@ur company's omission of confidential significant facts in the
Report in suffici tail to permit the applicable securities regulatory authority to
determine wh to exercise its discretion to allow the omission of these significant

facts. Q/

INSTR\Q&NS
In Qtaln circumstances where a material change has occurred and a Report has been
about to be filed but subsection 7.1(2) or (5) of Regulation 51-102 respecting
ntinuous Disclosure Obligations is not or will no longer be relied upon, your company
may nevertheless believe one or more significant facts otherwise required to be

disclosed in the Report should remain confidential and not be disclosed or not be
disclosed in full detail in the Report.

Refer to subsections 7.1(5), (6) and (7) of Re Iaﬂkn 51-102 respecting Continuous
-1%
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Item 8 Executive Officer
Give the name and business telephone number of an executive officer of your

company who is knowledgeable about the material change and the Report, or the name
of an officer through whom such executive officer may be contacted.

Oy«
M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 40; M.O. 2008-10, s. % 2008-18,

s. 13. %
»

Item 9  Date of Report

Date the Report.
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FORM 51-102F4 BUSINESS ACQUISITION REPORT
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of Business Acquisition Report

Your company must file a Business Acquisition Report after completing
significant acquisition. See Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Conti
Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24). The Business Acquisition

describes the significant businesses acquired by your company and the e&ct f the
acquisition on your company.

%
(b)  Use of “Company” %@

Wherever this Form uses the word “company”, the term in es other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and otmincorporated business

entities.
,\b&

(c) Focus on Relevant Information Q

When providing the disclosure required thi$ Form, focus your discussion on
information that is relevant to an investor, anal ‘bther reader.

(d) Incorporating Material By Refer@g

You may incorporate inform
document. Clearly identify the
incorporate into this Report.
excerpt, including any do
excerpt, you must file it wi

SEDAR at Www.sedar.$.

(e) Defined T,

equired by this Form, by reference to another
nced document, or any excerpt of it, that you
you have already filed the referenced document or
nts incorporated by reference into the document or
Report. You must also disclose that the document is on

If at gused but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respectin tinuous Disclosure Obligations and to Regulation 14-101 respecting
Definitiafk apter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this Form and is defined in both the
sec @ statute of a local jurisdiction and in Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
Dissgosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102

ecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20)
\0 further guidance.

This Form also uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
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® Plain Language

Write this Report so that readers are able to understand it. Consider both the
level of detail provided and the language used in the document. Refer to the plain
language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use techm%
terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.

(@0 Numbering and Headings (l/

guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item nee be repeated

PART 2 CONTENT OF BUSINESS ACQUISITION REPC@'5

A

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included@ Form are

elsewhere in the Report.

Item 1  Identity of Company '\b‘
1.1 Name and Address of Company (]9
State the full name of your company Re address of its principal office in
Canada. Q‘
1.2 Executive Officer %Q/
Give the name and busi lephone number of an executive officer of your

company who is knowledgea ut the significant acquisition and the Report, or the
name of an officer through @\ such executive officer may be contacted.
Item 2  Details of A@{%tlon
2.1  Nature of ess Acquired
Desc@%e nature of the business acquired.
2.2 Qg‘esmon Date
QQtate the acquisition date used for accounting purposes.
\X Consideration
Disclose the type and amount of consideration, both monetary and non-

monetary, paid or payable by your company in connection with the significant
acquisition, including contingent consideration. Identify the source of funds used by your
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company for the acquisition, including a description of any financing associated with the
acquisition.

2.4 Effect on Financial Position

Describe any plans or proposals for material changes in your business affairs or
the affairs of the acquired business which may have a significant effect on the finan
performance and financial position of your company. Examples include any prop 6@
liquidate the business, to sell, lease or exchange all or a substantial part of its avr%, to
amalgamate the business with any other business organization or to make terial
changes to your business or the business acquired such as changes@é‘rporate
structure, management or personnel.

2.5 Prior Valuations %
N

Describe in sufficient detail any valuation opinion op@ayed within the last 12
months by the acquired business or your company required/®y Securities legislation or a
Canadian exchange or market to support the considera paid by your company or
any of its subsidiaries for the business, including the r@e of the author, the date of the
opinion, the business to which the opinion relates, (f]/ alue attributed to the business
and the valuation methodologies used. Q“

o

2.6 Parties to Transaction Q‘

State whether the transaction i
your company and, if so, the ideniji

company. &
2.7 Date of Report %Q
<

Date the Report.\&

[tem 3 Finaan@atements and Other Information

an informed person, associate or affiliate of
d the relationship of the other parties to your

Inclu & financial statements or other information required by Part 8 of
02 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations. If applicable, disclose
ffors have not given their consent to include their audit report in this Report.

M.é(M)S-OB, Sch. 51-102F4; M.0O. 2006-04, s. 41; M.O. 2008-18, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17,
0.

Ny
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FORM 51-102F5 INFORMATION CIRCULAR

PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

(@) Timing of Information

The information required by this Form 51-102F5 must be given as of a specifi
date not more than 30 days prior to the date you first send the information circ

any securityholder of the company. (l/
(b)  Use of “Company” (]9 S
Wherever this Form uses the word “company”, the term incl her types of

business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other unigcWorated business
entities.

(c) Incorporating Information by Reference '@

circular by reference to another document. Clearly ¢ ify the referenced document or
any excerpt of it that you incorporate into your~pfoMnation circular. Unless you have
already filed the referenced document or excer(h é‘luding any documents incorporated
by reference into the document or excerpt, y3u must file it with your information circular.
You must also disclose that the docqu6 on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and that,
upon request, you will promptly provi % py of any such document free of charge to
a securityholder of the company, ever, you may not incorporate information
required to be included in Form F6 by reference into your information circular.

You may incorporate information required ;tt(%é\mcluded in your information

(d) Defined Terms Qg

If a term is used tc'r?ot defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Contin@Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14-10 ecting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
Form and is %l?@d in both the securities statute of the local jurisdiction and in
Regulation 102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of
Policy St nt to Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(Decisi 2-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20) for further guidance.

% is Form also uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
%A applicable to publicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see

bsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
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(e) Plain Language

Write this document so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical

terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner. '\Q.)
()] Numbering and Headings (19

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in t '%&m are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need repeated
elsewhere.

(g) Tables and Figures 50

Where it is practicable and appropriate, present inforfﬂq@n in tabular form. State

all amounts in figures. '\b‘
(h)  Omitting Information (]9

You do not need to respond to any ite@ “this Form that is inapplicable. You
may also omit information that is not k to the person on whose behalf the
solicitation is made and that is not reaso within the power of the person to obtain, if
you briefly state the circumstances th er the information unavailable.

You may omit informatio %a was contained in another information circular,

notice of meeting or form o y sent to the same persons whose proxies were
solicited in connection wit same meeting, as long as you clearly identify the
particular document contaM the information.

PART 2 CONT@

ltem 1 DateQQ‘

Sp@ﬁe date of the information circular.

ItezezRevocability of Proxy

@ State whether the person giving the proxy has the power to revoke it. If any right
revocation is limited or is subject to compliance with any formal procedure, briefly
describe the limitation or procedure.
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Item 3  Persons Making the Solicitation

3.1 If a solicitation is made by or on behalf of management of the company, state
this. Name any director of the company who has informed management in writing that
he or she intends to oppose any action intended to be taken by management at the
meeting and indicate the action that he or she intends to oppose. '\Q.)

3.2 If a solicitation is made other than by or on behalf of managemen?ﬁthe
company, state this and give the name of the person by whom, or on whose Seh , itis
A

made. q/

3.3 If the solicitation is to be made other than by mail, describe, ethod to be
employed. If the solicitation is to be made by specially engaged e ees or soliciting
agents, state,

(@) the parties to and material features of any corﬂq@or arrangement for the
solicitation; and '\b‘

(b) the cost or anticipated cost thereof. (]9
3.4  State who has borne or will bear, directl@n‘ﬁirectly, the cost of soliciting.
Item 4  Proxy Instructions Qg

4.1  The information circular or rm of proxy to which the information circular
relates must indicate in bold-fac that the securityholder has the right to appoint a
person to represent the secxéha der at the meeting other than the person, if any,
designated in the form of pr, nd must contain instructions as to the manner in which
the securityholder may ex& the right.

4.2  The informatj ‘rcular or the form of proxy to which the information circular
relates must stat the securities represented by the proxy will be voted or withheld
from voting in Qc rdance with the instructions of the securityholder on any ballot that
may be callgg), fo¥ and that, if the securityholder specifies a choice with respect to any
matter to k@%fed upon, the securities will be voted accordingly.

4.3 @1% information circular must include the following, if applicable:

g €) a statement that the reporting issuer is sending proxy-related materials to
istered holders or beneficial owners using notice-and-access, and if stratification will
be used, a description of the types of registered holders or beneficial owners who will
receive paper copies of the information circular and, if applicable, the documents in
paragraph 9.1.1(2)(b);
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(b) a statement that the reporting issuer is sending proxy-related materials
directly to non-objecting beneficial owners under Regulation 54-101 respecting
Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(chapter V-1.1, r. 29);

(© a statement that management of the reporting issuer does not intend to
pay for intermediaries to forward to objecting beneficial owners un(@
Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securitie, b(
Reporting Issuer the proxy-related materials and Form 54-101F7 — Request fo Qing
Instructions Made by Intermediary, and that in the case of an objecting benefj iaﬂﬂvner,
the objecting beneficial owner will not receive the materials unless péybjecting
beneficial owner’s intermediary assumes the cost of delivery.

ltem 5 Interest of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted U %

Briefly describe any material interest, direct or indi Py way of beneficial
ownership of securities or otherwise, of each of the follow rsons in any matter to
be acted upon other than the election of directors or the a@pintment of auditors:

€) if the solicitation is made by or on beiﬂ% management of the company,
each person who has been a director or execupye dfficer of the company at any time
since the beginning of the company's last financy gar;

(b) if the solicitation is made o an by or on behalf of management of the
company, each person by whom, whose behalf, directly or indirectly, the
solicitation is made; %

(© each proposed r@’&nee for election as a director of the company; and

(d) each associ r affiliate of any of the persons listed in paragraphs (a)

to (c).
>

INSTRUCTIONS

0] The f &g persons and companies are deemed to be persons by whom or on
whose be)@ﬁe solicitation is made (collectively, “solicitors” or individually a “solicitor”):
?‘ any member of a committee or group that solicits proxies, and any person
wh&her or not named as a member who, acting alone or with one or more other
ons, directly or indirectly takes the initiative or engages in organizing, directing or
WYancing any such committee or group;

(B) any person who contributes, or joins with another to contribute, more
than $250 to finance the solicitation of proxies; or
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(C) any person who lends money, provides credit, or enters into any other
arrangements, under any contract or understanding with a solicitor, for the purpose of
financing or otherwise inducing the purchase, sale, holding or voting of securities of the
company but not including a bank or other lending institution or a dealer that, in the
ordinary course of business, lends money or executes orders for the purchase or sale of
securities.

(i) Subject to paragraph (i), the following persons and companies are deemed&&i@
be solicitors:

(A) any person retained or employed by a solicitor to solicit p(«% or any
person who merely transmits proxy-soliciting material or performs mlnl@ or clerical
duties;

(B) any person employed or retained by a solicitor in tﬁ§ apacity of lawyer,
accountant, or advertising, public relations, investor relatio Q nancial advisor and
whose activities are limited to the performance of their & in the course of the
employment or retainer; \b‘

(C) any person regularly employed as an Gb%r or employee of the company
or any of its affiliates; or Q .

(D) any officer or director of, OQQ person regularly employed by, any
solicitor.

Iltem 6  Voting Securities and P, %/ aI Holders of Voting Securities
u

6.1 For each class of voti rities of the company entitled to be voted at the
meeting, state the number @curltles outstanding and the particulars of voting rights
for each class. %

6.2 For each cl restricted securities, provide the information required in
subsection 10.1( egulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

6.3 Give Qecord date as of which the securityholders entitled to vote at the
meeting v@r?l determined or particulars as to the closing of the security transfer
register e case may be, and, if the right to vote is not limited to securityholders of
recq of the specified record date, indicate the conditions under which
se&l yholders are entitled to vote.

\ If action is to be taken with respect to the election of directors and if the
securityholders or any class of securityholders have the right to elect a specified
number of directors or have cumulative or similar voting rights, include a statement of
such rights and state briefly the conditions precedent, if any, to the exercise thereof.
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6.5 If, to the knowledge of the company’s directors or executive officers, any person
beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, voting securities carrying
10% or more of the voting rights attached to any class of voting securities of the
company, name each person and state

(@) the approximate number of securities beneficially owned, or controlled or
directed, directly or indirectly, by each such person; and '\Q.)

(b)  the percentage of the class of outstanding voting securities@the
company represented by the number of voting securities so owned, C%S.t)rol d or

directed, directly or indirectly. S

tem 7  Election of Directors &

7.1 If directors are to be elected, provide the following informatN in tabular form to
the extent practicable, for each person proposed to be nqg ted for election as a
director (a “proposed director”) and each other person who of office as a director
will continue after the meeting: '\b‘

(@) State the name, province or state, G@country of residence, of each
director and proposed director. Q“

(b)  State the period or periods @ which each director has served as a
director and when the term of office for e@ irector and proposed director will expire.

(© Identify the members committee of the board.

(d) State the prese %cipal occupation, business or employment of each
director and proposed direc Qoive the name and principal business of any company in
which any such employn‘% carried on. Furnish similar information as to all of the
principal occupations, ifftsses or employments of each proposed director within the
5 preceding years, ﬁthe proposed director is now a director and was elected to the

present term of ot y a vote of securityholders at a meeting, the notice of which was
accompanied information circular.

(e) %a director or proposed director has held more than one position in the
compa a parent or subsidiary, state only the first and last position held.

State the number of securities of each class of voting securities of the
@pany or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly
indirectly, by each proposed director.

(9) If securities carrying 10% or more of the voting rights attached to all voting
securities of the company or of any of its subsidiaries are beneficially owned, or
controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by any proposed director and the proposed
director’s associates or affiliates,
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(1) state the number of securities of each class of voting securities
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by the associates or
affiliates; and

(i) name each associate or affiliate whose security holdings are 10%

or more. %
N

7.2  If a proposed director (19

@) is, as at the date of the information circular, or has been, W'@i@l‘o years
before the date of the information circular, a director, chief executivesQffie€r or chief
financial officer of any company (including the company in res% f which the
information circular is being prepared) that,

0] was subject to an order that was issued }ue proposed director
was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive office ief financial officer; or

(i) was subject to an order that was %ﬁed after the proposed director
ceased to be a director, chief executive officer 026 ief financial officer and which
resulted from an event that occurred while thajperon was acting in the capacity as
director, chief executive officer or chief financiat%c‘ér,

state the fact and describe@g basis on which the order was made and
whether the order is still in effect; or

(b) is, as at the date &@ormaﬂon circular, or has been within 10 years
before the date of the informay ircular, a director or executive officer of any company
(including the company in gct of which the information circular is being prepared)
that, while that person cting in that capacity, or within a year of that person
ceasing to act in that ¢ fty, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankrup %Qinsolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings,
arrangement or omise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or
trustee appoint %ﬁold its assets, state the fact; or

s, within the 10 years before the date of the information circular,

: rupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or
eryy, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or
cogromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to
@d he assets of the proposed director, state the fact.

7.2.1 Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they were
imposed, or the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances that gave rise
to the settlement agreement, if a proposed director has been subject to
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(@) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities
legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement
agreement with a securities regulatory authority; or

(b)  any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body
that would likely be considered important to a reasonable securityholder in deciding
whether to vote for a proposed director. '\Q.)

7.2.2 Despite section 7.2.1, no disclosure is required of a settlement ag@ent
entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely bg imp6rtant
to a reasonable securityholder in deciding whether to vote for a proposed d('v%ﬁ'.

INSTRUCTIONS sQ/

0] The disclosure required by sections 7.2 and 7.2.1 also apN¥s to any personal
holding companies of the proposed director. O

(i) A management cease trade order which applies gg yrectors or executive officers
of a company is an “order” for the purposes of raph 7.2(a)(i) and must be
disclosed, whether or not the proposed director wasm%ed in the order.

(i) A late filing fee, such as a filing fee t blies to the late filing of an insider
report, is not a “penalty or sanction” for theQﬁP es of section 7.2.1.

(iv)  The disclosure in paragraph 7. only applies if the proposed director was a
director, chief executive officer or financial officer when the order was issued
against the company. You do e to provide disclosure if the proposed director
became a director, chief exegexine officer or chief financial officer after the order was

issued. Q/

7.2.3 Forthe purpose@{ bsection 7.2(a), “order” means
@ a c@@ade order;

(b) Q;%rder similar to a cease trade order; or

O

(: an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under
sec& legislation,

\é that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days.

7.3 If any proposed director is to be elected under any arrangement or understanding
between the proposed director and any other person, except the directors and executive
officers of the company acting solely in such capacity, name the other person and
describe briefly the arrangement or understanding.
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Item 8 Executive Compensation

Despite section 9.3.1 of the Regulation, if you are sending this information
circular in connection with a meeting

(@) thatis an annual general meeting,

(b) at which the company’s directors are to be elected, or Q

(© at which the company’s securityholders will be asked to vote zglﬁatter
relating to executive compensation, include a completed Form 51-102F6. q§) S

Item 9  Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Comp@on Plans
9.1 Equity Compensation Plan Information 5

(1) Provide the information in subsection (2) if you aé\gnding this information
circular in connection with a meeting

(@) thatis an annual general meeting, (]9

(b) at which the company’s directors@é‘ be elected, or

(© at which the company’s se %holders will be asked to vote on a matter
relating to executive compensation o nsaction that involves the company issuing

securities.

(2) In the tabular form und 'ﬁse caption set out, provide the information specified in
section 9.2 as of the end o ?company's most recently completed financial year with
respect to compensatio s under which equity securities of the company are
authorized for issuanc@; egated as follows:

@ all q@nsation plans previously approved by securityholders; and

(b) I dompensation plans not previously approved by securityholders.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities to Weighted-average Number of securities
be issued upon exercise price of remaining available for
exercise of outstanding | outstanding options, future issuance under
options, warrants and warrants and rights equity compensation
rights (b) plans (excluding #
(@ securities reflected"\~
column (a)
O a)
Plan Category |

Equity compensation plans

approved by securityholders q
pp y y ) q!

Equity compensation plans not

approved by securityholders \&
)

Total

4

9.2 Include in the table the following information as of thf the company's most
recently completed financial year for each category of cqmp®&nsation plan described in
section 9.1: '\

(@) the number of securities to be issueﬂ%on the exercise of outstanding
options, warrants and rights (column (a)); Q.,

(b) the weighted-average exercj ice of the outstanding options, warrants
and rights disclosed under subsection 9 column (b)); and

(c) other than securitie issued upon the exercise of the outstanding
options, warrants and rights di d in subsection 9.2(a), the number of securities
remaining available for future Qu ce under the plan (column (c)).

9.3 For each compe s%%(plan under which equity securities of the company are
authorized for issuan d that was adopted without the approval of securityholders,
describe briefly, in Ive form, the material features of the plan.

|NSTRUCT|0N€(

0] T %/closure under Item 9 relating to compensation plans must include
indivi mpensation arrangements.

nt, subsidiary or affiliate of the company) under which equity securities of the

pany are authorized for issuance to employees or non-employees (such as
directors, consultants, advisors, vendors, customers, suppliers or lenders) in exchange
for consideration in the form of goods or services. You do not have to provide disclosure
regarding any plan, contract or arrangement for the issuance of warrants or rights to all
securityholders of the company on a pro rata basis (such as a rights offering).

(§ Q Provide disclosure with respect to any compensation plan of the company (or
m
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(i) If more than one class of equity security is issued under the company's
compensation plans, disclose aggregate plan information for each class of security
separately.

(iv)  You may aggregate information regarding individual compensation arrangements
with the plan information required under subsections 9.1(a) and (b), as applicable.

(v) You may aggregate information regarding a compensation plan assu b\i?
connection with a merger, consolidation or other acquisition transaction pury% to
which the company may make subsequent grants or awards of its equity segyritiéé with
the plan information required under subsections 9.1(a) and (b), as applicaﬂ%Disclose
on an aggregated basis in a footnote to the table the information seq#red under
subsections 9.2(a) and (b) with respect to any individual options, nts or rights
outstanding under the compensation plan assumed in connec&vith a merger,

consolidation or other acquisition transaction.

(vij To the extent that the number of securities ren‘ﬁi(ng available for future
issuance disclosed in column (c) includes securities aviil.?(le for future issuance under
any compensation plan other than upon the exerci an option, warrant or right,
disclose the number of securities and type of pIan(%rately for each such plan in a
footnote to the table. .

(vii) If the description of a compensati ‘I'g set forth in the company's financial
statements contains the disclosure req by section 9.3, a cross-reference to the
description satisfies the requirements

contains a formula for calculating the number of
er the plan, including, without limitation, a formula
e number of securities available for issuance by a
outstanding securities of the company, describe this

(viii) If an equity compensati
securities available for issuan &n
that automatically increas%?
percentage of the numbebal
formula in a footnote t ble.

ltem 10 Indebt S of Directors and Executive Officers

10.1 Aggr@g Indebtedness

AGGR@&F& INDEBTEDNESS (3$)
P @\ To the Company or its Subsidiaries To Another Entity
;g( (b) (©)
\Vt&are purchases
b Other

Q) Complete the above table for the aggregate indebtedness outstanding as at a
date within 30 days before the date of the information circular entered into in connection
with:
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(@) apurchase of securities; and
(b)  all other indebtedness.
(2) Report separately the indebtedness to
(a)  the company or any of its subsidiaries (column (b)); and '\Q.)
(b)  another entity if the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee,@ort
agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding pLovidéd by

the company or any of its subsidiaries (column (c)), q/

of all executive officers, directors, employees and former &Jﬁve officers,
directors and employees of the company or any of its subsidiaries.

(3)  “Support agreement” includes, but is not limited to, @agreement to provide
assistance in the maintenance or servicing of any indebtedReSS and an agreement to
provide compensation for the purpose of maintaining oy wvicing any indebtedness of

the borrower. Q
10.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Executi\QOf cers under (1) Securities
Purchase and (2) Other Programs (b K
INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE ERS UNDER (D)
SECURITIES PURCHASE AND (2) OTHER PROG
Name and Involvement of Largest ‘@munt Financially Security for Amount
Principal Company or Amount tanding as Assisted Indebtedness Forgiven
Position Subsidiary Outstandi ' At [Date within Securities U} During [Most
(@ (b) During 30 days] Purchases Recently
Re %) During [Most Completed
C d (d) Recently Financial
% i Completed Year]
ear] Financial %)
§§ (9) Year] ©
O M (©) (#)
Q‘ ()
K

Securities Purglihg® programs
v
~0)

Other Hfoxd»ms
\J

y .

%\

}i) Complete the above table for each individual who is, or at any time during the
most recently completed financial year was, a director or executive officer of the
company, each proposed nominee for election as a director of the company, and each
associate of any such director, executive officer or proposed nominee,
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(@ who is, or at any time since the beginning of the most recently completed
financial year of the company has been, indebted to the company or any of its
subsidiaries, or

(b)  whose indebtedness to another entity is, or at any time since the
beginning of the most recently completed financial year has been, the subject of a
guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement%
understanding provided by the company or any of its subsidiaries, Q\

and separately disclose the indebtedness for security purchase programs ahd all
other programs. a S

VvV
(2)  Note the following: %@

Column (a) - disclose the name and principal position o borrower. If the
borrower was, during the most recently completed financial r, but no longer is a
director or executive officer, state that fact. If the borrowers proposed nominee for

election as a director, state that fact. If the borrowew‘included as an associate,
describe briefly the relationship of the borrower to aQ ividual who is or, during the
financial year, was a director or executive officer C} ho is a proposed nominee for
election as a director, name that individual and pgovi#e the information required by this
subparagraph for that individual. 23 ®

Column (b) - disclose whether the any or a subsidiary of the company is the
lender or the provider of a guarant % port agreement, letter of credit or similar
arrangement or understanding. &

Column (c) - disclos 'ﬁﬁe largest aggregate amount of the indebtedness
outstanding at any time dur@e most recently completed financial year.

Column (d) - dis®#Qs¥ the aggregate amount of indebtedness outstanding as at a
date within 30 days the date of the information circular.

Column zaisclose separately for each class or series of securities, the sum of
the number%s curities purchased during the most recently completed financial year
with the fig@n®al assistance (security purchase programs only).

umn (f) - disclose the security for the indebtedness, if any, provided to the
co&any, any of its subsidiaries or the other entity (security purchase programs only).

\ Column (g) - disclose the total amount of indebtedness that was forgiven at any
time during the most recently completed financial year.

3) Supplement the above table with a summary discussion of
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(@) the material terms of each incidence of indebtedness and, if applicable, of
each guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or
understanding, including

0] the nature of the transaction in which the indebtedness was
incurred;

(i) the rate of interest; Q’\%

(i) the term to maturity; (l’
Oy«

(iv)  any understanding, agreement or intention to limit r@mée; and

(v)  any security for the indebtedness; S\BQ

(b) any material adjustment or amendment made Qing the most recently
completed financial year to the terms of the indebted nd, if applicable, the
guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar atygngement or understanding.
Forgiveness of indebtedness reported in column ( the above table should be

explained; and q/

(© the class or series of the securiti %?chased with financial assistance or
held as security for the indebtedness an?i e class or series of securities is not
publicly traded, all material terms of securities, including the provisions for
exchange, conversion, exercise, redeigQMV¥, retraction and dividends.

10.3 You do not need to disclo rmation required by this Item

@) if you are n@nding this information circular in connection with a

meeting %

0] @ an annual general meeting,

(i at which the company’s directors are to be elected, or

/ at which the company’s securityholders will be asked to vote on a
matter g to executive compensation,
QQ)

for any indebtedness that has been entirely repaid on or before the date of
\%information circular, or

(© for routine indebtedness.

“Routine indebtedness” means indebtedness described in any of the following
clauses:
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0] If the company or its subsidiary makes loans to employees generally,

(A) the loans are made on terms no more favourable than the terms on
which loans are made by the company or its subsidiary to employees generally, and

(B) the amount, at any time during the last completed financial year,
remaining unpaid under the loans to the director, executive officer or propos@S
nominee, together with his or her associates, does not exceed $50,000.

(i) A loan to a person who is a full-time employee of the company,qq’
“

(A) thatis fully secured against the residence of the bO@ > and

(B) the amount of which in total does not exceed@nnual salary of
the borrower.

(i) If the company or its subsidiary makes Ioar&ghe ordinary course of
business, a loan made to a person other than a full-time e@gloyee of the company

(A)  on substantially the same termrﬁluding those as to interest rate
and security, as are available when a loan is m other customers of the company
or its subsidiary with comparable credit, and rb

(B)  with no more than th aI risks of collectibility.

(iv) A loan arising by re purchases made on usual trade terms or of
ordinary travel or expense s, or for similar reasons, if the repayment
arrangements are in accord Wj al commercial practice.

Iltem 11 Interest of Inf Persons in Material Transactions

Describe bri d, where practicable, state the approximate amount of any

material interest t or indirect, of any informed person of the company, any

proposed direcgC f the company, or any associate or affiliate of any informed person
or proposedq/girector, in any transaction since the commencement of the company's
most rec completed financial year or in any proposed transaction which has
materi ected or would materially affect the company or any of its subsidiaries.

IN CTIONS:

\(i Briefly describe the material transaction. State the name and address of each
person whose interest in any transaction is described and the nature of the relationship
giving rise to the interest.

(i) For any transaction involving the purchase or sale of assets by or to the company
or any subsidiary, other than in the ordinary course of business, state the cost of the
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assets to the purchaser and the cost of the assets to the seller, if acquired by the seller
within 2 years prior to the transaction.

(i)  This Item does not apply to any interest arising from the ownership of securities
of the company where the securityholder receives no extra or special benefit or
advantage not shared on a proportionate basis by all holders of the same class of
securities or by all holders of the same class of securities who are resident in Canada%

(iv)  Include information as to any material underwriting discounts or comw@ms
upon the sale of securities by the company where any of the specified persons wa6 or is
to be an underwriter in a contractual relationship with the company Wiﬂlé dpect to
securities or is an associate or affiliate of a person that was or is@ such an

underwriter. : é

(v) You do not need to disclose the information required his Item for any
transaction or any interest in that transaction if O

(A) the rates or charges involved in the tr@ctlon are fixed by law or
determined by competitive bids, Q

(B) the interest of the specified pers$(i‘r]‘[he transaction is solely that of
director of another company that is a party to th'b nsaction,

(C) the transaction involves seg8s as a bank or other depositary of funds,
transfer agent, registrar, trustee under, t indenture or other similar services, or

(D) the transaction dc@directly or indirectly, involve remuneration for
services, and Q

() the %%{st of the specified person arose from the beneficial
ownership, direct or inNrett, of less than 10% of any class of voting securities of
another company th party to the transaction,

(II% the transaction is in the ordinary course of business of the company
or its subsidgyes, and

Q(III) the amount of the transaction or series of transactions is less
tha @o of the total sales or purchases, as the case may be, of the company and its
su&laries for the most recently completed financial year.

\ (vi)  Provide information for transactions not excluded above which involve
remuneration, directly or indirectly, to any of the specified persons for services in any
capacity unless the interest of the person arises solely from the beneficial ownership,
direct or indirect, of less than 10% of any class of voting securities of another company
furnishing the services to the company or its subsidiaries.
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Item 12 Appointment of Auditor

Name the auditor of the company. If the auditor was first appointed within the
last 5 years, state the date when the auditor was first appointed.

If action is to be taken to replace an auditor, provide the information required
under section 4.11 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligation%

Item 13 Management Contracts (19

If management functions of the company or any of its subsidiariepl(ébe“ to any
substantial degree performed other than by the directors or executiv@f ers of the
company or subsidiary,

(@) give details of the agreement or arrangemen nder which the
management functions are performed, including the nam r@ dress of any person
who is a party to the agreement or arrangement or who is regp\ ible for performing the
management functions;

(b) give the names and provinces of re&d?( of any person that was, during
the most recently completed financial year, a med person of any person with
which the company or subsidiary has any suﬂ%reement or arrangement and, if the

following information is known to the directyry orexecutive officers of the company, give
the names and provinces of residence o@‘person that would be an informed person
of any person with which the com r subsidiary has any such agreement or
arrangement if the person were a%

(© for any person under paragraph (a) state the amounts paid or
payable by the company a subS|d|ar|es to the person since the commencement of
the most recently complet€Wwiancial year and give particulars; and

(d) for an@n named under paragraph (a) or (b) and their associates or
affiliates, give paQ‘ s of,

Q{ any indebtedness of the person, company, associate or affiliate to

the comp its subsidiaries that was outstanding, and

2 (i) any transaction or arrangement of the person, company, associate
lidte with the company or subsidiary,

\ at any time since the start of the company's most recently completed
financial year.

INSTRUCTIONS:

0] Do not refer to any matter that is relatively insignificant.
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(i) In giving particulars of indebtedness, state the largest aggregate amount of
indebtedness outstanding at any time during the period, the nature of the indebtedness
and of the transaction in which it was incurred, the amount of the indebtedness
presently outstanding and the rate of interest paid or charged on the indebtedness.

(i) Do not include as indebtedness amounts due from the particular person %
purchases subject to usual trade terms, for ordinary travel and expense advance&q

for other similar transactions. (l/
ltem 14 Particulars of Matters to be Acted Upon (\9“

14.1 If action is to be taken on any matter to be submitted %é meeting of
securityholders other than the approval of annual financial state riefly describe
the substance of the matter, or related groups of matters, except t extent described
under the foregoing items, in sufficient detail to enable rea ble securityholders to
form a reasoned judgment concerning the matter. Without 4Qithg the generality of the
foregoing, such matters include alterations of share ital, charter amendments,

property acquisitions or dispositions, reverse takeﬁé‘s, amalgamations, mergers,
arrangements or reorganizations and other similar tr ctions.

14.2 If the action to be taken is in respect T‘gnificant acquisition as determined
under Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 under vymch~Securities of the acquired business are
being exchanged for the company’s rities, or in respect of a restructuring
transaction under which securities ar changed, exchanged, issued or distributed,

include disclosure for

(@) the company, if ’&npany has not filed all documents required under
Regulation 51-102 respecti ntinuous Disclosure Obligations,

(b) the busir@%ing acquired, if the matter is a significant acquisition,

(c) eac y, other than the company, whose securities are being changed,
exchanged, iss r distributed, if

C%f the matter is a restructuring transaction, and

Q (i) the company’s current securityholders will have an interest in that
en&a ter the restructuring transaction is completed, and

\ (d) each entity that would result from the significant acquisition or
restructuring transaction, if the company’s securityholders will have an interest in that
entity after the significant acquisition or restructuring transaction is completed.

The disclosure for the company, business or entity must be the disclosure
(including financial statements) prescribed under securities legislation and described in
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the form of prospectus that the company, business or entity, respectively, would be
eligible to use immediately prior to the sending and filing of the information circular in
respect of the significant acquisition or restructuring transaction, for a distribution of
securities in the jurisdiction.

14.3 If the matter is one that is not required to be submitted to a vote of
securityholders, state the reasons for submitting it to securityholders and state w
action management intends to take in the event of a negative vote b@h

securityholders. (l/

14.4 Section 14.2 does not apply to an information circular that is sent Mders of
voting securities of a reporting issuer soliciting proxies otherwise th behalf of
management of the reporting issuer (a “dissident circular”), unlesst ender of the
dissident circular is proposing a significant acquisition or res ring transaction
involving the reporting issuer and the sender, under which secur¥ of the sender, or
an affiliate of the sender, are to be distributed or transferredqa securityholders of the
reporting issuer. However, a sender of a dissident C|rcular nclude in the dissident
circular the disclosure required by section 14.2 if the§1§ r of the dissident circular is

proposing a significant acquisition or restructuring tra ion under which securities of
the sender or securities of an affiliate of the sen e to be changed, exchanged,
issued or distributed.

14.5 A company satisfies section 14.2%":1) prepares an information circular in
connection with a Qualifying Transaction company that is a CPC, or in connection
with a Reverse Take-Over (as Qualifyj nsaction, CPC and Reverse Take-Over are
defined in the TSX Venture Exch olicies) provided that the company complies
with the policies and requirem the TSX Venture Exchange in respect of that
Qualifying Transaction or Rer ake-Over.

INSTRUCTION %@

For the purposes Q Ion 14.2, a securityholder will not be considered to have an
interest in an en| er an acquisition or restructuring transaction is completed if the
securityholder nly hold a redeemable security that is immediately redeemed for

cash. Q/
ltem 15Qggstricted Securities

15.(( the action to be taken involves a transaction that would have the effect of

@verting or subdividing, in whole or in part, existing securities into restricted

curities, or creating new restricted securities, the information circular must also
include, as part of the minimum disclosure required, a detailed description of:

(@) the voting rights attached to the restricted securities that are the subject of

the transaction or that will result from the transaction either directly or following a
conversion, exchange or exercise, and the voting rights, if any, attached to the
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securities of any other class of securities of the company that are the same or greater
on a per security basis than those attached to the restricted securities that are the
subject of the transaction or that will result from the transaction either directly or
following a conversion, exchange or exercise;

(b)  the percentage of the aggregate voting rights attached to the company's
securities that are represented by the class of restricted securities; '\Q.)

(c) any significant provisions under applicable corporate and securitiee@, in
particular whether the restricted securities may or may not be tendered in any takover
bid for securities of the reporting issuer having voting rights superior to tbpéa‘ttached
to the restricted securities, that do not apply to the holders of the resjpcted securities
that are the subject of the transaction or that will result from the action either
directly or following a conversion, exchange or exercise, but do a o the holders of
another class of equity securities, and the extent of any rights pro in the constating
documents or otherwise for the protection of holders of the res@e securities; and

(d) any rights under applicable corporate law, irb@e constating documents or
otherwise, of holders of restricted securities that are t '§Ubject of the transaction either
directly or following a conversion, exchange or e e, to attend, in person or by
proxy, meetings of holders of equity securitiesQf tMe company and to speak at the
meetings to the same extent that holders of eqm curities are entitled.

15.2 If holders of restricted securitie not have all of the rights referred to in
section 15.1, the detailed description d to in section 15.1 must include, in bold-
face type, a statement of the rights ders do not have.

ltem 16 Additional Informa@

16.1 Disclose that addié(information relating to the company is on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com. Disc@g ow securityholders may contact the company to request
copies of the comp inancial statements and MD&A.

16.2 Include %gatement that financial information is provided in the company's
comparative@ al financial statements and MD&A for its most recently completed
financial y@.

LON
M.Q -03, Sch. 51-102F5; M.O. 2006-04, s. 42; M.O. 2007-08, s. 8; M.O. 2008-06,
S, Qand 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 10 and 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 31; M.O. 2013-01, s. 7.

Ny
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FORM 51-102F6 STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION (in respect of
financial years ending before December 31, 2008)

ltem 1 General Provisions

1.1 The purpose of this Form is to provide disclosure of all compensation, whatever
the source, earned by certain executive officers and directors in connection with offi
or employment by your company or a subsidiary of your company. Wherever this
uses the word “company”, the term includes other types of business organizati ch
as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business entities.
A

The particular requirements in this Form should be interpreted WQ:rggard to this
purpose, the definition of “executive officer” in the Regulation, andé manner that
gives priority to substance over form. Q

1.2 You should prepare the Form in the prescribed form t@u may omit a table or
column of a table if it is not applicable. '{
1.3  For the purposes of this Form Q'\b‘

“Chief Executive Officer” or “CEQO” meag e‘;]fﬁ individual who served as chief

executive officer of your company or acted in IAr capacity during the most recently
completed financial year;

“Chief Financial Officer” or “C %eans each individual who served as chief
financial officer of your company o in a similar capacity during the most recently
completed financial year; &Q

“long-term incentive " or “LTIP” means a plan providing compensation
intended to motivate perf ce over a period greater than one financial year. LTIPs
do not include option 0 plans or plans for compensation through shares or units
that are subject to rﬁ)ns on resale;

“measur? t period” means the period beginning at the “measurement point”
which is est@hjished by the market close on the last trading day before the beginning of
fifth preceding financial year, through and including the end of your
ost recently completed financial year. If the class or series of securities has
icly traded for a shorter period of time, the period covered by the comparison

\ “Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs” means the following individuals:
(@) each CEO;

(b)  each CFO;
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(c) each of your company's 3 most highly compensated executive officers,
other than the CEO and CFO, who were serving as executive officers at the end of the
most recently completed financial year and whose total salary and bonus exceeds
$150,000; and

(d) any additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been provided
under (c) except that the individual was not serving as an officer of your company at IQS
end of the most recently completed financial year-end; '\

“normal retirement age” means normal retirement age as defined in.a p#hsion
plan or, if not defined, the earliest time at which a plan participant may retiré@h‘but any
benefit reduction due to age; %

“options” includes all options, share purchase warrants and Nyts granted by a
company or its subsidiaries as compensation for employment sS{¥ces or office. An
extension of an option or replacement grant is a grant of a @/ option. Also, options
includes any grants made to a NEO by a third party or a nef\stbsidiary affiliate of your
company in respect of services to your company or a suKs!&ary of your company;

“plan” includes, but is not limited to, any arraﬂ%%ent, whether or not set forth in
any formal document and whether or not applicgRle t9 only one individual, under which
cash, securities, options, SARs, phantom stocr%r’}ants, convertible securities, shares
or units that are subject to restrictions on até, performance units and performance
shares, or similar instruments may be r% ed or purchased. It excludes the Canada
Pension Plan, similar government pl group life, health, hospitalization, medical
reimbursement and relocation p at are available generally to all salaried
employees (for example, does n riminate in scope, terms or operation in favour of
executive officers or directors;Q&

“replacement granz‘%éns the grant of an option or SAR reasonably related to
any prior or potential c@‘@ tion of an option or SAR;

“repricing”& option or SAR means the adjustment or amendment of the
exercise or baﬁ ice of a previously awarded option or SAR. Any repricing occurring
through the gpehation of a formula or mechanism in, or applicable to, the previously
awarded qud¥f or SAR equally affecting all holders of the class of securities underlying
the opti SAR is excluded; and

Stock appreciation right” or “SAR” means a right, granted by a company or any
@s subsidiaries as compensation for employment services or office to receive cash or
issue or transfer of securities based wholly or in part on changes in the trading price

of publicly traded securities.

If a term is used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102

respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
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Form and is defined in both the securities statute of a local jurisdiction and in
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of
Policy Statement to RegulatiOn 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20).

1.4  In preparing this Form:
determination of your company’s most highly compensated executive officers i ed

on the total annual salary and bonus of each executive officer during your company’s
most recently completed financial year. qé) S

€) Determination of Most Highly Compensated Executive Officerﬁ'ﬁé’?

2 If the NEO
disclosure is

(b) Change in Status of a NEO During the Financial
served in that capacity during any part of a financial year for.
required, disclose all of his or her compensation for the full financia

(c) Exclusion Due to Unusual Compensatidf\Qr Compensation for
Foreign Assignment. In limited circumstances, you cta exclude disclosure of an
individual, other than a CEO or CFO, who is one o&s 3 most highly compensated
executive officers. Factors to consider in determining‘]/ xclude an individual are

(1) a payment or accrual m@”unusually large amount of cash
compensation (such as bonus or com@s' n) that is not part of a recurring
arrangement and is unlikely to continue;

(i) the payment itional amounts of cash compensation for
increased living expenses due tg signment outside of Canada.

(d) Al Compens@ Covered. This Form requires disclosure of all plan
and non-plan compensati r each NEO, and each director in accordance with Item
11. Except as expressiyWRrovided, no amount, benefit or right reported as compensation
for a financial year e reported as compensation for any subsequent fiscal year.

(e) Sg es of Compensation. Compensation to officers and directors must
include co nsation from the company and its subsidiaries. Also, the company must
include in appropriate compensation category any compensation paid under an
unders g, arrangement or agreement existing among
Q 0] any of
\E (A)  the company,

(B) its subsidiaries, or

(C) an officer or director of the company or its subsidiary, and
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(i) another entity,

for the purpose of the entity compensating the officer or director for
employment services or office.

If the company’s executive management is employed or retained by an external
management company (including a subsidiary, affiliate or associate) and the comp
has entered into an understanding, arrangement or agreement of any kind f "th
provision of executive management services by the external management corm% to
the company directly or indirectly, the company must disclose any cogge ation

payable q/ S

(i) directly by the company to any persons emplo retained by
the external management company who are acting as executive of{Cs and directors of
the company; and

(iv) by the external management companﬁ\@such persons that is
attributable to services rendered to the company directly ov@dlrectly.

() Compensation Furnished to Ass %s. Any compensation to an
associate, under an understanding or agreemnt ¥mong any of the company, its
subsidiaries or another entity and an officer or tor of the company or its subsidiary
for the purpose of the company, its subsQir or the other entity compensating the
officer or director for employment service@ office, must be included in the appropriate

compensation category. %

tion — If the company’s executive management
agement company, and the external management
ddition to the company, the company must disclose

(g) Allocation of Co
is provided through an extern

company has other cIients@

either, %

0] rtion of the compensation paid to the officer or director by the
external manag company that can be attributed to services rendered to the

company; or Q

f the entire compensation paid by the external management
compa e officer or director.

g the company does allocate the compensation paid to the officer or director, it
\ uld disclose the basis for the allocation.
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Item 2 Summary Compensation Table
2.1 Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation

Awards Payouts ya
NEO Year | Salary | Bonus | Other Annual | Securiies | Shares  of | LTIP All L)
Name (b) (©)] (%) Compensation | Under Units Subject | Payouts | Compegsati
and (c) (d) $) Options /| to Resale | ($) $)
Principal (e) SARs Restrictions (h) 0] (]/
Position Granted ($) .
@) #) ) (']9
(f) Z,

CEO XXX3

XXX2 éo

XXX1 ‘\\
CFO XXX3 \~

XXX2

XXX1 ,(O
A XXX3 N

XXX2

XXX1 ,J\?‘
B XXX3

XXX2 (\9

XXX1 N
C XXX3 N

XXX2 ‘b

XXX1 L4

%

1. Complete this table for each NEOs for your company’s 3 most recently
completed financial years. Note th% ing:

bonus earned by the NEQ
of the compensation at t

Columns (c) a

election of a NEO mu

of salary and/or
be disclosed in

year in the coI

&

<

— include any cash or non-cash base salary and

non-cash compensation, disclose the fair market value

e the compensation is earned. Amounts deferred at the

included in the financial year in which earned. If the amount
arned in a given financial year is not calculable, that fact must

or the financial year in which earned.

ote and the amount must be disclosed in the subsequent financial

ny salary or bonus earned in a covered year that was foregone, at the

electlc§ﬂ' a NEO, under a program of your company under which non-cash
co ation may be received in lieu of a portion of annual compensation, need not be
r%ed in the salary or bonus columns. Instead, you may disclose the non-cash
%\pensatlon in the appropriate column for that year (i.e. columns (f), (g) and (i)). If the

ection was made under a LTIP and therefore is not reportable at the time of grant in
this table, a footnote must be added to the salary or bonus column disclosing this fact
and referring to the table in section 3.1.
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- Commissions can be treated as salary or bonus. You can add a footnote
to the table to indicate that such amounts are paid under a commission arrangement
and disclose details of the arrangement in the compensation committee report (Item 9).

- Column (e) — disclose all other compensation of the NEO that is not
properly categorized as salary or bonus, including

(@) Perquisites and other personal benefits, securities or prgQ -
unless the aggregate amount of such compensation is less than $50,000 and of
the total of the annual salary and bonus of the NEO for the financial year. nemlly, a
perquisite is the cost or value of a personal benefit provided to the NEq/ it is not
available to all employees. Examples of things that could be perquisiteS@

- Car allowance %
»
,&O
- Cars b‘
Q\
- Corporate aircraft q/

- Car lease

- Club membership er“

- Financial assiq\gz to provide education to children
- Financi selling

- Pa@’(g;

- é( return preparation

@)Ilowing are not considered perquisites and thus need not be

reported:
&

Q/ - Contributions to professional dues
QS) - Canada Pension Plan or Québec Pension Plan
QO - Dental
\é - Employee relocation plans available to all employees

- Group life benefits available to all employees

- Long-term benefits available to all employees
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- Medical

Each perquisite or other personal benefit exceeding 25% of the
total perquisites and other personal benefits reported for a NEO must be identified by
type and amount in a footnote to column (e). Perquisites and other personal benefits
must be valued on the basis of the aggregate incremental cost to your company and its

subsidiaries; '\Q.)

(b)  The above-market portion of all interest, dividends cq‘?her
amounts paid concerning securities, options, stock appreciation rights (SARs), ¥0ans,
deferred compensation or other obligations issued to a NEO during the fin@l‘year or
payable during that period but deferred at the election of the NEO. %-market or
preferential means a rate greater than the rate ordinarily paid by pany or its

subsidiary on securities or other obligations having the same or si eatures issued
to third parties. Any above-market portion not reported in column ould be reported

in column (i); «O

(© Earnings on LTIP compensation or dif¥dend equivalents paid during
the financial year or payable during that period but de at the election of the NEO;

(d)  Amounts reimbursed durin hgﬂnancial year for the payment of

taxes; ('b

(e) The difference betw he price paid by a NEO for a security of
your company or its subsidiaries t as purchased from your company or its
subsidiaries and the fair market val e security at the time of purchase, unless the
discount was available gener& ither to all securityholders or to all salaried
employees of your company;

) The i %(ed interest benefits from loans provided to, or debts
incurred on behalf of, O by your company and its subsidiaries as computed in
accordance with th e Tax Act (R.S.C. 1985, c.1 (5" Suppl.)); and

(g%5 he amounts of loan or interest obligations of the NEO to your
company, it¢Zsubsidiaries or third parties that were serviced or settled by the company
or its sub es without the substitution of an obligation to repay the amount to the
compa ubsidiaries in its place.

- Column (f) — includes the number of securities under option

@h or without SARs awarded with the options) and, separately, the number of

curities subject to freestanding SARs. The figures in this column for the most recent

fiscal year should equal those reported in the table in section 4.1, column (b). These
figures are not cumulative.

- If at any time during the most recently completed financial
year your company repriced options or freestanding SARs previously awarded to a
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NEO, disclose the repriced options or SARs as new options or SARs grants in
column (f).

- Column (g) — includes the dollar value (net of consideration
paid by the NEO) of any shares or units that are subject to restrictions on resale
(calculated by multiplying the closing market price of your company’s freely trading

shares on the date of grant by the number of stock or stock units awarded). '\Q.)
- In a footnote to column (g) disclose (19
- the number and value of the aggregate holdi f*shares
and units that are subject to restrictions on resale at the end of thg m&5st recently
completed financial year; : é

- for any shares or units that are suby%to restrictions on
resale that will vest, in whole or in part, in less than 3 years f e date of grant, the
total number of securities awarded and the vesting schedule,

- whether dividends or divid B‘equivalents will be paid on the
shares and units that are subject to restrictions on ra@ disclosed in the column.

- Column (h) — inclu@ﬁ‘e dollar value of all payouts under

LTIPs. Q‘

- Awards of %g or units that are subject to restrictions on
resale that are subject to perfor -based conditions prior to vesting may be
disclosed as LTIP awards under ble in section 3.1 instead of under column (g). If

this approach is selected, on(Qt share or unit vests, it must be reported as an LTIP

payout in column (h). Q/

- %any specified performance target, goal or condition to
payout was waived ing any amount included in LTIP payouts, disclose this fact in
a footnote to col

Q - Column (i) — must include, but is not limited to,
dé) (@  The amount paid, payable or accrued to a NEO for

0] the resignation, retirement or other termination
@he NEQO’s employment with your company or one of its subsidiaries; or

(i) a change in control of your company or one of

its subsidiaries or a change in the NEO’s responsibilities following such a change in
control.
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(b)  The dollar value of the above-market portion of all
interest, dividends or other amounts earned during the financial year, or calculated with
respect to that period, excluding amounts that are paid during that period, or payable
during that period at the election of the NEO that were reported as other annual
compensation in column (e). See the description for column (e), point (b) for an
explanation of the above market portion.

(© The dollar value of amounts earned on 'él@
compensation during the financial year, or calculated with respect to that peri nd
dividend equivalents earned during that period except that amounts paid guri that

period, or payable during that period at the election of the NEO must b drted as
other annual compensation in column (e). %

(d)  Annual contributions or other cations by the
company or its subsidiaries to vested and unvested defined ribution plans or
employee savings plans. These benefits are not considers{@ be perquisites due to
their all-inclusive nature.

(e)  The dollar value of wsurance premium paid by, or
on behalf of, your company or its subsidiaries durirq( financial year with respect to
term life insurance for the benefit of a NEO. Yf there is an arrangement or

understanding, whether formal or informal, th NEO has received or will receive or
be allocated an interest in any cash surren(Qx e under the insurance policy, either
(i)

%‘ full dollar value of the remainder of the
pany or its subsidiaries; or

premiums paid by, or on behalf of,
i if the premiums will be refunded to the
company or its subsidiaries %rmination of the policy, the dollar value of the benefit to
the NEO of the remainde(ﬁaﬁe premium paid by, or on behalf of, the company or its
subsidiaries during the fparcial year. This benefit must be determined for the period,
projected on an act@asis, between payment of premium and the refund.

%Q‘ ) If the NEO’'s compensation takes the form of a
contribution g, adsist in the NEO’s purchase of shares, the amount of the contribution,
unless th ribution was available generally, either to all securityholders or to all
salarie oyees of the company.

- The same method of reporting under this paragraph must be

@d for each NEO. If your company changes methods of reporting from one year to the

xt, that fact and the reason for the change must be disclosed in a footnote to
column (i).

- The following need not be reported in column (i):
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0] LTIP awards and amounts received on exercise of
options and SARs; and

(i) information on defined benefit and actuarial plans.

2. The $150,000 threshold only applies to the most recent fiscal year in determining

the NEOs.
"D

3. If, during any of the financial years covered by the table, your compa % its
subsidiaries did not employ a NEO for the entire financial year, disclose this fgct avfd the
number of months the NEO was so employed during the year in a footnoteﬁi%e“table.

4. If during any of the financial years covered by the t NEO was
compensated by a non-subsidiary affiliate of your company, disclod\In a note to the
table

(@ the amount and nature of such compensation;éq@

(b)  whether the compensation is included ir&scompensation reported in the

table. q/

5. Information with respect to a financi %Ar-end prior to the most recently
completed financial year-end need not be gryvided if your company was not a reporting
issuer at any time during such prior finan@?ar.
ltem 3 LTIP Awards Table @b
3.1 LTIP Awards In Mq %/ently Completed Financial Year
&
Estimated Future Payouts Un%\/
Non-Securities-Price-Based\P!
NEO Name | Securitj nits | Performance or | Threshold Target Manimum
(@ or Oth@i hts Other Period | ($ or #) ($or#) (Sor#)
# Q~ Until  Maturation | (d) (€) (f)
( or Payout
Py (c)
o %/
CFO N\
A S
B \J
Y

X. Complete this table for each LTIP award made to the NEOs during the most
recently completed financial year. Note the following:

- Column (b) — Include the number of securities, units or other rights

awarded under any LTIP and, if applicable, the number of securities underlying any
such unit or right.
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- Columns (d) to (f) — For plans not based on stock price, the dollar value of
the estimated payout or range estimated payouts under the award (threshold, target and
maximum amount), whether such award is denominated in stock or cash.

- Threshold is the minimum amount payable for a certain level of
performance under the plan. %

- Target is the amount payable if the specified performance targaé |s
reached. You should provide a representative amount based on the previo ncial
year’s performance if the target award is not determinable. 6)

- Maximum is the maximum payout possible under the pl %
2. Describe in a footnote to the table, the material terms of a ward, including a
general description of the formula or criteria applied in rmining the amounts
payable. You are not required to disclose confidential infor n that would adversely
affect your company’s competitive position. '\b‘

3. A grant of 2 instruments in conjunction with“%h other, only one of which is
under an LTIP, need be reported only in the tabl PP cable to the other instrument.

Item 4 Options and SARs Q“b

4.1 Option/SAR Grants DurinS ost Recently Completed Financial Year
Vi
NEO Name | Securities, | % of |YExercice of Base | Market Value of | Expiration
€) Under Option Price Securities Date
Options /| SAR anted | ($/Security) Underlying Options / | (f)
SARs to yees | (d) SARs on the Date of
Granted i inancial Grant
#) ear ($/Security)
(b) P\ \ (e)
CEO A\
CFO X"
A , X

1. @)mplete this table for individual grants of options to purchase or acquire
sQcities of your company or any of its subsidiaries (whether or not in conjunction with
s) and freestanding SARs made during the most recently completed financial year

\o each of NEO. Note the following:

- The information must be presented for each NEO in groups according to

each issuer and class or series of security underlying the options or SARs granted and
within these groups in reverse chronological order. For each grant, disclose in a
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footnote the issuer and the class or series of securities underlying the options or
freestanding SARs granted.

- If more than one grant of options or freestanding SARs was made to a
NEO during the most recently completed financial year, a separate row must be used to
provide the particulars of each grant. However, multiple grants during a single financial
year to a NEO can be aggregated if each grant was made on the same terms (%
Exercise price, expiration date and vesting thresholds, if any). Q\

- A single grant of options or freestanding SARs must be rgpor¥d as
separate grants for each tranche with a different exercise or base price, e{p&%l‘m date
or performance-vesting threshold. %

- Each material term of the grant, including but not @to the date of
exercisability, the number of SARs, dividend equivalents, perfor ce units or other
instruments granted in conjunction with options, a perforn%e-based condition to
exercisability, a re-load feature or a tax-reimbursement fe ust be disclosed in a
footnote to the table. '\b‘

- Options or freestanding SARs granted@an option repricing transaction
must be disclosed.

b
- If the exercise or base price%gd?ustable over the term of an option or
freestanding SAR in accordance with cribed standard or formula, include in a
footnote to the table, a description of t dard or formula.

- If any provision of ion or SAR (other than an anti-dilution provision)
could cause the exercise or b gpr ce to be lowered, a description of the provision and
its potential consequences @be included in a footnote to the table.

- In determ '%the grant date market value of the securities underlying
options or freestand Rs, use either the closing market price or any other formula

prescribed under, ption or SAR plan. For options or SARs granted prior to the
establishment trading market in the underlying securities, the initial offering price

may be use%
4.2 qgggregated Option/SAR Exercises During The Most Recently Completed
Fin @ Year And Financial Year-End Option/SAR Values

A

O Name | Securities, Aggregate Value | Unexercised Value of Unexercised
N ) Acquired on | Realized Options / SARs at | in-the-Money Options /
Exercice  (3) | ($) FY-End SARs at FY-End
(b) (©) #) (%)
Exercisable / | Exercisable /
Unexercisable Unexercisable
(d) (e)
CEO
CFO
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A
B
C

1. Complete this table for each exercise of options (or SARS awarded with the
options) and freestanding SARs during the most recently completed financial year by
each NEO and the financial year-end value of unexercised options and SARS, on Qn)
aggregated basis. Note the following: y\

- Column (c) — the aggregate dollar value realized upon exercise. T?@%)Ilar
value is equal to column (b) times the difference between the market e of the
securities underlying the options or SARs at exercise or financial year-e ,e%ectively,
and the exercise or base price of the options or SARs. %

- Column (d) — the total number of securities underlyinséexercised options
and SARs held at the end of the most recently completed j ial year, separately
identifying the exercisable and unexercisable options and S

- Column (e) — the aggregate dollar valué\&‘in-the-money, unexercised
options and SARs held at the end of the finang Qear, separately identifying the
exercisable and unexercisable options and SARs?ﬁ[he dollar value is calculated the
same way as in column (c). Options or freest SARs are in-the-money at financial
year-end if the market value of the undea/i‘n securities on that date exceeds the

exercise or base price of the option or S

Item 5 Option and SAR Rep@s

5.1 Table of Option an%é&l?epricings
/

h

NEO | Date of | Securitie \%rket Exercise Price | New  Exercise | Length of Original
) Pri

Name | Repricing | Uner J Price of | at Time of | Price Option Term
€) (b) / | Securities Repricing or | ($/Security) (f) Remaining at Date
at Time of | Amendment of Repricing or
Repricing or | ($/Security) Amendment
Amendment | (e) (9)
\ Amended ($/Security)
g | (#) (0) (d)
CEO | .\ )
CFO A/~
AN
&
\~
1. Complete this table if at any time during the most recently completed financial

year, your company has repriced downward any options or freestanding SARs held by
any NEO.

2. State the following information for all downward repricings of options or SARs
held by any NEO during the shorter of
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(@) the 10 year period ending on the date of this Form; and
(b) the period during which your company has been a reporting issuer.

3. Information about a replacement grant made during the financial year must be
disclosed even if the corresponding original grant was cancelled in a prior year. If %
replacement grant is not made at the current market value, describe this fact a%"th
terms of the grant in a footnote to the table. q/

4. The information must be presented in groups according to issuer tlass or
series of security underlying options or SARs and within these grgupsvIn reverse

chronological order. s

5. In a narrative immediately before or after this table, explai reasonable detail
the basis for all downward repricings during the most recentl;@mpleted financial year
of options and SARs held by any of the NEOs.

ltem 6 Defined Benefit or Actuarial Plan Disc@ﬁlre
6.1 Pension Plan Table q/
o0
Remuneration Years of Service D "
%) 15 20 [/, 25 30 35
125,000 ®
150,000
175,000 NN
200,000 AN/
225,000 Q N
250,000 <,
300,000 CY
400,000 \ Y
N\
[insert additional 1, s appropriate for additional increments]

determine warily by final compensation (or average final compensation) and years

1. Com%t&his table for defined benefit or actuarial plans under which benefits are
of se@ e estimated annual benefits payable upon retirement (including amounts

attrib to any defined benefit supplementary or excess pension awards plan) for
the@ iflied compensation and years of service should be disclosed .
\% Immediately following the table disclose

(@) the compensation covered by the plan(s), including the relationship of the
covered compensation to the compensation reported in the table in section 2.1;
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(b)  the current compensation covered by the plan for any NEO whose total
compensation differs substantially (by more than 10%) from that set out in the table in
section 2.1;

(c) a statement as to the basis upon which benefits are computed (for
example; straight-life annuity amounts), and whether or not the benefits listed in the
table are subject to any deduction for social security or other offset amounts such%
Canada Pension Plan or Québec Pension Plan amounts; and Q\

(d) the estimated credited years of service for each NEO.

Oy«
3. Compensation disclosed in the table must allow for reasona (iléreases in
existing compensation levels or, alternately, you may presen the highest
compensation level in the table, an amount equal to 120% of th ount of covered

compensation of the most highly compensated of the NEOs.

4. For defined benefit or actuarial plans which are onrted in the table in
section 6.1 because the benefits are not determined prigu»a dy by final compensation (or
average final compensation) or years of service, state@ rrative form

(@ the formula by which benefits are d%e{r)?fned; and

(b) the estimated annual ben@s:‘%ayable upon retirement at normal
retirement age for each of the NEOs. Q/

Item 7 Termination of E ent, Change in Responsibilities and
Employment Contracts &

following contracts or ar ments which are in existence at the end of the most
recently completed fin@ ar:

(@ any, yment contract between your company or its subsidiaries and a

NEO:; and Q

(b) %y compensatory plan, contract or arrangement, where a NEO is entitled

7.1 Describe the term%? conditions, including dollar amounts, of each of the
e

to recei ore than $100,000 from the issuer or its subsidiaries, including periodic
pay or instalments, in the event of
@ 0] the resignation, retirement or any other termination of the NEO's
ployment with your company and its subsidiaries;

(i) a change of control of your company or any of its subsidiaries; or

(i)  achange in the NEO's responsibilities following a change in control.
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7.2 A cross reference to disclosure already made of any payments, instalments or
contributions to defined benefit pension plans under Items 2 or 6 is permitted.

Item 8 Composition of the Compensation Committee

8.1 If any compensation is reported in Items 2 to 6 for the most recently completed

financial year, under the caption “Composition of the Compensation Committeg-

identify each member of your company's compensation committee (or other §

committee performing equivalent functions or in the absence of any such commi the

entire board of directors) during the most recently completed financial &ar. Also,
A

indicate each committee member who q/
(@ was, during the most recently completed financial )&n officer or
employee of your company or any of its subsidiaries; 0

D

(b)  was formerly an officer of your company or any o@ Subsidiaries;

(© had or has any relationship that requires §osure by your company
under Form 51-102F5 Information Circular, ltem 1 'hsdebtedness of Directors and
Executive Officers” and Item 11 “Interest of Informe ons in Material Transactions”;

(d)  was an executive officer of your tg@é‘my and also served as a director or
member of the compensation committe, other board committee performing
equivalent functions or, in the absenc ny such committee, the entire board of
directors) of another issuer, one of wh ecutive officers served either

0] on the co
performing equivalent functio
board of directors) of the iss@?o

(i) as@Qi ctor of the issuer.

8.2 If the conQnga)n of the compensation committee changed during the year or
before the rep%' Item 9 “Report on Executive Compensation” is prepared, then
disclose th ange in membership as well as any of the relationships described in
section 8.&y.

ation committee (or other board committee
, In the absence of any such committee, the entire

r

Ite 03 Report on Executive Compensation

@ If any compensation is reported in Items 2 to 6 for the most recently completed

WYancial year, describe under the caption “Report on Executive Compensation” the
policies of the compensation committee or other board committee performing equivalent
functions, or in the absence of any such committee then of the entire board of directors
of your company, during the most recently completed financial year, for determining
compensation of executive officers. Boilerplate language should be avoided.
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9.2  This report should include a discussion of
(@) the relative emphasis of your company on cash compensation, options,

SARs, securities purchase programs, shares or units that are subject to restrictions on
resale and other incentive plans, and annual versus long-term compensation;

(b)  whether the amount and terms of outstanding options, SARs, shares aQé
units subject to restrictions on resale were taken into account when determaihg

whether and how many new option grants would be made; (l/

(c) the specific relationship of your company's performance Xecutive
compensation, and, in particular, describing each measure of r \ompany's
performance, whether quantitative or qualitative, on which executive nsation was

based and the weight assigned to each measure, e.g. percentage r, S; and

(d) the waiver or adjustment of the relevant perf@riyance criteria and the
bases for the decision if an award was made to a NEO und erformance-based plan
despite failure to meet the relevant performance crite For example, you should
explain how bonuses are earned and why they were a@&‘d this period, if applicable.

9.3 The report should state the foIIOW@:k‘ormation about each CEO's

compensation: rb

(@) the bases for the CEO's nsation for the most recently completed
financial year, including the factors teria upon which the CEQO's compensation
was based and the relative weight d to each factor;

(b) the competitive ’ges, if compensation of the CEO was based on
assessments of competitiv Qi with whom the comparison was made, the nature of,
and the basis for, selectin%group with which the comparison was made and at what
level in the group th pensation was placed. Disclose if different competitive
standards were use@fferent components of the CEO's compensation; and

(© t Qaationship of your company's performance to the CEO's
compensatifi,fod the most recently completed financial year, describing each measure
y's performance, whether quantitative or qualitative, on which the CEO's
was based and the weight assigned to each measure, for example,
e ranges.

% Name each member of your company's compensation committee (or other board

mmittee performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee,
the entire board of directors). If the board of directors modified or rejected in any
material way any action or recommendation by the committee with respect to decisions
in the most recently completed financial year, the report should indicate this fact, explain
the reasons for the board's action and include the names of all of the members of the
board.
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9.5 If a compensation committee member dissents concerning the content of the
report, the report must identify the dissenting member and the reasons provided to the
committee for the dissent.

9.6 Disclosure of target levels with respect to specific quantitative or qualitative
performance-related factors considered by the committee (or board), or any factors%
criteria involving confidential information is not required. Q’\

committees, a joint report may be presented indicating the separate ‘ittee's
responsibilities and members of each committee or alternatively sepa@ ports may
be prepared for each committee.

Item 10 Performance Graph 50

10.1 If any compensation is reported in response to Items’gQG for the most recently
completed financial year, immediately after Item 9 vgvide a line graph called
“Performance Graph” comparing Q)\

9.7 If compensation of executive officers is determined by differgnt oard

(@) the yearly percentage change 4 ‘;/kjr company's cumulative total
shareholder return on each class or series of 9 securities that are publicly traded,
as measured in accordance with section 10, ]

% a broad equity market index assuming

issuers whose securities are traded on the
le market capitalization, provided that, if your
omposite Index, you must use the total return index
Index.

(b)  the cumulative total re
reinvestment of dividends, that in
same exchange or are of co
company is within the S&P/T
value of the S&P/TSX Com

10.2 The yearly percg%e change in your company's cumulative total shareholder

return on a class or of securities must be measured by dividing

@) t% of
' the cumulative amount of dividends for the measurement period,
assur& J¥idend reinvestment, and

(i) the difference between the price for the securities of the class or
@es at the end and the beginning of the measurement period, by

(b) the price for the securities of the class or series at the beginning of the
measurement period.

At the measurement point, which is the beginning of the measurement period,
the closing price must be converted into a fixed investment of $100 in your company's
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securities (or in the securities represented by a given index), with cumulative returns for
each subsequent financial year measured as a change from that investment.

10.3 In preparing the required graphic comparisons,

(@) use, to the extent feasible, comparable methods of presentation and
assumptions for the total return calculations, provided that, if your company constru%
its own peer group index under section 10.5(b), the same methodology must be u I
calculating both your company's total return and that of the peer group index; (l/

(b) assume the reinvestment of dividends into additional secp@s“ of the
same class or series at the frequency with which dividends are paid %th securities
during the applicable financial year; and : é

(c) each financial year should be plotted with points shiywhg the cumulative
total return as of that point. The value of the investment as ach point plotted on a
given return line is the number of securities held at that oyt multiplied by the then-

prevailing security price. '\b‘

10.4 You must present information for your compa?@last 5 most recently completed
financial years, and may choose to graph a longer feriod but the $100 measurement
point remains the same. A period shorter than m;%?s may be used if the class or series
of securities forming the basis for the compamison has been publicly traded for a shorter

time period. Q/

10.5 You also may elect to inclu he graph a line charting the cumulative total
return, assuming reinvestment o nds, of

prepared by a party othe your company or its affiliate and is accessible to your
company's securityholds?provided that, you may use an index prepared by your
company or its affili@ uch index is widely recognized and used,;

@ a published%%ry or line-of-business index which is any index that is

(b) pﬁ \ssuer(s) selected in good faith. If you do not select your company's
peer issuerg/gn an industry or line-of-business basis, you must disclose the basis for
your sele r

& issuer(s) with similar market capitalization(s), but only if you do not use a

pulghed industry or line-of-business index and do not believe you can reasonably

@.tlfy a peer group. If you use this alternative, the graph must be accompanied by a
tement of the reasons for this selection.

10.6 If you use peer issuer comparisons or comparisons with issuers with similar

market capitalizations, the identity of those issuers must be disclosed and the returns of
each component issuer of the group must be weighted according to the respective
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issuer's market capitalization at the beginning of each period for which a return is
indicated.

10.7 Any election to use an additional index under section 10.5 is considered to apply
in respect of all subsequent financial years unless abandoned by your company in
accordance with this section. To abandon the index, your company must have, in the
information circular or AlF for the financial year immediately preceding the most rece%
completed financial year

(@) stated its intention to abandon the index; q/
q N
(b) explained the reason(s) for this change; and %q/

(© compared your company's total return with that of % ected additional
index.

10.8 You may include comparisons using performance qugres in addition to total
return, such as return on average common sharehol ' equity, so long as your
company's compensation committee (or other board &nmlttee performing equivalent
functions or in the absence of any such commiﬁ?the entire board of directors)
describes the link between that measure and th of executive compensation in the
report required by Item 9. rb

Item 11 Compensation of Directo%e

11.1 Disclose the following unde%;@i?ompensation of Directors” heading:

directors of your company heir services as directors from your company and its
subsidiaries during the m ently completed financial year, including any additional
amounts payable for c@g‘u ee participation or special assignments;

(@) any standard @ sation arrangements, stating amounts, earned by
c

director, under h directors were compensated for their services as directors from
your comp ahd its subsidiaries during the most recently completed financial year;

and Q

any other arrangements, stating the amounts paid and the name of the

dirQor, under which directors of your company were compensated for services as

sultants or experts, by your company and its subsidiaries during the most recently
mpleted financial year.

(b) a& arrangements, stating the amounts paid and the name of the

11.2 If information required by section 11.1 is provided in response to another item of
this Form, a cross-reference to where the information is provided satisfies section 11.1.
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Item 12 Unincorporated Issuers
12.1 Unincorporated issuers must report

(@) a description of and amount of fees or other compensation paid by the
issuer to individuals acting as directors or trustees of the issuer for the most rece%

completed financial year; and Q’\

(b) a description of and amount of expenses reimbursed by the issyer t&such
individuals as directors or trustees during the most recently completed finar@s@ ar.

12.2 The information required by this Item may be disclosed in %Guer's annual

financial statements instead. Q

Item 13 Venture Issuers O

13.1 A venture issuer may omit the disclosure required ltems 5, 6, 8, 9 and 10. A
venture issuer must, in a narrative that accompanie table required in section 4.1,
disclose which grants of options or SARs result fro icing and explain in reasonable

detail the basis for the repricing. .

Item 14 Issuers Reporting in the Un@gates

14.1 Except as provided in section EC issuers may satisfy the requirements of
this Form by providing the informaij quired by Item 402 “Executive Compensation”
of Regulation S-K under the 193 @

14.2 Section 14.1 is not ilable to an issuer that, as a foreign private issuer,
satisfies Item 402 of Reg S-K by providing the information required by Items 6.B
“Compensation” and 6. hare Ownership” of Form 20-F under the 1934 Act.

M.O. 2005-03, F -102F6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 43; M.O. 2008-18, s. 11 and 13.

o“f(
OQ‘
\
Ny
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FORM 51-102F6 STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION (in respect of
financial years ending on or after December 31, 2008)

ITEM 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
1.1 Objective
directors for, or in connection with, services they have provided to the comp ra
subsidiary of the company must be disclosed in this form. q
A

emSation the
ded to each

All direct and indirect compensation provided to certain executive officergbg?

The objective of this disclosure is to communicate the coq
company paid, made payable, awarded, granted, gave or otherwis
NEO and director for the financial year, and the decision-makin cess relating to
compensation. This disclosure will provide insight into executive ¢ ensation as a key
aspect of the overall stewardship and governance of th mpany and will help
investors understand how decisions about executive comp n are made.

A company’s executive compensation disclosu 'Dﬂder this form must satisfy this
objective and subsections 9.3.1(1) or 11.6(1) of the R&Iaﬂon.

1.2 Definitions er"
If a term is used in this forr&g is not defined in this section, refer to

subsection 1.1(1) of the Regulation Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions

(chapter V-1.1, r. 3).
&

In this form, Q
“CEO” means an i@iNWual who acted as chief executive officer of the company,
or acted in a similar ca@gﬂ , for any part of the most recently completed financial

year; O

“CFO” % an individual who acted as chief financial officer of the company, or
acted in a si@ apacity, for any part of the most recently completed financial year;

K g market price” means the price at which the company’s security was last
sold e applicable date,

\QQ €) in the security’s principal marketplace in Canada, or

(b) if the security is not listed or quoted on a marketplace in Canada, in the
security’s principal marketplace;

“company” includes other types of business organizations such as partnerships,
trusts and other unincorporated business entities;
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“equity incentive plan” means an incentive plan, or portion of an incentive plan,
under which awards are granted and that falls within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment;

“external management company” includes a subsidiary, affiliate or associate of
the external management company; %

“grant date” means a date determined for financial statement reporting ppi}%ses
under IFRS 2 Share-based Payment;
Q> A

“‘incentive plan” means any plan providing compensation t pends on
achieving certain performance goals, or similar conditions within a spgé period;

“incentive plan award” means compensation awarded, eaw@ paid, or payable
under an incentive plan; O

“NEQO” or “named executive officer” means each (;f\$@ following individuals:

(@) acCEQO; (\9

(b) aCFO; er °

%sated executive officers of the company,
st highly compensated individuals acting in

and CFO, at the end of the most recently

| compensation was, individually, more than
nce with subsection 1.3(6), for that financial year;

(c) each of the 3 most highly c
including any of its subsidiaries, or th
a similar capacity, other than the
completed financial year who
$150,000, as determined in aQ

and Q/

(d)  each indiduat who would be an NEO under paragraph (c) but for the fact
that the individual ither an executive officer of the company or its subsidiaries,
nor acting in a sirpf apacity, at the end of that financial year;

“non- %/ incentive plan” means an incentive plan or portion of an incentive
plan that i an equity incentive plan;

gtion-based award” means an award under an equity incentive plan of options,
inch\ding, for greater certainty, share options, share appreciation rights, and similar
%‘ruments that have option-like features;

“plan” includes any plan, contract, authorization, or arrangement, whether or not

set out in any formal document, where cash, securities, similar instruments or any other
property may be received, whether for one or more persons;
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“replacement grant” means an option that a reasonable person would consider to
be granted in relation to a prior or potential cancellation of an option;

“repricing” means, in relation to an option, adjusting or amending the exercise or
base price of the option, but excludes any adjustment or amendment that equally affects
all holders of the class of securities underlying the option and occurs through the
operation of a formula or mechanism in, or applicable to, the option; '\Q.)

“share-based award” means an award under an equity incentive plan or@ity-
based instruments that do not have option-like features, including, for greatef ceMainty,
common shares, restricted shares, restricted share units, deferred share ua%‘hantom
shares, phantom share units, common share equivalent units and stock@

1.3 Preparing the form 50%

(1)  All compensation to be included O

(@) When completing this form, the company t disclose all compensation
paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or otherwise ided, directly or indirectly, by
the company, or a subsidiary of the company, ch NEO and director, in any

indirect pay, remuneration, economic or fi al award, reward, benefit, gift or

capacity, including, for greater certainty, all plan §d on-plan compensation, direct and
perquisite paid, payable awarded, grantgdé’l , or otherwise provided to the NEO or

director for services provided and for ser to be provided, directly or indirectly, to the

company or a subsidiary of the com@
(b) Despite paragraph @'n respect of the Canada Pension Plan, similar
government plans, and grou ealth, hospitalization, medical reimbursement and

relocation plans that do no riminate in scope, terms or operation and are generally
available to all salaried oyees, the company is not required to disclose as

compensation \&

0] contributions or premiums paid or payable by the company on
behalf of an NE), Sr of a director, under these plans, and

f any cash, securities, similar instruments or any other property
receive n NEO, or by a director, under these plans.

QQ) For greater certainty, the plans described in paragraph (b) include plans
\@ provide for such benefits after retirement.

(d) If an item of compensation is not specifically mentioned or described in

this form, it is to be disclosed in column (h) (“All other compensation”) of the summary
compensation table in section 3.1.
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(2) Departures from format

(@)  Although the required disclosure must be made in accordance with this
form, the disclosure may

0] omit a table, column of a table, or other prescribed information, IQS
does not apply, and

(i) add a table, column, or other information if q’

(A)  necessary to satisfy the objective in section % d

(B) to a reasonable person, the table §umn, or other
information does not detract from the prescribed informatibs In the summary

compensation table in section 3.1. O

(b) Despite paragraph (a), a company must ng\wd a column in the summary
compensation table in section 3.1.

3) Information for full financial year Q?/

If an NEO acted in that capacity for rbmpany during part of the financial year

for which disclosure is required in the s ry compensation table, provide details of
all of the compensation that the N ed from the company for that financial year.
This includes compensation the N ned in any other position with the company

during the financial year.

Do not annualize co satlon in a table for any part of a year when an NEO
was not in the service of mpany. Annualized compensation may be disclosed in a
footnote.
4) External r@ement companies

@) e or more individuals acting as an NEO of the company are not
employee e company, disclose the names of those individuals.

If an external management company employs or retains one or more

ind\gtUals acting as NEOs or directors of the company and the company has entered

an understanding, arrangement or agreement with the external management

mpany to provide executive management services to the company directly or
indirectly, disclose any compensation that:

0] the company paid directly to an individual employed, or retained by

the external management company, who is acting as an NEO or director of the
company;
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and

(i) the external management company paid to the individual that is
attributable to the services they provided to the company directly or indirectly.

(c) If an external management company provides the company’s executi
management services and also provides executive management services to a
company, disclose the entire compensation the external management compan to
the individual acting as an NEO or director, or acting in a similar capacity, in Eon ction

with services the external management company provided to the co Nor the
parent or a subsidiary of the company. If the management compapy, aMicates the
compensation paid to an NEO or director, disclose the basis or m&d\ogy used to
allocate this compensation. 50

Commentary O

An NEO may be employed by an external mana ent company and provide
services to the company under an understanding, a@gement or agreement. In this
case, references in this form to the CEO or CFO a erences to the individuals who
performed similar functions to that of the CEO &Q CFO. They are generally the same
individuals who signed and filed annual a‘&ﬁ‘terim certificates to comply with
Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification gf Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim

Filings (chapter V-1.1, r. 27). Q/
(5) Director and NEO compen

Disclose any compens 4& warded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to each
director and NEO, in anyQﬁ city with respect to the company. Compensation to
directors and NEOs m AMclude all compensation from the company and its

subsidiaries. \&

Disclose aq? mpensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to, an
NEO, or directg, any capacity with respect to the company, by another person or
company.

(6) IQgﬂénining if an individual is an NEO

or the purpose of calculating total compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to,
ayable to an individual under paragraph (c) of the definition of NEO,

€) use the total compensation that would be reported under column (i) of the
summary compensation table required by section 3.1 for each executive officer, as if
that executive officer were an NEO for the company’s most recently completed financial
year, and
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(b)  exclude from the calculation,

0] any compensation that would be reported under column (g) of the
summary compensation table required by section 3.1,

(i) any incremental payments, payables, and benefits to an executive
officer that are triggered by, or result from, a scenario listed in section 6.1 that occurr
during the most recently completed financial year, and

specifically intended to offset the impact of a higher cost of living in the forgiy)[dcation,
and is not otherwise related to the duties the executive officer pgrfovfis for the
company.

Commentary 50

The $150,000 threshold in paragraph (c) of the deﬂﬁ@l of NEO only applies
when determining who is an NEO in a company’s mgs ecently completed financial

(i)  any cash compensation that relates to foreign assignmEiEtglﬁat IS

year. If an individual is an NEO in the most recently ¢ ted financial year, disclosure
of compensation in prior years must be provided if ise required by this form even
if total compensation in a prior year is less than %Q 00 in that year.

o

(7 Compensation to associates Q‘

Disclose any awards, earning
NEO, or of a director, as a result
payable to the NEO or the direct

ments, or payables to an associate of an
pensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or
ny capacity with respect to the company.

(8) New reporting issuﬁg

@) Disclose i c%ation in the summary compensation table for the 3 most
recently completed { lal years since the company became a reporting issuer.

(b) Di??paragraph (a), do not provide information for a completed financial
year if the cgfppa@ny was not a reporting issuer for any part of that financial year, unless

the compeQ/) came a reporting issuer as a result of a restructuring transaction.

& If the company was not a reporting issuer at any time during the most
rec8gtly completed financial year and the company is completing the form because it is

aring a prospectus, discuss all significant elements of the compensation to be
arded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to NEOs of the company once it becomes a
reporting issuer, to the extent this compensation has been determined.
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Commentary

1. Unless otherwise specified, information required to be disclosed under this form
may be prepared in accordance with the accounting principles the company uses to
prepare its financial statements, as permitted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25). %

2. The definition of “director” under securities legislation includes an individp@/ho
acts in a capacity similar to that of a director.
4

(9) Currencies %q/

Companies must report amounts required by this form in lan dollars or in
the same currency that the company uses for its financial stateme. A company must
use the same currency in the tables in sections 3.1, 4.1, 1, 5.2 and 7.1 of this

4
form. &
If compensation awarded to, earned by, paid t%'b‘.bsayable to an NEO was in a
currency other than the currency reported in the pr ed tables of this form, state the
currency in which compensation was awarded, Qarn€d, paid, or payable, disclose the
currency exchange rate and describe th ?hodology used to translate the
compensation into Canadian dollars or tQJ; rency that the company uses in its

financial statements. Q/

(10) Plain language

Information required toé%u%losed under this form must be clear, concise, and
presented in such a way jt provides a reasonable person, applying reasonable
effort, an understanding oC'o

(@) how d@s about NEO and director compensation are made; and

(b) h pecific NEO and director compensation relates to the overall
stewardshipdpdyovernance of the company.

Comeg'é

ngfer to the plain language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to
@u ation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2012-PDG-
36, 2012-12-20) for further guidance.
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ITEM 2 COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
2.1 Compensation discussion and analysis

(2) Describe and explain all significant elements of compensation awarded to,
earned by, paid to, or payable to NEOs for the most recently completed financial ye%

Include the following: Q\
(@) the objectives of any compensation program or strategy; qq’
(b)  what the compensation program is designed to reward,; %q/
(© each element of compensation; 0%
(d)  why the company chooses to pay each element; O
(e) how the company determines the amountv@nd, where applicable, the

formula) for each element; and Q

that element fit into the company’s overall co ation objectives and affect decisions

() how each element of compensati; arld the company’s decisions about
about other elements. Q‘

(2) If applicable, describe any ne
after the end of the most rece
reasonable person’s understandg
completed financial year. Q

ons, decisions or policies that were made
mpleted financial year that could affect a
an NEO’s compensation for the most recently

3) If applicable, cIearI@ﬂ‘?%fe the benchmark and explain its components, including
the companies included¥q tfe benchmark group and the selection criteria.

4) If applicabq@close performance goals or similar conditions that are based on
objective, idenifjasle measures, such as the company’s share price or earnings per
share. If pefAgrMance goals or similar conditions are subjective, the company may
describe t&formance goal or similar condition without providing specific measures.

e company discloses performance goals or similar conditions that are non-
GA Inancial measures, explain how the company calculates these performance
\ Is or similar conditions from its financial statements.

Exemption

The company is not required to disclose performance goals or similar conditions
in respect of specific quantitative or qualitative performance-related factors if a
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reasonable person would consider that disclosing them would seriously prejudice the
company’s interests.

For the purposes of this exemption, a company’s interest’s are not considered to
be seriously prejudiced solely by disclosing performance goals or similar conditions if
those goals or conditions are based on broad corporate-level financial performance
metrics which include earnings per share, revenue growth, and earnings before intere@b
taxes, depreciation and amortization.

This exemption does not apply if it has publicly disclosed the perforn@c(clﬁoals

or similar conditions. q/ R
If the company is relying on this exemption, state this fac explain why
disclosing the performance goals or similar conditions would sei y prejudice the

company’s interests.

If the company does not disclose specific per nce goals or similar
conditions, state what percentage of the NEO’s total Sdmpensation relates to this
undisclosed information and how difficult it could be f NEO, or how likely it will be
for the company, to achieve the undisclosed perfornﬁ% goal or similar condition.

(5) Disclose whether or not the board of {\'{%f‘ors, or a committee of the board,
considered the implications of the risks a%i ed with the company’s compensation
policies and practices. If the implications@ considered, disclose the following:

(@) the extent and natur e board of directors’ or committee’ role in the
risk oversight of the company’s 9{ sation policies and practices;

(b) any practicesécompany uses to identify and mitigate compensation
policies and practices tha encourage an NEO or individual at a principal business
unit or division to take@g opriate or excessive risks;

(c) anyQ@fied risks arising from the company’s compensation policies and
practices that asonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the company.

whether or not an NEO or director is permitted to purchase financial
~Including, for greater certainty, prepaid variable forward contracts, equity
swa llars, or units of exchange funds, that are designed to hedge or offset a
de%ase in market value of equity securities granted as compensation or held, directly
éw irectly, by the NEO or director.

N

Commentary
1. The information disclosed under section 2.1 will depend on the facts. Provide

enough analysis to allow a reasonable person, applying reasonable effort, to
understand the disclosure elsewhere in this form. Describe the significant principles
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underlying policies and explain the decisions relating to compensation provided to an
NEO. Disclosure that merely describes the process for determining compensation or
compensation already awarded, earned, paid, or payable is not adequate. The
information contained in this section should give readers a sense of how compensation
is tied to the NEO’s performance. Avoid boilerplate language.

2. If the company’s process for determining executive compensation is very smp@
for example, the company relies solely on board discussion without any
objectives, criteria and analysis, then make this clear in the discussion. (l/

3. If the company used any benchmarking in determining compens(e@r“or any
element of compensation, include the benchmark group and degcyib® why the
benchmark group and selection criteria are considered by the compa@be relevant.

4. The following are examples of items that will usually be s@icant elements of
disclosure concerning compensation: O

- contractual or non-contractual arrangemem}‘plans, process changes or
any other matters that might cause the amounts osed for the most recently
completed financial year to be misleading if uGt/ as an indicator of expected
compensation levels in future periods; Q“

- the process for determining p tes and personal benefits;
earnings, payments, or payables erformance goal or similar condition on which

they are based are restated o ted to reduce the award, earning, payment, or
payable;

- policies and decisions @ the adjustment or recovery of awards,

- the basis foééctmg events that trigger payment for any arrangement
that provides for paym , following or in connection with any termination or change

of control; O

r%i aiver or change to any specified performance goal or similar
condltlon to t for any amount, including whether the waiver or change applied to
one or m ecified NEOs or to all compensation subject to the performance goal or
similar flion;

- whether the board of directors can exercise a discretion, either to award
Qmpensation absent attainment of the relevant performance goal or similar condition or
\0 reduce or increase the size of any award or payout, including if they exercised
discretion and whether it applied to one or more named executive officers;

- whether the company will be making any significant changes to its
compensation policies and practices in the next financial year;
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- the role of executive officers in determining executive compensation; and

- performance goals or similar conditions in respect of specific quantitative
or qualitative performance-related factors for NEOs.

5. The following are examples of situations that could potentially encourage an
executive officer to expose the company to inappropriate or excessive risks: '\Q.)

- compensation policies and practices at a principal business unkﬁthe
company or a subsidiary of the company that are structured significantly diffefentM than
others within the company; q(é) S

- compensation policies and practices for certain executi %&fcers that are
structured significantly differently than other executive officers withi company;,

- compensation policies and practices that do Q‘lnclude effective risk

0

management and regulatory compliance as part of the p ance metrics used in
determining compensation;

- compensation policies and practices wr]% the compensation expense to
executive officers is a significant percentage of t co pany’s revenue;

- compensation policies and prggyices that vary significantly from the overall
compensation structure of the company; Q/

- compensation policie practices where incentive plan awards are
awarded upon accomplishment sk while the risk to the company from that task
extends over a significantly Io& riod of time;

- compensati@icies and practices that contain performance goals or
similar conditions that\af€ heavily weighed to short-term rather than long-term

objectives; O

in%%ve plan awards that do not provide a maximum benefit or payout
eYfficers.

limit to exec%
1%ggtamples above are not exhaustive and the situations to consider will vary

dep upon the nature of the company’s business and the company’s
coréensation policies and practices.

\X Performance graph
(@)  This section does not apply to

0] venture issuers,
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(i) companies that have distributed only debt securities or non-
convertible, non-participating preferred securities to the public, and

(i)  companies that were not reporting issuers in any jurisdiction in
Canada for at least 12 calendar months before the end of their most recently completed
financial year, other than companies that became new reporting issuers as a result of a
restructuring transaction. %

(b) Provide a line graph showing the company’s cumulative total shage@der
return over the 5 most recently completed financial years. Assume that $10¥" was
invested on the first day of the 5-year period. If the company has bee %éporting
issuer for less than 5 years, use the period that the company has @ reporting

issuer. : é

Compare this to the cumulative total return of at Ie§one broad equity
market index that, to a reasonable person, would be an app 'a e reference point for
the company’s return. If the company is included in the/S&P/TSX Composite Total
Return Index, use that index. In all cases, assume that Wnds are reinvested.

Discuss how the trend shown by this h compares to the trend in the
company’s compensation to executive officers raor d under this form over the same
period. K

o
Commentary &

For section 2.2, companies 20 include other relevant performance goals or
similar conditions. &

2.3 Share-based an(@ion-based awards

awards to executiy, cers. Include the role of the compensation committee and
executive officersA ting or amending any equity incentive plan under which a share-
based or optior(%&d award is granted. State whether previous grants are taken into
account wh omsidering new grants.

2.4 Qgt?mpensation governance

(1)Q escribe any policies and practices adopted by the board of directors to
rmine the compensation for the company’s directors and executive officers.

Describe the §Q the company uses to grant share-based or option-based

(2) If the company has established a compensation committee

(@) disclose the name of each committee member and, in respect of each
member, state whether or not the member is independent or not independent;
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(b)  disclose whether or not one or more of the committee members has any
direct experience that is relevant to his or her responsibilities in executive
compensation;

(c) describe the skills and experience that enable the committee to make
decisions on the suitability of the company’s compensation policies and practices; and

»
Q

3) If a compensation consultant or advisor has, at any time since the %ny’s
most recently completed financial year, been retained to assist the board tors or
the compensation committee in determining compensation for any o@ ompany’s
directors or executive officers

(d) describe the responsibilities, powers and operation of the committee

(a) state the name of the consultant or advisor an qummary of the
mandate the consultant or advisor has been given; O

(b)  disclose when the consultant or advisor waswginally retained; and

(c) if the consultant or advisor has providq?ny services to the company, or
to its affiliated or subsidiary entities, or to @y YOf its directors or members of
management, other than or in addition to com tion services provided for any of the
company’s directors or executive officers,

0] state this fact an ::%gf describe the nature of the work,

(i) disclose wh e board of directors or compensation committee
must pre-approve other serv e consultant or advisor, or any of its affiliates,
provides to the company at% equest of management, and

(d) For eac%%e)two most recently completed financial year, disclose,

(i) Qder the caption “Executive Compensation-Related Fees”, the

aggregate fee by each consultant or advisor, or any of its affiliates, for services
related to d ining compensation for any of the company’s directors and executive
officers, a

Q~ (i) under the caption “All Other Fees”, the aggregate fees billed for all

oth&¢ services provided by each consultant or advisor, or any of its affiliates, that are not

rted under subparagraph (i) and include a description of the nature of the services
mprising the fees disclosed under this category.
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Commentary
For section 2.4, a director is independent if he or she would be independent
within the meaning of section 1.4 of Regulation 52-110 respecting Audit Committees
(chapter V-1.1, r. 28).
ITEM 3 SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE Q’\%
3.1 Summary compensation table q/
Despite paragraph 1.3(8)(a), for each NEO in the most rec%q/completed

financial year, complete this table for each of the company’s 3 most % y completed
financial years that end on or after December 31, 2008.

Name and | Year | Salary Share- Option- Non-equity incentive All other | Total
principal (b) (%) based based plan compensation ($) L@ compensation | compensation
position ©) awards awards (f) & (©)] %)

(a) %) (%) Annual Long- (h) @)

(d) (e) incentive term '\‘

CRE

(2) |

CEO

D~

|
2

CFO — Qg‘

|
DS

Commentary

disclosure cordance with the requirements of either Form 51-102F6, which came
into for March 30, 2004, as amended, or this form, in respect of a financial year
endir@ﬁre December 31, 2008.

Q In column (c), include the dollar value of cash and non-cash base salary an NEO
\%med during a financial year covered in the table (a covered financial year). If the
company cannot calculate the amount of salary earned in a financial year, disclose this
in a footnote, along with the reason why it cannot be determined. Restate the salary
figure the next time the company prepares this form, and explain what portion of the
restated figure represents an amount that the company could not previously calculate.

Underss&ection (1), a company is not required to disclose comparative period
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(3) In column (d), disclose the dollar amount based on the fair value of the award on
the grant date for a covered financial year.

4) In column (e), disclose the dollar amount based on the fair value of the award on

the grant date for a covered financial year. Include option-based awards both with or

without tandem share appreciation rights.

(5) For an award disclosed in column (d) or (e), in a narrative after the table, Q'\%
(@) describe the methodology used to calculate the fair value of thg aw¥d on

the grant date, disclose the key assumptions and estimates used for ea ¢ulation,
and explain why the company chose that methodology, and %

value determined in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Pay t (accounting fair
value), state the amount of the difference and explain the ref1<® or the difference.

Commentary b‘
N

1. This commentary applies to subsections (3), @&ld (5).

(b) if the fair value of the award on the grant date is @t from the fair

2. The value disclosed in columns (d) and'§6‘f the summary compensation table
should reflect what the company paid, de”’payable, awarded, granted, gave or
otherwise provided as compensation on&ant date (fair value of the award) as set
out in comment 3, below. This value iffer from the value reported in the issuer's
financial statements.

3. While compensation ’%&%s vary, there are generally 2 approaches that
boards of directors use Whg@?}ing compensation. A board of directors may decide the
value in securities of % ompany to be awarded or paid as compensation.
Alternatively, a board of\\dif€ctors may decide the portion of the potential ownership of
the company to be @rred as compensation. A fair value ascribed to the award will
normally result fr se approaches.

A co%a%y may calculate this value either in accordance with a valuation
methodol Mentified in IFRS 2 Share-based Payment or in accordance with another
metho set out in comment 5 below.

4 Q N some cases, the fair value of the award disclosed in columns (d) and (e) might

r from the accounting fair value. For financial statement purposes, the accounting

\a'r value amount is amortized over the service period to obtain an accounting cost
(accounting compensation expense), adjusted at year end as required.

5. While the most commonly used methodologies for calculating the value of most
types of awards are the Black-Scholes-Merton model and the binomial lattice model,

Regulation 51-102 September 30, 2014 PAGE 194



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 TO JUNE 29, 2015

companies may choose to use another valuation methodology if it produces a more
meaningful and reasonable estimate of fair value.

6. The summary compensation table requires disclosure of an amount even if the
accounting compensation expense is zero. The amount disclosed in the table should
reflect the fair value of the award following the principles described under comments 2

and 3, above. %
7. Column (d) includes common shares, restricted shares, restricted shaﬁ(%its,
deferred share units, phantom shares, phantom share units, common share_equMalent

units, stock, and similar instruments that do not have option-like features. q/ S

(6) In column (e), include the incremental fair value if, at any time the covered
financial year, the company has adjusted, amended, cancelled, reRl or significantly
modified the exercise price of options previously awarded to, e d by, paid to, or
payable to, an NEO. The repricing or modification date st be determined in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment. The meth y used to calculate the

incremental fair value must be the same methodology u%\%{o calculate the initial grant.

This requirement does not apply to any reprlcﬂl( at equally affects all holders of
the class of securities underlying the options tMat occurs through a pre-existing
formula or mechanism in the plan or award th dits in the periodic adjustment of the
option exercise or base price, an antid' oI provision in a plan or award, or a
recapitalization or similar transaction.

(7 Include a footnote to the uantlfylng the incremental fair value of any
adjusted, amended, cancelled ced or significantly modified options that are
included in the table.

(8) In column (f), i oé/the dollar value of all amounts earned for services
performed during the %s d financial year that are related to awards under non-equity
incentive plans and nings on any such outstanding awards.

(@) If&levam performance goal or similar condition was satisfied during a

i i year (including for a single year in a plan with a multi-year
al or similar condition), report the amounts earned for that financial year,
are payable at a later date. The company is not required to report these
gain in the summary compensation table when they are actually paid to an

\E (b) Include a footnote describing and quantifying all amounts earned on non-
equity incentive plan compensation, whether they were paid during the financial year,
were payable but deferred at the election of an NEO, or are payable by their terms at a
later date.
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(c) Include any discretionary cash awards, earnings, payments, or payables
that were not based on predetermined performance goals or similar conditions that were
communicated to an NEO. Report any performance-based plan awards that include pre-
determined performance goals or similar conditions in column (f).

(d) In column (f1), include annual non-equity incentive plan compensation,
such as bonuses and discretionary amounts. For column (fl), annual non-e
incentive plan compensation relates only to a single financial year. In colum w
include all non-equity incentive plan compensation related to a period longer t gb)

year.
Oy«

fitvor defined

#ems such as

ings for defined

ne

9) In column (g), include all compensation relating to defined b
contribution plans. These include service costs and other compens
plan changes and earnings that are different from the estimated.e
benefit plans and abovemarket earnings for defined contribution pl

This disclosure relates to all plans that provide for t@yment of pension plan
benefits. Use the same amounts included in column (e) ofShe defined benefit plan table

required by Item 5 for the covered financial year and t ounts included in column (c)
of the defined contribution plan table as required m 5 for the covered financial
year.

“

(20) In column (h), include all other com s‘;Ron not reported in any other column of
this table. Column (h) must include, but i&mited to:

(@) perquisites, including, §
NEO that are not generally avai
$50,000 or more, or are wort
year. Value these items on asis of the aggregate incremental cost to the company
and its subsidiaries. Des in a footnote the methodology used for computing the
aggregate incrementa@ o the company.

Sta Q type and amount of each perquisite the value of which
exceeds 25% total value of perquisites reported for an NEO in a footnote to the
table. Provi%h footnote information for the most recently completed financial year

only; Q

other post-retirement benefits such as health insurance or life insurance
aft&grelirement;

\ (c) all “gross-ups” or other amounts reimbursed during the covered financial
year for the payment of taxes;

(d) the incremental payments, payables, and benefits to an NEO that are

triggered by, or result from, a scenario listed in section 6.1 that occurred before the end
of the covered financial year;
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(e) the dollar value of any insurance premiums paid or payable by, or on
behalf of, the company during the covered financial year for personal insurance for an
NEO if the estate of the NEO is the beneficiary;

0] the dollar value of any dividends or other earnings paid or payable on
share-based or option-based awards that were not factored into the fair value of IQS
award on the grant date required to be reported in columns (d) and (e); Q’\

(9) any compensation cost for any security that the NEO bought fr the
company or its subsidiaries at a discount from the market price of the sec (through
deferral of salary, bonus or otherwise). Calculate this cost at the date of gyrcWase and in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment; and &

(h)  above-market or preferential earnings on compensati¥hat is deferred on
a basis that is not tax exempt other than for defined contrib plans covered in the
defined contribution plan table in Item 5. Above-market or: rential applies to non-
registered plans and means a rate greater than the rate d\inarily paid by the company
or its subsidiary on securities or other obligations hgiy the same or similar features
issued to third parties. q/

(1) any company contribution to a@éﬁal savings plan like a registered
retirement savings plan made on behalf of @‘ 0.

&

ental payments, payables, and benefits that are
i0 described in section 6.1 that occurred before the

Commentary

1. Generally, there will be ngs\a
triggered by, or result from, age

end of a covered financi ar for compensation that has been reported in the
summary compensation or the most recently completed financial year or for a
financial year before th t recently completed financial year.

or a perform goal or similar condition in respect of the previously reported
compensati waived, as a result of a scenario described in section 6.1, the
increment yments, payables, and benefits should include the value of the
acceler enefit or of the waiver of the performance goal or similar condition.

If the vg@@ payout of the previously reported compensation is accelerated,
[

2. Q enerally, an item is not a perquisite if it is integrally and directly related to the
ormance of an executive officer’s duties. If something is necessary for a person to
his or her job, it is integrally and directly related to the job and is not a perquisite,

even if it also provides some amount of personal benefit.

If the company concludes that an item is not integrally and directly related to

performing the job, it may still be a perquisite if the item provides an NEO with any
direct or indirect personal benefit. If it does provide a personal benefit, the item is a
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perquisite, whether or not it is provided for a business reason or for the company’s
convenience, unless it is generally available on a non-discriminatory basis to all
employees.

Companies must conduct their own analysis of whether a particular item is a
perquisite. The following are examples of things that are often considered perquisites or
personal benefits. This list is not exhaustive: '\Q.)

- Cars, car lease and car allowance; (19
- Corporate aircraft or personal travel financed by the companyq? S

- Jewellery; %@
»

- Clothing;

. O
- Artwork; «
N

- Housekeeping services; Q

- Club membership;

o

- Financial assistance to gr@(educaﬂon to children of executive officers;

- Parking; &%
- Personal finar@)r tax advice;

- Theatre tickets;

- Security a onal residence or during personal travel; and

- ReiQ@ementS of taxes owed with respect to perquisites or other
personal benefif

(11) In
financi
thro

n (i), include the dollar value of total compensation for the covered
. For each NEO, this is the sum of the amounts reported in columns (c)

@ Any deferred amounts must be included in the appropriate column for the
vered financial year in which they are earned.

(13) If an NEO elected to exchange any compensation awarded to, earned by, paid
to, or payable to the NEO in a covered financial year under a program that allows the
NEO to receive awards, earnings, payments, or payables in another form, the
compensation the NEO elected to exchange must be reported as compensation in the
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column appropriate for the form of compensation exchanged: Do not report it in the form
in which it was or will be received by the NEO. State in a footnote the form of awards,
earnings, payments, or payables substituted for the compensation the NEO elected to
exchange.

3.2 Narrative discussion

Describe and explain any significant factors necessary to understang‘té?
information disclosed in the summary compensation table required by section 3.

Commentary q/ R

The significant factors described in section 3.2 will vary @ding on the
circumstances of each award but may include: 0

- the significant terms of each NEO’s em@ment agreement or
arrangement;

- any repricing or other significant chang fb?f?e terms of any share-based
or option-based award program during the most rect@completed financial year; and

- the significant terms of any awar drted in the summary compensation

table, including a general description of Afpe formula or criterion to be applied in
determining the amounts payable and tl'?{ sting schedule. For example, if dividends

will be paid on shares, state this, the YCable dividend rate and whether that rate is
preferential. %

3.3 (Repealed) Q&

3.4 Officers who a %’ct as directors

If an NEO i@ a director who receives compensation for services as a
director, include mpensation in the summary compensation table and include a
footnote explaiﬁ which amounts relate to the director role. Do not provide disclosure
for that NE rltem 7.

ITEM 4 C)INCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS
4.1QO Outstanding share-based awards and option-based awards

Complete this table for each NEO for all awards outstanding at the end of the
most recently completed financial year. This includes awards granted before the most

recently completed financial year. For all awards in this table, disclose the awards that
have been transferred at other than fair market value.
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Option-based Awards Share-based Awards
Name | Number of | Option Option Value of | Number | Market or | Market or
€) securities exercice | expiration | unexercised | of payout payout
underlying price date in-the- shares value of | value of
unexercised | ($) (c) (d) money or units | share- vested
options options of based share-
#) (%) shares awards based
(b) (e) that that have | award

have not | not no de
vested vested Lf]{
(#) (%)

out or
istributed
() Q) (‘1035)i
X/

= Z, )
cro N
A AN
B PR
C <\
N

(2) In column (b), for each award, disclose the n,u@ser of securities underlying
unexercised options. Q

3) In column (c), disclose the exercise or & price for each option under each
award reported in column (b). If the option wa nted in a different currency than that
reported in the table, include a footnote (@uibing the currency and the exercise or

base price.
K

4) In column (d), disclose th ration date for each option under each award
reported in column (b). ,&

(5) In column (e), discl aggregate dollar amount of in-the-money unexercised
options held at the end % e year. Calculate this amount based on the difference
between the market vgd® of the securities underlying the instruments at the end of the
year, and the exerci base price of the option.

(6) In colum f; disclose the total number of shares or units that have not vested.

(7 I @ n (g), disclose the aggregate market value or payout value of share-
base@avds that have not vested.

Q If the share-based award provides only for a single payout on vesting, calculate
@value based on that payout.

If the share-based award provides for different payouts depending on the
achievement of different performance goals or similar conditions, calculate this value
based on the minimum payout. However, if the NEO achieved a performance goal or
similar condition in a financial year covered by the share-based award that on vesting
could provide for a payout greater than the minimum payout, calculate this value based
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on the payout expected as a result of the NEO achieving this performance goal or
similar condition.

(8) In column (h), disclose the aggregate market value or payout value of vested
share-based awards that have not yet been paid out or distributed.

4.2 Incentive plan awards — value vested or earned during the year Q.)

(1) Complete this table for each NEO for the most recently completed financid\gaar.

Name Option-based  awards- | Share-based awards - Value | Non-equity i@\?‘e plan
- Value

@ Value vested during the | vested during the year compensatipn
year $) earned @he year
(%) (c) (%)
(b) (d) O\

CEO N\NY

CFO O\

A \V

c Na

A

(2) In column (b), disclose the aggregate dollar \(/gjae that would have been realized
if the options under the option-based award @een exercised on the vesting date.
Compute the dollar value that would have heefrealized by determining the difference
between the market price of the underl;&ecurities at exercise and the exercise or
base price of the options under the based award on the vesting date. Do not
include the value of any related p, t or other consideration provided (or to be
provided) by the company to or o If of an NEO.

(3) In column (c), disclos aggregate dollar value realized upon vesting of share-
based awards. Compute t ar value realized by multiplying the number of shares or
units by the market valyg he underlying shares on the vesting date. For any amount
realized upon vesting&QWhich receipt has been deferred, include a footnote that states
the amount and t @ s of the deferral.

4.3 N reﬂ(ve discussion

e and explain the significant terms of all plan-based awards, including
non- Incentive plan awards, issued or vested, or under which options have been
exe(gs , during the year, or outstanding at the year end, to the extent not already

cssed under sections 2.1, 2.3 and 3.2. The company may aggregate information for
erent awards, if separate disclosure of each award is not necessary to communicate
their significant terms.

Commentary

The items included in the narrative required by section 4.3 will vary depending on
the terms of each plan, but may include:
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- the number of securities underlying each award or received on vesting or
exercise;

- general descriptions of formula or criteria that are used to determine
amounts payable; -exercise prices and expiry dates;

- dividend rates on share-based awards;

- whether awards are vested or unvested;
Oy«

- performance goals or similar conditions, or other significar%cﬂditions;

- information on estimated future payouts for non-gg
awards (performance goals or similar conditions and maximum am

incentive plan
ts); and

- the closing market price on the grant date, if tﬁ&ercise or base price is
less than the closing market price of the underlying sean the grant date.

0%
o

(2) Complete this table for all pension@that provide for payments or benefits at,
following, or in connection with retire vexcluding defined contribution plans. For all
disclosure in this table, use the assumptions and methods used for financial
statement reporting purposes }g@ the accounting principles used to prepare the
company's financial statem \ as permitted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Prin@?s and Auditing Standards.

ITEM 5 PENSION PLAN BENEFITS

5.1 Defined benefit plans table

(02
Number | Annua ~ 1 Opening Compensatory | Non- Closing present
of years | benalXs present change compensatory | value of defined
credited @ e ($) | value of | (%) change benefit
Name | service Q defined (e) €)) obligation
(@) #) <§/A At benefit Q) $)
(b) % ear |age | obligation 9)
end 65 %)
()S) (€) [(2) | ()
CEOANN

N
é{%\)

(2) In columns (b) and (c), the disclosure must be as of the end of the company's
most recently completed financial year. In columns (d) through (g), the disclosure must
be as of the reporting date used in the company's audited annual financial statements
for the most recently completed financial year.
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3) In column (b), disclose the number of years of service credited to an NEO under
the plan. If the number of years of credited service in any plan is different from the
NEO's number of actual years of service with the company, include a footnote that
states the amount of the difference and any resulting benefit augmentation, such as the
number of additional years the NEO received.

(4) In column (c), disclose Qy\o.)

€) the annual lifetime benefit payable at the end of the mast aéently
completed financial year in column (cl) based on years of credited servicq%)brted in
column (b) and actual pensionable earnings as at the end of th t recently
completed financial year. For purposes of this calculation, the com ust assume
that the NEO is eligible to receive payments or benefits at year en

(b) the annual lifetime benefit payable at age 65, { }umn (c2) based on
years of credited service as of age 65 and actual pensiona rnings through the end
of the most recently completed financial year, as per coIHr\m(cl).

Commentary (\9

For purposes of quantifying the annual‘ﬁfg e benefit payable at the end of the
most recently completed financial year in Q&mn (c1), the company may calculate the
annual lifetime benefit payable as foIIO\%Q/

annual benefits payable at the pr d X years of credited service at year end
retirement age used to c I the years of credited service at the
closing present value of defined presumed retirement age

benefit obligation

The comp @lgy calculate the annual lifetime benefit payable in accordance
with another f if the company reasonably believes that it produces a more
meaningful ¢ I&atlon of the annual lifetime benefit payable at year end.

(5) I mn (d), disclose the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the
start ost recently completed financial year.

Q In column (e), disclose the compensatory change in the present value of the
ed benefit obligation for the most recently completed financial year. This includes
service cost net of employee contributions plus plan changes and differences between
actual and estimated earnings, and any additional changes that have retroactive impact,
including, for greater certainty, a change in valuation assumptions as a consequence of
an amendment to benefit terms.
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Disclose the valuation method and all significant assumptions the company
applied in quantifying the closing present value of the defined benefit obligation. The
company may satisfy all or part of this disclosure by referring to the disclosure of
assumptions in its financial statements, footnotes to the financial statements or
discussion in its management's discussion and analysis.

(7 In column (f), disclose the non-compensatory changes in the present value of %
defined benefit obligation for the company's most recently completed financialﬁa.
Include all items that are not compensatory, such as changes in assumptions ot an
those already included in column (e) because they were made as a consequgncé/of an
amendment to benefit terms, employee contributions and interest on the péht value
of the defined benefit obligation at the start of the most recently cor@t financial

year. %

(8) In column (g), disclose the present value of the defined beN®fit obligation at the
end of the most recently completed financial year. @

5.2 Defined contribution plans table '\b‘

(2) Complete this table for all pension plans that(tﬁide for payments or benefits at,
following or in connection with retirement, exgudi®g defined benefit plans. For all
disclosure in this table, use the same assu As and methods used for financial
statement reporting purposes under the?g nting principles used to prepare the

company’s financial statements, as itted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and ng Standards.

Name Accumulated valw Compensatory Accumulated value at year
(@ start of year (%) end
© Q" o (®)
®) <& @
CEO \"
CFO ,&‘
A A\
B A\
c 21X

(2) I Gﬂumn (c), disclose the employer contribution and above-market or
prefe %earnings credited on employer and employee contributions. Above-market
or @ential earnings applies to non-registered plans and means a rate greater than
t te ordinarily paid by the company or its subsidiary on securities or other
\ﬁgaﬁons having the same or similar features issued to third parties.

(3) (Paragraph repealed)

4) In column (d), disclose the accumulated value at the end of the most recently
completed financial year.
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Commentary

1. For pension plans that provide the maximum of: (i) the value of a defined benefit
pension; and (ii) the accumulated value of a defined contribution pension, companies
should disclose the global value of the pension plan in the defined benefit plans table
under section 5.1.

For pension plans that provide the sum of a defined benefit component <?
defined contribution component, companies should disclose the respective com nts
of the pension plan. The defined benefit component should be disclosed in (he d€fined
benefit plans table under section 5.1 and the defined contribution compongé‘w‘buld be

disclosed in the defined contribution plans table under section 5.2. %

2. Any contributions by the company or a subsidiary of the ¢ ﬁy to a personal
savings plan like a registered retirement savings plan made on be of the NEO must
still be disclosed in column (h) of the summary compens;{t@ table, as required by

paragraph 3.1(10)(i).
N

5.3 Narrative discussion Q
Describe and explain for each retirement which an NEO participates, any
significant factors necessary to understand ?ormatlon disclosed in the defined

benefit plan table in section 5.1 and the defQ~ ntribution plan table in section 5.2.
Commentary

Significant factors descrlb §t he narrative required by section 5.3 will vary, but
may include: Q

- the significa{%ms and conditions of payments and benefits available
under the plan, includ e plan’s normal and early retirement payment, benefit
formula, contributi mula, calculation of interest credited under the defined
contribution plan (Dlglblllty standards;

NEO and

nglons for early retirement, if applicable, including the name of the
lan, the early retirement payment and benefit formula and eligibility
arl

standar y retirement means retirement before the normal retirement age as
defi& the plan or otherwise available under the plan;

§ - the specific elements of compensation (e.g., salary, bonus) included in
plying the payment and benefit formula. If a company provides this information,
identify each element separately; and

- company policies on topics such as granting extra years of credited

service, including an explanation of who these arrangements relate to and why they are
considered appropriate.
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5.4 Deferred compensation plans

Describe the significant terms of any deferred compensation plan relating to each
NEO, including:

(@) the types of compensation that can be deferred and any limitations on IQS
extent to which deferral is permitted (by percentage of compensation or otherwise)'Q'\

(b) significant terms of payouts, withdrawals and other distributions; an(a’

measures may be changed, and whether an NEO or the com chose these

A
(© measures for calculating interest or other earnings, how (ﬂﬂhen these
measures. Quantify these measures wherever possible. 0%;

ITEM 6 TERMINATION AND CHANGE OF CONTROL B:ITS

6.1 Termination and change of control benefits'\b‘
(2) For each contract, agreement, plan or arrang t that provides for payments to
an NEO at, following or in connection with~any¥ termination (whether voluntary,
involuntary or constructive), resignation, retire X change in control of the company
or a change in an NEO'’s responsibilitiequ ribe, explain, and where appropriate,
quantify the following items: Q/

(@) the circumstances th er payments or the provision of other benefits,

including perquisites and pensio& benefits;

(b) the estimated@emental payments, payables, and benefits that are
triggered by, or result fr ach circumstance, including timing, duration and who
provides the payments enefits;

(c) hov@payment and benefit levels are determined under the various
circumstances Qx rigger payments or provision of benefits;

%y significant conditions or obligations that apply to receiving payments

\E (e) any other significant factors for each written contract, agreement, plan or
arrangement.

(2) Disclose the estimated incremental payments, payables, and benefits even if it is

uncertain what amounts might be paid in given circumstances under the various plans
and arrangements, assuming that the triggering event took place on the last business
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day of the company’s most recently completed financial year. For valuing share-based
awards or option-based awards, use the closing market price of the company’s
securities on that date.

If the company is unsure about the provision or amount of payments or benefits,
make a reasonable estimate (or a reasonable estimate of the range of amounts) and
disclose the significant assumptions underlying these estimates. %

(3) Despite subsection (1), the company is not required to disclose the foIIow@

@) Perquisites and other personal benefits if the aggre %‘Df this
compensation is less than $50,000. State the individual perquisiteg and personal
benefits as required by paragraph 3.1(10)(a). s%

(b) Information about possible termination scenarios% an NEO whose
employment terminated in the past year. The company @IS only disclose the
consequences of the actual termination.

(c) Information in respect of a scenario dg@%‘in subsection (1) if there will

be no incremental payments, payables, and ben hat are triggered by, or result
from, that scenario.

b
Commentary Q:bQ

1. Subsection (1) does not requi g’company to disclose notice of termination
without cause, or compensation i thereof, which are implied as a term of an
employment contract under com w or civil law.

2. Item 6 applies to ch % of control regardless of whether the change of control
results in termination of e&ment.

3. Generally, th [l be no incremental payments, payables, and benefits that are
triggered by, or @from, a scenario described in subsection (1) for compensation
that has been rted in the summary compensation table for the most recently
completed fAiantial year or for a financial year before the most recently completed

financial y@.
g;e vesting or payout of the previously reported compensation is accelerated,

or performance goal or similar condition in respect of the previously reported
pensation is waived, as a result of a scenario described in subsection (1), the

\a remental payments, payables, and benefits should include the value of the
accelerated benefit or of the waiver of the performance goal or similar condition.

4, A company may disclose estimated incremental payments, payables and

benefits that are triggered by, or result from, a scenario described in subsection (1), in a
tabular format.
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ITEM 7 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
7.1 Director compensation table

(2) Complete this table for all amounts of compensation provided to the directors for

the company’s most recently completed financial year. '\Q.)
(@)
Name Fees Share- Option- Non-equity Pension | All other | THfal
(®) earned | based based incentive plan | value compensap %)
(%) awards awards compensation | ($) (%) ()
(b) ($) ($) (%) () (9 %
©) (d) (e) D
N
A \Y
B e N
C AN/
D N
: X
N

(2)  All forms of compensation must be included im,hls table.

b
3) Complete each column in the manner @gmred for the corresponding column in
the summary compensation table in secti =%, in accordance with the requirements of
Item 3, as supplemented by the comme o Item 3, except as follows:

(@) In column (a), do n@de a director who is also an NEO if his or her
compensation for service as aeﬁg r is fully reflected in the summary compensation
table and elsewhere in thi{Jform. If an NEO is also a director who receives
compensation for his or h ices as a director, reflect the director compensation in
the summary compensgtio xable required by section 3.1 and provide a footnote to this
table indicating that th@&evamt disclosure has been provided under section 3.4.

(b) In On (b), include all fees awarded, earned, paid, or payable in cash
for services% ditector, including annual retainer fees, committee, chair, and meeting
fees.

(§‘ In column (g), include all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted,
giv% otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the company, or a subsidiary of
t mpany, to a director in any capacity, under any other arrangement. This includes,

\ggreater certainty, all plan and non-plan compensation, direct and indirect pay,
remuneration, economic or financial award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisite paid,
payable awarded, granted, given, or otherwise provided to the director for services
provided, directly or indirectly, to the company or a subsidiary of the company. In a
footnote to the table, disclose these amounts and describe the nature of the services
provided by the director that are associated with these amounts.
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(d) In column (g), include programs where the company agrees to make
donations to one or more charitable institutions in a director's name, payable currently
or upon a designated event such as the retirement or death of the director. Include a
footnote to the table disclosing the total dollar amount payable under the program.

7.2 Narrative discussion

Describe and explain any factors necessary to understand the d@@
compensation disclosed in section 7.1. (l/

4

Commentary (]9

Significant factors described in the narrative required by secti@will vary, but
may include:

- disclosure for each director who served in that c}y for any part of the
most recently completed financial year;

committee service, service as chair of the bo r a committee, and meeting

- standard compensation arrangements\uch as fees for retainer,
attendance;

“

- any compensation arrangemqg;ar a director that are different from the
standard arrangements, including the n@ of the director and a description of the
terms of the arrangement; and

- any matters discu E the compensation discussion and analysis that
do not apply to directors in thes,8aN€ way that they apply to NEOs such as practices for
granting option-based awar@

7.3  Share-based agrdS, option-based awards and non-equity incentive plan
compensation O

Provide ame disclosure for directors that is required under Item 4 for NEOs.
ITEM 8 C)%OMPANIES REPORTING IN THE UNITED STATES
8.1 03Companies reporting in the United States
% SEC issuers may satisfy the requirements of this form by providing the
\a ormation required by Item 402 “Executive compensation” of Regulation S-K under
the 1934 Act.
(2)  Subsection (1) does not apply to a company that, as a foreign private issuer,

satisfies Item 402 of Regulation S-K by providing the information required by ltems 6.B
“Compensation” and 6.E.2 “Share Ownership” of Form 20-F under the 1934 Act.
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ITEM 9 EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION
9.1 Effective date

(1) This form comes into force on December 31, 2008.

December 31, 2008.

9.2 Transition (]9“
%ﬂed,

(1) Form 51-102F6, which came into force on March 30, 2004, as%

(2) This form applies to a company in respect of a financial year ending on o@@

(@) does not apply to a company in respect of a finan&s ear ending on or
after December 31, 2008, and

(b) for greater certainty, applies to a compan)‘{mt is required to prepare and
file executive compensation disclosure because Q

0] the company is sending an g fcfr]ﬁation circular to a securityholder
under paragraph 9.1(2)(a) of Regulation 5J{;§”respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24), the igfyrnration circular includes the disclosure
required by Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, @ﬂe information circular is in respect of a
financial year ending before Decembe % 008, or

(i) the compan g an AIF that includes the disclosure required by
Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, ir@%@ nce with Item 18 of Form 51-102F2, and the AIF is

in respect of a financial yea ing before December 31, 2008.

disclosure for a re et out in paragraph (1)(b) may satisfy that requirement by

(2) A company th$(i.?required to prepare and file executive compensation
preparing and fiIilQ~ disclosure required by this form.
&

M.O. 2008- sM12; Erratum, 2009, G.O. 2, 55; M.O. 2010-17, s. 32; M.O. 2011-05,

s. 3. QS)
TR%IQTIONAL PROVISIONS

\ . 2010-17, 2010 G.O. 2, 3918
35. This Regulation only applies to documents required to be prepared, filed,

delivered or sent under Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations for periods relating to financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.
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However, an issuer may apply the amendments set out in this Regulation to all
documents required to be prepared, filed, delivered or sent under Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for periods relating to a financial year that
begins before January 1, 2011 if the immediately preceding financial year ends no
earlier than December 21, 2010 and if the issuer is relying on the exemption in
section 5.3 of Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and

Auditing Standards.
&

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS (\9"
M.O. 2011-05, 2011 G.O. 2, 3006 Q/

4, This Regulation only applies to documents required to@wepared, filed,
delivered or sent under Regulation 51-102 respecting CB% uous Disclosure
Obligations for periods relating to financial years ending on or, @ ctober 31, 2011.

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS (]9
M.O. 2012-05, 2011 G.O. 2, 1171

5. The effect of this Regulation apphes@ 0 documents required to be prepared,
filed, delivered or sent under Regulatl% 1-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations for periods relating to a fi year ending on or after April 20, 2012; for
documents required to be prepare , delivered or sent under that Regulation for
periods relating to a financial ye ing before April 20, 2012, the provisions of that
Regulation in force on April 19 apply.

<</

TRANSITIONAL @ISIONS
M.O. 2013-01, G.0. 2,248
ection 9.1.1 of the Regulation, as enacted by section 5, a person must
fCe-and-access to send proxy-related materials to a registered holder of

urities of a reporting issuer in respect of a meeting of the reporting issuer that
k& ace before March 1, 2013.

\& A reporting issuer must not rely on section 9.1.5 of the Regulation, as enacted by
section 5, in respect of a meeting that takes place before February 15, 2013.
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Decision 2005-PDG-0113, 2005-05-09
Bulletin de 'Autorité: 2005-06-03, Vol. 2 n° 22
M.O. 2005-03, 2005 G.0O. 2, 1507

Erratum: 2005 G.O. 2, 3727

Amendments

Decision 2005-PDG-0360, 2005-11-15 '\63
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2005-12-16, Vol. 2 n° 50 (\9
M.O. 2005-25, 2005 G.O. 2, 5221

Decision 2006-PDG-0218, 2006-12-12 q/
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2007-01-05, Vol. 4 n° 1 %Q/
M.O. 2006-04, 2006 G.O. 2, 4125 0

Decision 2007-PDG-0208, 2007-11-30 Q)
Bulletin de '‘Autorité: 2008-01-11, Vol. 5 n°1 A
M.O. 2007-08, 2007 G.O. 2, 4091 '\b‘

Decision 2008-PDG-0058, 2008-02-22 (]9
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008-03-14, Vol. 5 n° 10
M.O. 2008-06, 2008 G.O. 2, 726 ()..)Q

Decision 2008-PDG-0158, 2008-06-10 2
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008-07-04, Vol. 6

M.O. 2008-10, 2008 G.O. 2, 2569 @
&

Vol.5n° 49
2

Decision 2008-PDG-0260, 20
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008-
M.O. 2008-17, 2008 G.O.

Decision 2008-PDG@ 2008-11-20
Bulletin de I'Au% 08-12-19, Vol. 5n ° 50

M.O. 2008-18, G.0O. 2, 5493 Erratum: 2009 G.O. 2, 55

Decision DG-0118, 2009-09-04
Bulletin utorité: 2009-09-25, Vol. 6 n ° 38
-05, 2009 G.O. 2, 3362A

iSion 2010-PDG-0216, 2010-11-22
“RXlletin de I'Autorité: 2010-12-17, Vol. 7 n® 50
M.O. 2010-17, 2010 G.O. 2, 3918

Decision 2011-PDG-0070, 2011-05-30

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2011-07-01, Vol. 8 n° 26
M.O. 2011-02, 2011 G.O. 2, 1418
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Decision 2011-PDG-0145, 2011-09-20
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2011-10-28, Vol. 8 n° 43
M.O. 2011-05, 2011 G.O. 2, 3006

Decision 2012-PDG-0037, 2012-03-01
Bulletin de I’Autorité : 2012-04-20, Vol. 9 n° 16
M.O. 2012-05, 2012 G.O. 2, 1171

Decision 2012-PDG-0234, 2012-12-20
Bulletin de I’Autorité : 2013-02-07, Vol. 10 n° 5
M.O. 2013-01, 2013 G.O. 2, 248

Decision 2013-PDG-0052, 2013-04-03
Bulletin de I’Autorité : 2013-05-09, Vol. 10 n° 18
M.O. 2013-04, 2013 G.O. 2, 1152

Decision 2013-PDG-0068, 2013-04-24
Bulletin de I’Autorité: 2013-05-30, Vol. 10, n° 21
M.O. 2013-09, 2013 G.O. 2, 1386

Decision 2014-PDG-0093, 2014-08-19 OJQ

Bulletin de I’Autorité: 2014-09-25, Vol. 11 n@
M.O. 2014-07, 2014 G.O. 2, 2287 Q/
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